Developing Teacher Efficacy Toward Social Emotional Learning

Through an Advisory Professional Learning Community

by

Melissa Marie Strong

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Education

Approved October 2021 by the Graduate Supervisory Committee:

Terri Kurz, Chair Ray Buss Kristin Herkstroeter

ARIZONA STATE UNIVERSITY

December 2021

#### ABSTRACT

This action research study explored the effects of implementing a professional learning community (PLC) as part of an eighth-grade advisory program on teacher confidence and attitudes toward social emotional learning (SEL) and perceptions of school climate. The two-semester long study was implemented in a K-12 private independent school. Using a mixed-methods research design, this study answered the following three research questions: 1) How does participation in a PLC to develop teacher social emotional competence (SEC) and curriculum for an eighth-grade advisory program focused on SEL affect teachers' confidence in advisory and SEL? 2) How does participation in the PLC affect teachers' attitude toward advisory and SEL? 3) What affordances and constraints are experienced by teachers participating in the PLC during remote learning? Likert scale surveys were administered at the start and conclusion of the intervention. The surveys measured teachers' confidence in and attitude toward advisory, how well advisory supported remote learning, and perceptions of administrative support for the program. Semi-structured interviews were conducted at the midpoint and conclusion of the intervention. The interviews assessed perceptions of the advisory curriculum, teachers' confidence and attitudes toward advisory, and affordances and constraints of the PLC. Study findings indicated three key results. Participation in the PLC (a) promoted teacher competence and commitment toward SEL, (b) increased SEL professionalism, and (c) increased camaraderie among advisory teachers as they evaluated the affordances and constraints of remotely teaching SEL. PLC participants demonstrated a more nuanced assessment of advisory curriculum and how to implement SEL content, and an increased commitment to continued professional growth. The PLC

also fostered teachers' sense of connection with colleagues. This study contributed to existing research on professional development for SEL and its effects on teacher efficacy and school climate, including satisfaction as an SEL teacher. In relation to practice, suggestions for middle school SEL interventions include the incorporation of collective learning for teachers as well as distributed leadership to promote teacher efficacy and commitment to SEL. Future research should focus on measuring the effects of teachers' collective learning and distributed leadership on school climate outcomes for students.

## DEDICATION

This study is dedicated to my students and my colleagues, whose generosity in sharing their perspectives made each of us wiser, more connected, and more resilient.

To my family, friends, and mentors, I am forever grateful. This endeavor would not have been possible without your tireless support and encouragement.

| Pa  | ige  |
|---|------|
| LIST OF TABLES  | viii |
| CHAPTER   |      |
| 1 LOCAL CONTEXT AND PROBLEM OF PRACTICE                               | . 1  |
| Middle School Student Challenges                                      | 2    |
| Middle School Teacher Challenges                                      | 3    |
| National Perspectives   | 5    |
| Local Context   | 7    |
| Advisory and SEL  | 8    |
| Professional Development in SEL                                       | .12  |
| Prior Cycles of Research in this Study                                | .13  |
| Problem of Practice   | .14  |
| Purpose of the Study  | .16  |
| 2 THEORETICAL PERSPECTIVES AND RESEARCH GUIDING THE                   |      |
| STUDY   | 17   |
| Social Cognitive Theory and Self-Determination Theory                 | .18  |
| Related Studies Based on Self-Efficacy                                | .21  |
| Related Studies Based on Self-Determination Theory                    | .23  |
| Collective Efficacy and Professional Capital                          | .24  |
| Related Studies Based on Professional Capital and Collective Efficacy | .26  |
| Prior Cycles of Action Research: Introduction                         | .29  |
| Cycle 0: Identifying Challenges in SEL Instruction                    | .30  |

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Page | 2 |
|------|---|
|------|---|

|   | Cycle 0 and Cycle 1: Exploring a Civic Engagement Approach to SEL32 |
|---|---|
|   | Cycle 2: SEL Instruction in Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic33     |
|   | Cycle 2: Faculty Perceptions of Collaborative Learning for SEL      |
|   | Cycle 2: Student Perceptions of the Advisory Curriculum             |
|   | Synthesis   |
|   | Professional Learning Community                                     |
|   | Cycle 2: Revised Research Questions and Intervention41              |
| 3 | METHODOLOGY   |
|   | Action Research in the Present Study44                              |
|   | Definition of Mixed Methods Research45                              |
|   | Mixed Methods in the Present Study45                                |
|   | Setting47   |
|   | Participants  |
|   | Intervention: Professional Learning Community for SEL49             |
|   | Role of the Researcher  |
|   | Data Collection: Overview   |
|   | Data Collection: Quantitative Methods                               |
|   | Data Collection: Qualitative Methods                                |
|   | Data Analysis: Quantitative Methods55                               |
|   | Data Analysis: Qualitative Methods56                                |
|   | Threats to Validity   |
|   | Procedures for Teachers   |

| CHAPT | TER P   | Page |
|-------|---|------|
|       | Procedures for Students   | 62   |
|       | Overview of Project Timeline and Procedures                             | 63   |
| 4     | RESULTS   | 66   |
|       | Overview of Quantitative Findings                                       | 66   |
|       | Research Question 1   | 68   |
|       | Quantitative Data   | 69   |
|       | Qualitative Data  | 69   |
|       | Research Question 2   | 76   |
|       | Quantitative Data   | 76   |
|       | Qualitative Data  | 79   |
|       | Research Question 3   | 87   |
|       | Quantitative Data   | 88   |
|       | Qualitative Data  | 90   |
| 5     | DISCUSSION  | 107  |
|       | Interpretation of the Findings  | .109 |
|       | Collective Learning Promotes Competence and Investment in SEL           | .110 |
|       | Professional Development in SEL Improves School Climate for Teachers    | .112 |
|       | SEL Professionalism Fosters Critical Assessment of Advisory and Support | rts  |
|       |   | .114 |
|       | Outcomes Related to Theory and Research                                 | .117 |
|       | Social Cognitive Theory and Self-Efficacy                               |      |

| CHAP | TER  | Page |
|------|--|------|
|      | Self-Determination Theory                  | 119  |
|      | Collective Efficacy and Professionalism    | 119  |
|      | Limitations                                | 120  |
|      | Implications for Practice                  | 124  |
|      | Implications for Research                  | 127  |
|      | Conclusion                                 | 129  |
| REFE | RENCES                                     | 132  |
| APPE | NDIX                                       |      |
| А    | CYCLE 0 INTERVIEW QUESTIONS FOR TEACHERS   | 154  |
| В    | TEACHER INTERVIEW SPRING 2020              | 156  |
| С    | STUDENT FOCUS GROUP SPRING 2020            | 158  |
| D    | TEACHER SURVEY FALL 2020                   | 160  |
| Е    | TEACHER SURVEY SPRING 2021                 | 163  |
| F    | TEACHER INTERVIEW WINTER 2020              | 166  |
| G    | TEACHER INTERVIEW SPRING 2021              | 168  |
| Н    | STUDENT SURVEY FALL 2020                   | 170  |
| Ι    | STUDENT INTERVIEW FALL 2020                | 173  |
| J    | STUDENT SURVEY SPRING 2021                 | 175  |
| K    | STUDENT INTERVIEW SPRING 2021              | 178  |
| L    | IRB APPROVAL LETTERS                       | 180  |
| М    | DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS FOR TEACHER SURVEYS | 192  |

## LIST OF TABLES

| Table Page  |  |
|---|--|
| 1. SEL Self-Efficacy: Framework for Collaborative Professional Development .35        |  |
| 2. Timeline and Procedures of the Research Study65                                    |  |
| 3. Estimates of Internal-Consistency Reliability for Teacher Survey                   |  |
| 4. Descriptive Statistics for the Construct of Confidence Toward Advisory69           |  |
| 5. Descriptive Statistics for Survey Items Related to Confidence                      |  |
| 6. Affordances for Advisory and SEL Identified in Teacher Interviews71                |  |
| 7. Constraints for Advisory and SEL Identified in Teacher Interviews72                |  |
| 8. Codes Reflecting Confidence or Lack Thereof Toward Advisory and SEL73              |  |
| 9. Descriptive Statistics for the Constructs of Attitude Toward Advisory and Attitude |  |
| Toward Advisory to Support Remote Learning77  |  |
| 10. Descriptive Statistics for Survey Items Related to Attitude Toward Advisory 78    |  |
| 11. Descriptive Statistics for Survey Items Related to Attitude Toward Advisory to    |  |
| Support Remote Learning79   |  |
| 12. Codes Reflecting Teacher Attitudes Toward Advisory and SEL81                      |  |
| 13. Descriptive Statistics for the Construct of Perceived Support for Advisory88      |  |
| 14. Descriptive Statistics for Survey Items Related to Support                        |  |
| 15. Descriptive Statistics for Survey Items Related to Curriculum                     |  |
| 16. Codes Reflecting SEL Professionalism, Support, and Positive Outcomes91            |  |
| 17. Codes Reflecting Lack of SEL Professionalism and Support, or Poor Outcomes        |  |
|   |  |

#### CHAPTER 1

#### LOCAL CONTEXT AND PROBLEM OF PRACTICE

At a middle school orientation or open house event, parents often ask, with admiration or shock, "Whatever inspired you to teach middle school?" By way of explanation, the question may be followed by a list of the challenges the overwhelmed parent is experiencing while raising their young adolescent. Perhaps the most straightforward among these explanations focuses on the difficulty of helping their child get organized, make responsible decisions, or complete schoolwork or chores. More nuanced challenges include trying to communicate with their child as he or she may be seeking more privacy or separation from parents, or trying to keep their child emotionally and physically safe. Parents worry about their adolescent children being exposed to negative influences through peers or social media, and about the risks associated with their children's greater independence (Barry, Sidoti, Briggs, Reiter, & Lindsey, 2017; Ferguson, Muñoz, Garza, & Galindo, 2013; Herrman & Nieginski, 2014). Parents find it more challenging to guide their middle schoolers as they navigate changing relationships and are perhaps on the giving or receiving end of mean, exclusionary or bullying behavior (Wood, 2018). Conversely, parents may recall the challenges of their own middle school years, perhaps illustrated by a particularly embarrassing or challenging social, familial, or academic event. This may be recalled in the present with humor or with lingering pain, but it is nearly always accompanied by a sense of relief at no longer being an adolescent.

Middle school teachers are often asked to explain how they found their professional calling, and many can readily share the joys associated with teaching

adolescents. Their students are curious and eager to explore academic topics more deeply and are developing the skills to engage in learning in a more critical and self-directed way. Middle schoolers are becoming more discerning consumers and creators of art, literature, music, and digital media, and they approach these with a playful and ever more nuanced sense of humor. In addition, adolescents are developing empathy and a more profound sense of social justice, which can motivate them toward service, advocacy, and community engagement (Wood, 2018). However, teaching 11- to 14-year-old children is not without its challenges. Middle school teachers, like their parents, are similarly challenged by students who struggle to participate in constructive and socially acceptable ways. In the middle school years, students do not always communicate effectively, respectfully, or kindly with peers or adults and they may find themselves more often in conflict with adults (Spano, 2004; Smetana, 2011). Furthermore, it has been claimed that some adolescents are awkward and self-conscious in their rapidly changing bodies (Milevsky, 2015). They may have an intense interest in certain topics, while showing apathy toward their studies. Even students who are highly engaged may not fully demonstrate their learning, as they may not yet have the organizational skills, literacy skills or the self-regulation needed to follow instructions or to complete assignments on time (Wood, 2018).

## Middle School Student Challenges

For students, the middle school years are a time of rapid physical and mental development. As Fagell (2019) observed:

[Middle school children] are starting to think abstractly, engage in moral reasoning, and look for meaning. They're tuned into fairness and equity, and they're starting to solidify the beliefs and values they'll hold for life. Social-

emotional maturity is still a work in progress, and sorting out relational drama is a time-consuming task. Many are in the throes of puberty and becoming moodier, more self-conscious, and less self-assured.... As they toggle between wanting to form their own identity and fit in with peers, they may withdraw or rebel. (p. 2)

As middle school students' intellectual capacity develops, they seek opportunities for "autonomy, competence, relationship and fun" (Crawford, 2008, p. 11). At times, they may feel frustrated by a school curriculum and structures that do not allow sufficient opportunities for them to develop their growing capacity for deeper intellectual engagement and relationships (Crawford, 2008; Ellerbrock & Kiefer, 2013), or that do not support their self-determination (Ryan & Deci, 2000) and self-efficacy (Bandura, 2004; Crawford, 2008).

#### **Middle School Teacher Challenges**

As children move into adolescence, their ability to think abstractly, work independently, and to empathize increases (Wood, 2008). Adolescents' sense of morality, ethics, and social justice is also developing, and is often accompanied by growing interest and capacity to engage in advocacy (Eisenberg, Morris, McDaniel, & Spinrad, 2013; Ginwright & Cammarota, 2002; Ozer, Ritterman, & Wanis, 2010; Stilwell, 2008). At the same time, the middle school grades present unique challenges for educators with regard to academic engagement, discipline and classroom management (Boulden, 2010; Cornell, Shukla, & Konold, 2016; Durlak, Weissberg, Dymnicki, Taylor, & Schellinger, 2011; Mears, 2012). School climate is defined as "the quality and character of school life" as experienced by students and adults, and it "reflects norms, goals, values, interpersonal relationships, teaching and learning practices, and organizational structures" (National School Climate Center, n.d.). School climate can also be seen as taking a downward turn in these years (McCormick, Cappella, O'Connor, & McClowry, 2015a; Voight, 2015).

In response to these challenges, many schools across the United States implemented curriculum designed to support adolescents' social and emotional learning (SEL). Often, SEL curriculum emphasizes five core competencies: self-awareness, selfmanagement, social awareness, relationship skills, and responsible decision-making (Weissberg, Durlak, Domitrovich, Gullota, 2015; Domitrovich, Durlak, Staley, & Weissberg, 2017). Curriculum interventions may consist of instructional methods designed to support the development of students' SEL skills while engaging in the core academic curriculum, as is the case with Responsive Classroom (https://www.responsiveclassroom.org/about/). Other approaches may consist of instructional time devoted specifically to developing SEL competencies, such as advisory programs, SEL lesson plans, and curriculum like Second Step (https://www.secondstep.org/) or Wyman's Teen Outreach Program (TOP) (https://wymancenter.org/top/). There is evidence of a relationship between a wide range of SEL instructional practices and broad, positive school climate outcomes (Adams & Khojasteh, 2018; Castillo, Salguero, Fernández-Berrocal, & Balluerka, 2013; Durlak et al., 2011; McKown, 2017; Taylor, Oberle, Durlak, & Weissberg, 2017). Effective SEL interventions have been shown to improve academic performance, attitudes, and behavior as measured by a reduction in student discipline incidents and substance abuse, while showing improvements in graduation rates (Durlak et al., 2011; Taylor et al., 2017). Because of the benefits of SEL curriculum, there is a national trend to encourage the implementation of SEL interventions for students.

#### **National Perspectives**

The Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning (CASEL) is a national organization founded in 1994 to advance SEL curriculum in grades K-12. They advocate for high-quality, evidence-based approaches to support instruction in the SEL competencies (self-awareness, self-management, social awareness, relationship skills, and responsible decision-making) (Elias et al., 1997). In the decades since its founding, CASEL has partnered with universities, school districts, and national professional organizations for educators to support continued research and development of SEL practices. These professional organizations include The Aspen Institute's National Commission on Social, Emotional, and Academic Development (NCSEAD) and the Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development (ASCD).

School-based SEL is becoming more of a priority in K-12 education in the United States. In 2011, Congress passed the Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning Act of 2011 (H.R.2437) authorizing funding for schoolwide training in SEL practices. Today, nearly every state has adopted learning standards for SEL, either as separate SEL guidelines or as part of broader academic guidelines (Common Core State Standards Initiative, 2010; Dusenbury, Weissberg, Goren, Domitrovich, & Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning, 2014). In 2015, the U.S. Department of Education announced the Skills for Success Program. This program was designed to support Local Educational Agencies (LEAs) in developing approaches for teaching "noncognitive" or SEL skills. The Skills for Success Program provided funding for various national agencies. These include the City of Chicago Board of Education's Start on Success Program, KIPP, Inc.'s, Project LEADS (Lifelong Education Achieves Determination and Success) in Houston, Texas, Long Beach Scholars 2.0 in Long Beach, California, and the Los Angeles Unified School District's Mindset for All through Teacher Training and Parent Engagement.

There is evidence indicating the importance of developing SEL curriculum that is aligned with a school's strengths and challenges (McCormick et al., 2015a). There is also evidence that SEL curriculum is most effective when it is responsive to the culture of the learners (Sciuchetti, 2017). However, the relationship between the development of specific, malleable skills and distinct SEL interventions is still not fully understood (McKown, 2017). As a result, it is difficult for a school to know if particular practices are improving school climate or academic outcomes (McKown, 2017). One of the challenges for educators is that there is no agreed upon approach to SEL instruction or curriculum. There are no national assessments or nationally adopted standards. For example, in California, the Department of Education has expressed its commitment to developing students' social and emotional skills. However, it does not offer specific guidelines. In an effort to develop SEL standards to guide and assess program effectiveness, 25 states are now participating in the Collaborating States Initiative (Blad, 2016; Weissberg, 2019).

There are efforts to develop school climate measures to help schools understand their SEL curriculum strengths and identify areas for improvement (Brackett, Reyes, Rivers, Elbertson, & Salovey, 2012; Panorama Education, n.d.). For example, Panorama Education developed 5-point Likert scales designed to assess student and teacher perceptions of school climate (Panorama Education, n.d.). In their survey package, Panorama Education provides three question banks: student competencies, student supports and environment, and teacher skills and competencies. The first competency emphasizes student development, while the second and third focus on school and teacher development. To better meet their goals, schools are free to modify or add items. Panorama Education also provides schools with detailed comparison reports of peer schools. Schools can monitor changes in perceptions over time. This type of data can be used to monitor student and faculty perceptions of school climate, as well as the impact of school wide SEL curriculum. Panorama SEL school climate survey data informed the design of the present research study.

#### Local Context

The local context of this research is an independent private school in Southern California. During the academic year in which this study was conducted (2020-2021), there were 272 students enrolled in the middle school division, which spans grades 6-8. Tuition was approximately \$37,000 per year; approximately 20% of the enrolled students received some form of financial aid. Students of color represented about one-third of the student population. Most of the students came from middle- to upper-income households.

My employment as an administrator at this school began in 2015. There was some instability prior to my arrival that led to a shift in leadership styles and pedagogical philosophies. In addition, a sense of uncertainty regarding teaching and learning continued to cause challenges as division heads were continually changing. In my role as the Assistant Head of Middle School, veteran teachers often shared with me their concerns regarding perceptions of a deteriorating school climate. The teachers felt that students were less kind to each other. Incidents of bullying on campus and through social media were reported. There were perceptions of an increase in cliquishness, gossip, major disagreements, and physical altercations. Defiant behavior towards teachers and

disrespectful rowdiness at school events seemed to be at an all-time high. For a school that prided itself on providing a safe and nurturing environment, the occasional reports of risk-taking behaviors like theft and substance use were especially alarming. At the same time, parents seemed less supportive of teacher and administrative decisions. They questioned whether teachers and leaders truly valued the school community and whether administrators had students' best interests in mind.

Though teachers and administrators suspected that middle school climate was suffering, there was a lack of empirical data. It was possible that adults' sense of insecurity, given the volume and rate of change at the school, might influence perceptions and yield inaccurate observations and inferences. In addition to changes in administrative leadership, a new bell schedule was introduced, changing the structure of the school day while adding more pressure on teachers. The new schedule required major shifts in curriculum implementation and programs. In sum, the scope and pace of administrative change resulted in a school community that found itself grappling with its identity. To better assess student perceptions of school climate, Panorama SEL surveys were administered to all students in grades 3 through 12 in fall 2017, spring 2018, and fall 2018 semesters. This data offered an initial opportunity to investigate how specific school based SEL interventions might improve our school climate.

## **Advisory and SEL**

All middle school students participated in an advisory program. This was a required part of the middle school curriculum, designated by scheduled meeting times with an advisor, that was designed to support SEL skills instruction. Although advisory was a part of the middle school program for years, the new bell schedule provided more

time for advisory meetings and related activities. During the first year of the present study, grade-level, mixed gender groups of approximately 12 to 17 students per advisory teacher met for about seven minutes each morning during homeroom. In the second and third years of this study, these homeroom meetings were extended to ten minutes. In addition, the advisory program included a weekly 40-minute class period to engage in lessons designed to build social and emotional skills by engaging in team and community building events.

The middle school advisory program goals were: 1) to establish meaningful relationships between students and adults; 2) to foster social-emotional learning and self-advocacy; 3) to provide academic advising and support individualized learning; 4) to encourage cross-cultural competencies and activism; and 5) to build inclusivity and school spirit. These learning and community goals were inspired by our school culture and mission, as well as by the guidelines provided by CASEL.

Advisory also served to establish a primary point of communication between the students, parents, and the school. For new students, fellow advisory classmates were often the first interactions new students had within the school community. For returning students, advisory was an important space to connect with others, as evidenced by frequent requests to be placed in advisory groups with friends. The advisory teacher often had the most frequent contact with a student. The advisors interacted with students through homeroom meetings, advisory meetings, and study halls, in addition to teaching their advisory students in another class. Because of these wide-ranging interactions, advisors were often the teacher who knew the student best. Parents were encouraged to reach out to advisors with questions about students' social adjustment, academic progress

or any other concerns. In addition to leading parent-teacher conferences, advisors monitored students' progress while providing guidance and support. Finally, advisors supported the development of a community by encouraging school spirit through games and competitions.

In my setting, the SEL curriculum continually evolved based on the feedback of the advisors with the overarching goal of fostering SEL competencies through continual improvement. Many of the selected lesson plans and activities were adapted from research-based, nationally recognized SEL curriculum providers, such as Second Step (https://www.secondstep.org/middle-school-curriculum), Common Sense Education (https://www.commonsense.org/education/digital-citizenship/curriculum), Random Acts of Kindness (https://www.randomactsofkindness.org/), and Teaching Tolerance (https://www.tolerance.org/). Other activities were developed by our school or were adapted from materials shared by peer schools. However, advisors and students expressed disinterest or aversion to certain activities, particularly ones that asked students to consider and share feelings in a group setting. This resulted in an undercurrent of complaints from some teachers, students, and parents about engaging in the advisory program. At the same time, others expressed concern that avoiding such activities would result in less academic engagement, more student conflicts, and an overall declining school climate. The recognition of the importance of SEL, with the lack of a clear plan to engage advisors in professional development, often resulted in complaints about the advisory curriculum being addressed in one of two ways. At times, advisory lessons that felt ineffective were retained because they were familiar to teachers. At other times,

lessons that were deemed inadequate were replaced with new ones that teachers felt unprepared to deliver.

Some advisory teachers sought or were encouraged to participate in off-campus workshops or other focused training in SEL principles and practices. However, this was not required during the years prior to the start of this study. Professional development in SEL was brief, infrequent, and usually included as part of a faculty meeting. When provided, training often consisted of a short demonstration, coaching session, or explanation of an upcoming advisory lesson. There was also the perception that advisory was a secondary responsibility to other obligations. As such, teachers often reported that the lessons were too difficult to effectively implement given the limited time to prepare. Additionally, the lessons' SEL concepts were perceived as too basic, the social scenarios unrealistic, and the skills exercises too contrived. Not surprisingly, this confluence of factors resulted in delivering some SEL lessons in a way that felt less than satisfactory. Lessons were sometimes partially completed or not used at all. There was a negative perception that the advisory lessons were boring or pointless, and the SEL curriculum was not adequately implemented.

Although some of the feedback about advisory was negative, teachers responded positively to certain aspects of the program. A number of teachers asked for a focus on team-building activities. These activities were described as authentic and, therefore, easier to implement; they were perceived as meaningful to both advisors and students. However, it was difficult to assess the advisory curriculum, as there was not a systematic approach to soliciting teacher feedback regarding implementation, student engagement, or observed SEL outcomes.

#### **Professional Development in SEL**

During the winter and summer of 2020, in part to address school climate concerns, all middle school teachers were required to engage in training to support the development of positive classroom climate using the Responsive Classroom approach (www.responsiveclassroom.org). This training was extended to the middle school after it was first implemented in the lower and primary school divisions. This was the first time such training was required of all middle school teachers. At the time of implementation, the school did not have a plan to assess the effectiveness of this training in terms of student or teacher outcomes.

Although such division-wide training has the potential to address some of the concerns about SEL instruction cited by middle school advisors, outside training programs are not customized to the unique culture of a school. By not responding to the culture of the school, SEL programs may fail to engage students or to meet their specific needs (McCormick et al., 2015a; Sciuchetti, 2017). Programs such as Responsive Classroom introduce a set of SEL practices, but do not recognize teachers' existing strengths or interests. Moreover, they do not offer a means of assessing the impact of any specific SEL intervention or instructional method on SEL skills development and academic outcomes in a particular school (McKown, 2017). Outside training in SEL teaching methods may form part of a strategy to improve our middle school's approach to SEL. However, a successful strategy must also include ongoing assessment of our school culture, strengths, and areas for improvement. In this way, it will be possible to develop an advisory program that is engaging to students and teachers, and that will also better support advisors in other aspects of their role (such as academic advising and

communication with parents). Lastly, an effective SEL program should include a means to assess the relationship between the SEL practices in our school and student outcomes.

## **Prior Cycles of Research in this Study**

The current study is influenced by previous cycles of research. During Cycle 0, interviews were conducted with four middle school teachers to assess teacher perceptions of our middle school climate, strengths and weaknesses of our current approach to SEL instruction, and techniques to support SEL and school climate. Results from this preliminary research revealed that teachers felt insufficiently trained and unsupported in the advisor role, and that there was a need for further professional development and development of SEL curriculum. Cycle 0 findings suggested that development of an SEL curriculum that better reflected our school mission, and that would leverage teachers' strengths, might serve to improve teachers' confidence in leading advisory. In spring semester 2019, the end of Cycle 0, a pilot version of a curriculum intervention that sought to increase student engagement in advisory and teacher engagement and self-efficacy toward SEL was tested.

From fall 2019 through spring 2020, Cycles 1 and 2 were conducted. An expanded version of the curriculum intervention was tested, this time designed to take place over these two semesters (fall and spring). However, Cycle 2 of the civic engagement intervention was interrupted in March 2020, as the 2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic spread. In response to the public health crisis, all on-campus classes were required to be delivered remotely in compliance with physical distancing guidelines. At that time, the focus of the advisory program shifted to providing SEL support to students in the context of remote learning. This interruption to the civic engagement project suggested another potential avenue of research. The positive engagement of advisors in adapting the SEL curriculum to support students during the pandemic suggested that the process of collaboratively developing SEL curriculum may strengthen teacher SEC. Advisor team meeting memos from Cycles 1 and 2 were examined to determine how participation in these meetings may reflect teachers' attitudes and self-efficacy toward SEL. Student and teacher interviews and other qualitative data from Cycles 1 and 2 suggested that the process of collaborative professional learning increased teacher self-efficacy toward SEL, and that the curriculum intervention improved student attitudes toward advisory. Based on findings from Cycles 0, 1, and 2, Cycle 3 of this research study focused on the effects of participating in a professional learning community (PLC) to support SEL instruction on teacher self-efficacy and attitudes toward SEL.

## **Problem of Practice**

At the inception of this action research project, it was clear that our middle school advisory program did not meet its established goals, which were inspired in part by tradition and in part by a changing school culture. The advisory program goals of self-advocacy, service to and exchange with others, cross-cultural competencies, and activism were perceived as lacking. Our teachers did not feel adequately supported, nor did they feel effective in delivering all aspects of the advisory curriculum. As a result, the advisory program did not meet two of the necessary criteria that would lead to the effective implementation of SEL curriculum. First, the SEL curriculum must be contextually appropriate, responding to the specific culture and needs of the school environment in which it is implemented (McCormick et al., 2015a; Sciuchetti, 2017).

Second, teachers need sufficient SEL skills and confidence in their ability to deliver the curriculum (self-efficacy) (Jones, 2013; Waajid, Garner, & Owen, 2013; Schonert-Reichl, 2017).

In the fall and spring semesters of the 2017-2018 school year, our school administered the previously described Panorama SEL surveys to students in grades 3-12. Our results indicated lower scores in relation to students enrolled in comparable schools. The survey measured teacher-student relationships, teacher expectations for students, students' sense of belonging, and student engagement. For example, results from the fall 2017 survey resulted in scores below the 19th percentile in all categories but engagement. Spring 2018 results showed scores below the 19th percentile in all categories. The fall 2018 survey showed slightly higher but still concerning results. Importantly, scores rose to the 59th percentile on constructs that measured belonging and engagement but were still below the 37th percentile in concepts that measured expectations and relationships. Even with this improvement, the trend in responses from students in both our middle and upper school divisions was concerning.

Our SEL was treated by previous administrations as an afterthought rather than a core component of curriculum. Any such intervention is influenced by existing school climate and relationships among community members (Hoy & Miskel, 2012). However, teachers were not treated as professionals in the development of the program and their existing skills were not sufficiently employed. This ultimately contributed to the ongoing challenge of teacher burnout. Teachers were asked to teach SEL using materials that felt inauthentic and difficult to deliver. The content did not speak to their interests and skill sets and did not meaningfully engage students. Given the flexibility of our advisory

program and the identified need to improve it, advisory was the perfect place to develop an intervention intended to improve school climate. Evidence suggested that in order to be successfully implemented, an SEL program would need to resonate with school culture, values, and pedagogies, and would also require focused administrative support, including appropriate training of faculty and staff (Osher et al., 2016).

## **Purpose of the Study**

This action research project aimed to improve school climate by increasing teacher confidence in teaching SEL and providing a voice for teachers to participate in the curriculum development process. Based on findings from Cycles 0, 1, and 2, Cycle 3 of this research study focused on the effects of participating in a PLC to support SEL instruction on teacher self-efficacy and attitudes toward advisory and SEL. This intervention was designed to support teachers in developing a contextually relevant advisory curriculum that was worthwhile, engaging and enjoyable to students and teachers. This concurrent mixed-methods action research study (Ivankova, 2015; Mertler, 2017) was designed to answer the following three research questions:

1) How does participation in a professional learning community (PLC) to develop teacher social emotional competence (SEC) and curriculum for an eighth-grade advisory program focused on SEL affect teachers' confidence in advisory and SEL?

2) How does participation in the PLC affect teachers' attitude toward advisory and SEL?

3) What affordances and constraints are experienced by teachers participating in the PLC during remote learning?

#### CHAPTER 2

#### THEORETICAL PERSPECTIVES AND RESEARCH GUIDING THE STUDY

There is a substantial body of literature on the importance of social and emotional learning (SEL) skills to students' healthy social adjustment, prosocial behavior, and academic achievement in school and in life, as well as on the effects of SEL instruction on these positive outcomes (Zimmerman, 2002; Castillo et al., 2013; McKown, 2017; Adams and Khojasteh, 2018). However, researchers are also only just beginning to consider the influence of teachers' attitudes, such as their own perceived ability in teaching SEL, on the success of SEL instructional practices toward positive student outcomes and school climate (Collie, Shapka, & Perry, 2012). Moreover, there is little research to consider the effects of teaching SEL, or of professional development in strategies and approaches toward teaching SEL, on teacher outcomes, such as perceptions of school climate, job satisfaction, and self-efficacy (Collie et al., 2012; Jones, 2013). This research attempts to address this void by exploring how SEL curriculum can influence school climate focusing on teachers. This literature review will explore theoretical perspectives as related to the research.

In this chapter, social cognitive theory (SCT) (Bandura, 1977; 2000; 2005) and self-determination theory (SDT) (Ryan & Deci, 2000; Deci & Ryan, 2000) will be defined and applied to the problem of practice of school climate and SEL instruction. These frameworks offer perspectives to understand teacher motivation, perceptions of school climate, job satisfaction and attitudes toward SEL. Next, the concepts of collective efficacy (Goddard, 2001; Goddard, Goddard, Sook Kim, & Miller, 2015) and professional capital (Fullan, Rincón-Gallardo, & Hargreaves, 2015; Darling-Hammond, 2009) will be considered, emphasizing how these concepts may inform a more effective approach toward professional development. Lastly, the implications of each of these theories toward developing the SEL professional development intervention in the present study will be discussed.

#### **Social Cognitive Theory and Self-Determination Theory**

There are two main theories that situate this research: SCT and SDT. Both theories present complementary explanations of learning and motivation and inform the SEL professional development intervention in this research study. SCT posits that learning takes place in a social environment (Bandura, 1977; 2000; 2005). Individuals plan and set goals for themselves based on social norms, values, personal motivations, and ideals. People reflect on progress toward their goals and adapt their behavior based on external and internal feedback (Bandura, 2005). Through this process of selfregulation, individuals assess and adjust their behavior based on personal or socially influenced values and standards.

SDT is a theory of motivation that, like SCT, asserts the importance of selfregulation and aspirations toward personal growth in understanding human behavior (Ryan & Deci, 2000). However, according to SDT, there are three primary needs that drive human motivation: the needs for competence, relatedness, and autonomy. One may perceive competence through success at an interesting task, or positive feedback on one's performance. Relatedness is defined as a feeling or belief that one belongs and is connected to a community. Autonomy is the feeling or belief that one has opportunities to choose pursuits and the ability to independently decide how to accomplish them (Ryan & Deci, 2000).

With SCT, there is a focus on internal, self-regulating processes to explain learning, in contrast to behaviorist theories, which frame learning as a response to positive and negative stimuli (Clark, 2018). In SCT, self-efficacy, or an individual's beliefs regarding the likelihood of success (Bandura, 1977), informs a person's decision to pursue a goal (Bandura, 2005; Schwarzer, 1992; Maddux, 1995). There are many influences that factor into self-efficacy beliefs, including previous success (or failure) at a task, physiological or emotional status, enjoyment, or anxiety, among others (Bandura, 1997). Social modeling, or vicarious experience, also plays a part in learning. Through social modeling, individuals observe the outcome of others' actions and adjust their behavior accordingly (Bandura, 1997; 2005). Decisions people make based on selfefficacy can shape their environment, as a person may seek or avoid opportunities based on their perceptions of success. Social cognitive career theory (SCCT) is an important and related theory with respect to this research. SCCT describes the relationship between self-efficacy, outcome expectations, personal goals, and career outcomes (Lent, 2013; Lent, Brown, & Hackett, 1994). SCCT explains how self-efficacy can motivate individuals to engage in opportunities for mastery experiences in specific professional domains, leading to particular skills development and career outcomes.

Similar to SCT, SDT also offers a theory of behavior that focuses on intrinsic motivation. Both SCT and SDT acknowledge that individuals exercise agency in choosing pursuits. However, SDT connects motivation to innate psychological needs, which are not subject to individual choice (Deci & Ryan, 2000). Though this statement may seem contradictory, SDT simply asserts that individuals exercise choice in how they meet their innate needs for competence, relatedness, and autonomy. This choice is reflected in their selection of goals, and their enjoyment, effort, and persistence in the pursuit of these endeavors. It is important to note that environmental factors play a part in meeting these needs. For example, a student who plays soccer may form close friendships and be recognized by family and teammates for her skills. If she struggles to learn fractions, receives low scores on math tests, and feels isolated from friends while studying, she may choose to devote more time and effort toward soccer than toward mathematics.

Like SCT, SDT recognizes self-efficacy as a factor in one's sense of competence (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Relating to personal growth and professional development, both SCT and SDT note the significance of relationships in shaping behavior. According to SCT, deciding to pursue an endeavor is socially situated, and decisions are made based on the norms and values of the community (Bandura, 2001). SDT identifies the influence of shared engagement on motivation, including the need to feel cared for and connected (Deci & Ryan, 2000). Key motivations with SCT include the importance of personal agency, the desire for control over one's environment and personal choices (Bandura, 1977; 2001; 2005). According to SDT, perceived autonomy in choosing pursuits or deciding how to complete a task is also a key source of motivation (Deci & Ryan, 2000).

Because of the interdependence between environmental factors, the development of self-efficacy, and experiences of competence, relatedness and autonomy, workplaces and schools can nurture or impede individual motivation. In the following sections, related studies applying SCT and SDT to teacher self-efficacy, school climate, academic outcomes and SEL will be considered. Next, the theories of collective efficacy and professional capital are discussed in the design of a professional development intervention that should improve self-efficacy toward SEL. Teacher participation in the development and implementation of the intervention is intended to serve the objective of increasing teachers' intrinsic motivation as they engage in professional learning.

## **Related Studies Based on Self-Efficacy**

Research shows a positive correlation between teachers' sense of self-efficacy and the academic outcomes of their students (Tschannen-Moran & Hoy, 2007; Pedota, 2015). There may be a connection between teacher self-efficacy and perceptions of competence in SEL and their perceptions of school climate, their job satisfaction, and student outcomes. Greater teacher social emotional competence (SEC) and efficacy in SEL have been associated with a more positive classroom climate (Jennings & Greenberg, 2009), more positive teacher perceptions of school climate, and greater job satisfaction (Collie et al., 2012). Low teacher SEC is associated with increased stress and decreased job satisfaction (Collie et al., 2012), suggesting that SEL professional development might reduce teacher burnout (Jennings & Greenberg, 2009; Collie, Shapka, Perry, & Martin, 2015; Collie, 2017). For example, Jennings et al. (2017) examined the impact of mindfulness-based professional development with K-5 teachers. Their results showed a modest but significant improvement in classroom interactions while also indicating a decrease in teachers' perceptions of stress.

In their research, Jones, Bouffard, & Weissbourd (2013) found that teachers who exhibit greater SEL skills were more effective at building positive student relationships, creating favorable classrooms and modeling SEL skills for their students. As such, the researchers recommend a focus on the development of teacher competencies through ongoing, daily professional development activities. For example, professional development might provide support for teachers' social and emotional well-being by modeling practices that foster professional reflection and SEL skills.

There is evidence that indicates secondary school teachers are less comfortable leading SEL instruction than elementary teachers; however, more research is needed regarding how to support secondary teachers' SEL instruction (Collie et al., 2015). SELfocused professional development may increase the effectiveness of SEL instruction, perhaps leading to increased positive teacher outcomes (like reduced stress and improved job satisfaction) (Collie et al., 2015). In a study of elementary and secondary school teachers, a positive relationship was found between confidence in teaching SEL, teaching efficacy, and job satisfaction, and a negative relationship was found between comfort in teaching SEL and teacher stress (Collie et al., 2012). Focusing on SCCT, Granziera and Perera (2019) conducted a longitudinal study exploring the connectedness of teacher selfefficacy, engagement, and job satisfaction. They found evidence indicating that teachers with higher self-efficacy were more professionally engaged by an increased investment in professional development and opportunities for growth. This increased engagement may lead to greater job satisfaction and improved perceptions of school climate (Granziera & Perera, 2019).

This reviewed research suggests that an intervention designed to develop teachers' efficacy toward SEL might improve teachers' attitudes toward SEL and perceptions of school climate. In the present study, an intervention was developed that incorporated the principles of SCT and SDT. The intervention was designed to increase teachers' motivation to develop their SEL skills by simultaneously providing support for teachers to satisfy the needs for connectedness, competence, and autonomy that are posited by SDT (Ryan & Deci, 2000). This intervention was also designed to facilitate self-regulation and social learning as mechanisms for developing efficacy toward SEL.

## **Related Studies Based on Self-Determination Theory**

Although self-efficacy plays a role in improving teachers' sense of competence in SEL, motivation to engage in professional learning may be increased through other levers. Deci (2009) considered how SDT might guide approaches to large-scale school reform, citing the example of the Israeli First Things First (FTF) model. The FTF model was designed to foster competence, relatedness, and autonomy in both students and teachers through membership in small learning communities (SLCs) and in family and student advocate system (FAS) groups formed within the SLC (Deci, 2009). Student and teacher relatedness was developed by membership in FAS groups (consisting of a faculty member and approximately 20 students), while teachers within an SLC exercised autonomy in choosing foci for collaborative professional learning (Deci, 2009).

Similarly, in a qualitative case study, Power and Goodnough (2018) documented positive outcomes from STEM teachers' engagement in teams of two to eight in an action research professional learning program, Teachers in Action (TIA). TIA participants showed an increase in sense of competence, relatedness, and autonomy. In discussing the findings, the authors identified participants' autonomy in choosing topics for self-directed learning, their increased competence as demonstrated by anecdotes of mastery experiences, and their development of supportive relationships with other participants as key factors in the success of the program.

School and system factors can foster competence, relatedness, and autonomy for teachers, and can also relate to teachers' job satisfaction and stress (Collie et al., 2017).

Autonomy-supportive work environments are defined as those in which administrators share decision making with teachers. In these environments, curricular reform tends to be bottom-up rather than top-down (such as through district mandates), and such environments are associated with greater job satisfaction and lower stress (Collie et al., 2017). In contrast, more controlling environments, defined as those in which individuals are not included in decision-making or are pressured to think or behave in a certain way (Reeve & Cheon, 2014), are associated with increased teacher stress and decreased job satisfaction (Collie et al., 2017).

In considering the present study, these findings suggested that interventions for professional development in SEL that are guided by the principles of SDT may be effective in increasing teacher SEC, increasing job satisfaction, and reducing teacher burnout. However, these studies did not directly measure how or whether increasing teacher SEC may also increase the effectiveness of teachers in designing or delivering SEL instruction to their students (McKown, 2017). Moreover, research is still needed to inform understanding of student attitudes toward SEL instruction, or how increasing teacher efficacy toward SEL may increase student engagement in and satisfaction with SEL programs and practices.

#### **Collective Efficacy and Professional Capital**

Enactive experience can serve not only to create self-efficacy in individuals (Bandura, 2001), but can also promote perceptions of collective efficacy as individuals experience mastery because of individual or group effort (Goddard et al., 2015). Beliefs about the collective efficacy of a group depend, in part, upon the individual self-efficacy beliefs of group members, but also depend upon perceptions of the group's ability to work effectively together (Bandura, 2000). Applying this concept to school settings, Goddard, Hoy, & Woolfolk Hoy (2004) define collective efficacy as teachers' belief that "the faculty as a whole can organize and execute the courses of action required to have a positive effect on students" (p. 4). In considering curriculum development and school reform, it is important to consider the concept of collective efficacy separately from selfefficacy. School reform efforts generally require collaborative work for effective implementation. Perceptions of collective efficacy may be more important in such collaborative efforts, as individuals may be more likely to persist in large-scale group endeavors when confidence in the effectiveness of the group is high (Bandura, 2000).

The concepts of self-efficacy and collective efficacy are further operationalized for the field of education by Hargreaves and Fullan (2012) in their coining of the term "professional capital." In considering the necessary conditions for school improvement, there are three key components of professional capital: human capital, social capital, and decisional capital. Human capital refers to what one might consider individual talent (such as skilled and well-prepared teachers). However, the authors assert that within a professional organization, human capital is only useful in conjunction with the second component, social capital. Social capital is the quality and nature of interactions among individuals in the organization: it is the ability to effectively collaborate. Decisional capital refers to the ability to exercise good judgment or to improvise when faced with a new challenge. The sum of these components amounts to the individual and collective professionalism, also defined as professional capital, of the organization. Professional capital includes the competence, responsibility, and dedication of educators, and the setting of high standards for individual and collective performance (Hargreaves & Fullan, 2012).

In organizations that support the development of professional capital, the group will serve to self-regulate: members hold each other accountable for meeting agreed upon standards (Fullan et al., 2015; Darling-Hammond, 2009). Conversely, lack of organizational support for change can thwart collective efficacy (Bandura, 1986). For example, a singular focus on individual learning as opposed to collective professional learning, or on external rather than internal accountability, can undermine the development of professional capital (Fullan et al., 2015). However, an organization may develop its professional capital by fostering a culture of collaboration. Professional capital is developed by "simultaneously [building] individual and collective efficacy and [creating] links of lateral accountability that push and pull team members to get better at their practice" (Fullan et al., 2015, p. 8).

## **Related Studies Based on Professional Capital and Collective Efficacy**

Early studies have also postulated the importance of teacher collaboration as a means of developing teacher professionalism and efficacy, finding a relationship between perceptions of trust and the degree of collaboration among faculty (Tschannen-Moran, 2001). In a study measuring the relationship between the construct of collective efficacy and academic outcomes, Goddard (2001) examined 91 elementary schools. It was found that differences in mastery experience (defined as past school performance) were associated with collective efficacy. The study did not determine a causal relationship. However, findings suggested the need for future investigations into factors that may

influence teachers' collective efficacy, and how increasing collective efficacy may result in improved student outcomes (Hoy, Sweetland, & Smith, 2002; Goddard et al., 2004).

There is also evidence that certain contextual factors in schools, such as a supportive leadership style and distributed leadership, can foster greater trust and professionalism in teachers (Tschannen-Moran, 2009). This leadership style is sometimes referred to as a professional approach (Darling-Hammond, 2009). It can be contrasted with a bureaucratic or command-and-control style, in which standardized curriculum and instructional methods are prescribed rather than selected or designed by teachers (Tschannen-Moran, 2009). Using a professional approach, institutions provide the necessary conditions to support the professionalism of faculty. Educators are then trusted to "make responsible decisions" and to "behave in knowledgeable and ethical ways" (Darling-Hammond, 2009, p. 49). In examining highly effective schools in the United States and abroad, Darling-Hammond (2009) cites strategies such as investing in highly skilled teachers, supporting ongoing professional learning for faculty, and providing substantial time for collaborative learning and curriculum development.

The effects of teacher collaborative learning have been examined in research on the professional practice of lesson study, as well as in professional learning communities (PLCs). When teachers use a lesson study approach, they work together to design lesson plans that will be implemented by all teachers in the team. Research, peer classroom observations, assessment, and revision are cyclically employed to continually improve on lessons, methods, and materials (Hiebert & Stigler, 2000). In a qualitative study of high school teachers in Singapore, such collective learning was found to be correlated with increased teacher self-efficacy (Chong & Kong, 2012). In addition to increasing self-

efficacy, there is also evidence to suggest that lesson study could be a useful practice for developing teacher professionalism (Taylor et al., 2005; Dudley et al., 2019).

In the United States, PLCs are more common than lesson study. They are an organizational structure for collaborative learning that offer the potential to increase faculty professionalism and collective efficacy through professional development (Voelkel & Chrispeels, 2017). There is some variation in how PLCs are defined and implemented (Blankenship & Ruona, 2007). A widely accepted definition of a PLC includes five elements: 1) shared beliefs, values, and vision, 2) shared and supportive leadership, 3) collective learning and its application, 4) supportive conditions, and 5) shared personal practice (Hord, Sommers, & Hargreaves, 2008, p. 9). Research studies found an association between the PLC practices of teacher collaboration and collective learning and an increased sense of collective efficacy (Goddard et al., 2015; Lee, Zhang, & Yin, 2011). In a study of international schools, trust among colleagues and faculty collective efficacy were correlated with an increased likelihood of engaging in a professional learning community (Gray & Summers, 2015). Distributed leadership was also found to be correlated with increased likelihood of engaging in PLCs, as well as with greater teacher collective efficacy (Jamil & Hamzah, 2019). Moreover, there is evidence that collective efficacy is associated with increased job satisfaction (Viel-Ruma, Houchins, Jolivette, & Benson, 2010). As Vescio, Ross, & Adams (2008) found in their review of eleven studies on PLCs, learning communities fostered increased "collaboration, a focus on student learning, teacher authority or empowerment, and continuous learning" (p. 88).

28

The present study considers the insight these findings offer for the design of an intervention to increase faculty self-efficacy toward SEL. An intervention with the potential to promote collective efficacy and professionalism toward SEL, such as a PLC, may increase teacher job satisfaction. In addition, it may improve the school community as a whole by increasing collaboration, shared accountability, and a sense of belonging. Specifically, this study focuses on improving professional capital through an intervention that promotes a competence-supportive professional teaching environment, including the practices of collective learning, shared personal practice, and shared decision making for SEL instruction. The intervention was designed to provide the conditions and supports needed to successfully implement and sustain these practices in my school.

### **Prior Cycles of Action Research: Introduction**

The purpose of action research is to identify a problem or concern in the researcher's local context, to propose and implement an intervention, and then to measure any changes that may have occurred (Mertler, 2017). In an iterative process, data is used to assess and refine the intervention as the cycle is repeated. Prior cycles of research were critical in informing the trajectory of this current research study. Cycle 0 was most impactful in assessing weaknesses in the approach to SEL in my school. Based on my Cycle 0 findings, I hypothesized that the development of an SEL curriculum that better reflected our school culture, and that would leverage faculty members' strengths, might serve to improve teachers' confidence in leading advisory. In Cycle 1, as the middle school responded to the COVID-19 pandemic, the focus of this research project shifted from examining the effects of a particular SEL curriculum to examining the effects of

professional learning to guide SEL. Together, the findings of Cycles 0 and 1 led to the development of the PLC intervention.

# **Cycle 0: Identifying Challenges in SEL Instruction**

Semi-structured interviews were conducted in Cycle 0 with four middle school faculty members in March 2019 to assess faculty perceptions of school climate and attitudes toward advisory and SEL. The interview protocol can be found in Appendix A. Purposeful sampling was used to select the participants: one advisor was interviewed from each middle school grade level, as well as one middle school teacher who was not an advisor. An advisor was chosen from each grade level to assess similarities and differences in attitudes between advisors of different grades, and to compare these with a teacher who did not participate in advisory.

Several common themes related to SEL curriculum integration emerged from these interviews. First, professional and administrative support for teachers was identified as a weakness in the current approach to SEL. Some teachers (n = 3) were unable to identify personal strengths when teaching SEL curriculum. One participant commented, "I don't know; I've never really thought about it." When asked about teaching, another participant commented that "[offering] SEL education is assuming that the teachers who take it on are equipped." In addition, the teacher had some resentment at being asked to teach SEL skills, stating that this responsibility "used to be the purview of families." The teacher felt negatively challenged by the curriculum, questioned whether they possessed sufficient SEC to be an advisor, and felt that this should not be their responsibility. Unclear consequences for students who demonstrated disciplinary infractions was another concern (n = 3). Similarly, teachers indicated insufficient administrative support

for implementing consequences. One participant commented that "one student can affect the whole class and it's not fair for the other students," and that "there's no help from above sometimes," referring to administrative support for disciplinary issues.

In contrast, some strengths toward SEL were indicated. Student-teacher relationships (n = 3) were cited as an asset by the teachers interviewed. Advisory period was seen as an opportunity for teachers to improve their relationships with students by providing support and getting to know their students on a deeper level, which is not always possible in traditional content courses.

There were also several themes in relation to how the school could better support SEL instruction. Most teachers (n = 3) indicated a need for additional professional development, with a specific emphasis on the topics covered in the SEL curriculum. One noted that more guidance was needed in "how to teach SEL, as opposed to why teach SEL," and suggested workshops or activities to practice facilitating advisory conversations or protocols. Another teacher broadly requested "comprehensive training for advisors." Another suggestion was to focus on more inclusive teaching practices and classroom environments to bring "everyone into the conversation," referring to inclusion of all students. To improve instruction, some (n = 2) thought that there should be more hands-on learning for students with a clear, well-defined "scope and sequence" of SEL skills, curriculum, and expected outcomes by grade level.

The results from these interviews offered some insight into the teachers' perspectives of SEL curriculum in relation to their attitudes and dispositions. For example, one of the teachers was very supportive of SEL and was motivated toward improving SEL teaching skills while also indicating a perception of administrative support. This reflects an "SEL-thriver" profile, or a teacher who is "confident, supported, and committed to professional growth" in SEL (Collie et al., 2015, p. 155). Although it was not possible from this limited data to determine whether a causal relationship existed, it suggests the possibility that increased teacher efficacy toward SEL may be correlated with a more positive perception of school climate. In addition, some teachers (n = 3) suggested a need for more training in SEL instructional methods, facilitation protocols, or in advisory curriculum overall. These teachers also suggested that they felt unsupported by the administration in their implementation of the SEL curriculum.

#### Cycle 0 and Cycle 1: Exploring a Civic Engagement Approach to SEL

Using the findings from the Cycle 0 faculty interviews, the initial emphasis of this next cycle was an SEL curricular intervention centered on civic engagement. Civic engagement was selected because it was contextually relevant (McCormick et al., 2015a), aligning with the school culture, and because it had the potential to foster student SEL skills development (Association of American Colleges & Universities, n.d.; Battistoni, 2013; Deardorff & Edwards, 2013; Kornbluh et al., 2015; Ozer et al., 2010). This focus could better leverage faculty members' current strengths and knowledge, while potentially improving the transfer of that knowledge to teaching SEL (Perkins & Salomon, 1988). Finally, the curriculum might better engage students by applying SEL skills to accomplish hands-on, choice- and inquiry-based projects.

A limited version of a civic engagement curriculum was implemented during Cycle 0, receiving positive feedback from advisors. As a result, the advisor team agreed to expand the intervention in the 2019-2020 school year (Cycles 1 and 2). At that time, the civic engagement project intervention became the central focus of the eighth-grade advisory curriculum. The Cycle 1 and 2 research questions were as follows:

1) How and to what extent does implementing a contextually relevant civic engagement intervention in the eighth-grade advisory program affect teachers' sense of self-efficacy, attitudes toward SEL, and perceptions of school climate overall?

2) How and to what extent does implementing a contextually relevant civic engagement intervention in the eighth-grade advisory program affect those students' attitudes toward SEL and perceptions of school climate overall?

Eighth-grade student perceptions of school climate and of their own SEL competencies were assessed in fall 2019, near the start of the Cycle 1 intervention, in a schoolwide Panorama SEL survey (Panorama Education, n.d.; www.panoramaed.com). Starting in October 2019, advisory teachers administered an expanded version of the civic engagement intervention to all eighth-grade students. The curriculum included a guest speaker and trips to local service organizations. In addition, students were introduced to the fundamentals of design thinking, youth participatory action research, and project-based learning. In the spring semester (Cycle 2), students were grouped into cohorts. Within those cohorts, students designed their own small-group, inquiry-based projects designed to address a community need. The projects would culminate in a poster session near the end of the second semester (May).

### **Cycle 2: SEL Instruction in Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic**

Cycle 2 of the civic engagement intervention was interrupted in March 2020, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, as all on-campus activities ceased in adherence to physical

distancing guidelines. At this time, the advisory team turned its attention to supporting students academically, socially, and emotionally in the context of remote learning. Advisory teachers continued to meet for collaborative planning by video conference. The group met more frequently during remote learning, generally once per week, and detailed meeting minutes and researcher memos were recorded. Teachers appeared to engage more deeply in the advisory program than they had during the civic engagement project. This raised the question of whether the SEL intervention that was being tested in Cycles 1 and 2 was the only mechanism by which faculty might increase self-efficacy toward SEL, given that faculty SEC appeared to be increasing even after disruption of the civic engagement curriculum. With the shift to remote learning, SEL interventions were developed collaboratively by the advisory team on a weekly basis, in response to their observations of students' interests and needs. As a result of this preliminary observation, the focus of the research was shifted in Cycle 2 to explore the potential of collective professional learning to improve faculty efficacy and attitudes toward SEL.

Qualitative content analysis, a process that includes "selecting material; structuring and generating categories; defining categories; revising and expanding the frame" (Schreier, 2013, p. 7), was used to code advisory team meeting materials. Over five rounds of coding, codes were identified and organized into themes, eliminating redundant codes. New codes were also identified as the initial themes were revised and more materials were added to the document analysis. As a result of this process, a framework for collaborative professional development for SEL was developed (Table 1).

# Table 1

SEL Self-Efficacy: Framework for Collaborative Professional Development

| Theme   | Code   |
|---|--|
| Critiquing advisory / SEL                         | Identifying problem, offering critique   |
| Building knowledge / skills                       | seeking information, seeking input, seeking expertise, inviting collaboration  |
| <i>Contributing to advisory / SEL instruction</i> | Problem solving, making suggestion, sharing<br>information/observation, making curricular<br>connections, sharing related expertise, taking<br>initiative, reaching consensus, demonstrating<br>leadership, evaluating |

During remote learning, there was a growing tendency of advisory teachers to engage in meta conversations regarding the purpose of advisory in the context of the pandemic. Teachers engaged in active problem solving, took initiative in planning SEL activities, and shared information and expertise with colleagues in these meetings more often than they had at the beginning of the year. This engagement included identifying student needs, making suggestions to support learning, community connection, health, and wellness, and sharing successful and unsuccessful examples from their own practice in order to improve. Qualitative evidence suggested that teacher self-efficacy and engagement toward SEL was increasing, possibly a result of the professional learning that the group had engaged in while developing and implementing the first portions of the civic engagement curriculum. However, it may also have been the result of the need to develop new SEL strategies in response to this novel challenge.

### **Cycle 2: Faculty Perceptions of Collaborative Learning for SEL**

In order to assess the perceptions of teachers with regard to the effectiveness of the advisory team meetings in supporting their ability to deliver SEL instruction, individual interviews were conducted with each of the eighth-grade advisory teachers over video conference in June 2020. The interview included questions to solicit feedback regarding what aspects of the advisory team meetings teachers found helpful, in what ways the meetings could be improved, and general impressions or suggestions with regard to the past year's advisory program. See Appendix B for the complete list of questions.

Teacher responses were overwhelmingly positive regarding the usefulness of advisory team meetings in preparing them to lead advisory lessons and guide students in the civic engagement project. Several teachers acknowledged the fact that they found leading advisory to be challenging at times due to their inexperience or to student resistance toward engaging in the activities. However, common themes mentioned by teachers included appreciation for the planning by the coordinator (the researcher) of advisory team meeting agendas and materials, the opportunity to seek advice from colleagues, and the support for flexible approaches to teaching SEL. Several teachers noted with appreciation that lesson plans, especially in the latter part of the year (both during the civic engagement project and after the transition to remote learning) were often revised or changed completely in response to teacher input. Teachers observed that the collaborative development of curriculum and providing different options to address a learning goal increased during remote learning, after the civic engagement project was interrupted. Although some teachers noted that it was occasionally difficult to attend advisory team meetings, feedback was mixed regarding the length of time spent in meetings. Some teachers expressed a preference for the greater frequency of meetings during remote learning, noting that the meetings felt purposeful and effective. Other teachers expressed a preference for less frequent meetings, or alternatives to synchronous meetings, such as email or shared Google Docs. However, nearly all teachers gave positive feedback regarding collaborating with colleagues to plan curriculum and share expertise.

# **Cycle 2: Student Perceptions of the Advisory Curriculum**

To assess student perceptions of the advisory program during Cycles 1 and 2, a focus group interview was conducted through video conference with four eighth-grade students (three girls and one boy) on May 22, 2020. Each student was selected at random from different advisory groups, which were also selected at random from amongst the nine advisory groups. (Two additional students, one girl and one boy, who had been invited to participate did not respond and were not included in the focus group.) The interview included questions to solicit feedback regarding the civic engagement project, advisory class meetings and materials, and the advisory curriculum overall. The purpose was to assess whether students found the civic engagement project to be sufficiently worthwhile, despite its interruption, to keep in the advisory curriculum the next year. In addition, as the advisory curriculum changed during remote learning, students were asked to provide their overall perceptions of the value of the advisory curriculum, including but not limited to the project. See Appendix C for the complete list of questions.

The feedback of the student focus group was unanimously positive regarding the civic engagement project. All the students expressed interest in the topics provided, found

the advisory resources to be helpful in designing and engaging in their projects, and expressed disappointment at being unable to complete them. The students also offered constructive feedback regarding the advisory program overall. Students expressed preferences for a variety of different activities, such as game-oriented advisory competitions, collaborative or creative projects, or activities in which students discussed identity and diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI). They also perceived less value in certain activities, such as the video based Second Step SEL curriculum, or activities that involved writing or filling out worksheets. However, one of the most noteworthy themes in their responses was the importance of understanding the purpose of an advisory activity. Regardless of the type of activity, when students were able to connect the activity to a larger learning goal or personal interest, they found the activity more engaging.

# Synthesis

The findings from previous cycles of this action research study provided evidence of the important role that self-efficacy toward SEL played in middle school teachers' perceptions of SEL and school climate in the local setting. In addition, the need for flexible approaches to SEL instruction given social distancing protocols in response to the COVID-19 pandemic made the need for teacher efficacy toward SEL ever more urgent. Not only must SEL instruction adapt to new modalities, such as video conferencing, but it must also respond to new and increased social, emotional, health, and economic stressors placed on the community. Student feedback on Cycles 1 and 2, in which an inquiry-based civic engagement SEL curriculum was partially implemented, also suggested that a contextually relevant approach to SEL instruction informed by faculty experience may result in greater student engagement. In this synthesis, a learning community for SEL will be presented as an intervention with the potential to foster professional capital toward SEL, supported by the theoretical frameworks of SCT and SDT (Bandura, 1977; 2000; 2005; Deci & Ryan, 2000; Ryan & Deci, 2000).

In considering professional learning through the framework of SDT, engagement in a PLC could foster intrinsic motivation by providing a sense of connection with colleagues (Hord et al., 2008). An additional benefit that a PLC presents over individual professional development is the fostering of social learning, which has been associated with more positive learning outcomes (Salomon & Perkins, 1998). Such social learning may also serve to increase self-efficacy and collective efficacy through social persuasion and affective support among teachers, mechanisms for self-efficacy identified by SCT. A PLC may also provide opportunities for teachers to see evidence of the effectiveness of new practices through classroom observation and the shared experience of colleagues, referred to in SCT as vicarious learning.

## **Professional Learning Community**

In accordance with SCT and SDT, the establishment of a PLC may be a particularly apt approach to improving faculty self-efficacy toward SEL (Hord et al., 2008). First, a PLC provides teachers with a structure for frequent, ongoing support and feedback in the collaborative development of their SEC, in part through socially shared regulated learning (Hadwin & Oshige, 2011). The resulting increase in self-efficacy may lead teachers to be more willing to try new instructional methods (Guskey, 1988) and to be more successful in implementing the SEL curriculum (Jones, 2013; Waajid et al., 2013; Schonert-Reichl, 2017). Second, the collaborative development of the SEL

curriculum can provide teachers with autonomy-supportive strategies for SEL instruction and may increase the fit of the curriculum to school culture, improving the likelihood of successful outcomes (McCormick et al., 2015a; Sciuchetti, 2017). Third, working with fellow teachers to develop these skills can foster a sense of connection and supportive professional relationships (Hord et al., 2008). Fourth, a PLC can provide teachers with opportunities to observe successful outcomes, as well as to be exposed to new approaches and to problem-solve, in the shared experiences of colleagues. By fostering confidence in the potential for a successful outcome (Bandura, 2005), such social modeling may increase the likelihood that faculty will attempt new SEL practices. Providing a space for examples of positive SEL practices can benefit those who have not yet mastered such strategies, increasing their investment in SEL instruction and fostering the development of their own SEC (Collie, 2017).

A PLC has the potential to support the development of professional capital toward SEL (Fullan et al., 2012; Fullan et al., 2015) by creating the organizational conditions for a professional approach toward teaching and learning (Darling-Hammond, 2009). Successful implementation of a PLC intervention requires administrative support, such as autonomy-supportive leadership (Collie et al., 2017) and regular and frequent meeting time for collective professional learning in SEL (Hord et al., 2008). Practices for effective collaboration need to be developed, including PLC meeting protocols (Boudette & City, 2014). PLC members should engage in shared personal practice (Hord et al., 2008), which requires continuous development of a culture of trust among teachers and between teachers and administration (Tschannen-Moran, 2000; Tschannen-Moran, 2009). Through these methods, a PLC intervention could encourage faculty to invest more

deeply in the advisory program, solving problems at greater levels of complexity (Bereiter & Scardamalia, 1993) and increasing internal accountability (Fullan et al., 2015).

# **Cycle 2: Revised Research Questions and Intervention**

Based on findings from Cycles 0 and 1, this research study was revised to answer the following three research questions:

1) How does participation in a professional learning community (PLC) to develop teacher social emotional competence (SEC) and curriculum for an eighth-grade advisory program focused on social emotional learning (SEL) affect teachers' confidence in advisory and SEL?

2) How does participation in the PLC affect teachers' attitude toward advisory and SEL?

3) What affordances and constraints are experienced by teachers participating in the PLC during remote learning?

A concurrent mixed-methods action research approach (Ivankova, 2015; Mertler, 2017) was used to answer these questions. Qualitative and quantitative data were gathered to assess changes in teacher confidence and attitudes toward advisory and SEL over the course of the intervention. The data collection methods included an examination of how factors related to the COVID-19 pandemic affected the implementation of the intervention and teacher confidence and attitudes toward advisory and SEL. Qualitative and quantitative data related to student attitudes toward advisory, confidence in SEL skills, and perceptions of school climate were also collected and assessed for changes over the course of the intervention to inform the work of the PLC. However, because the

focus of this research study is on teacher attitudes, student data were not included in this analysis.

#### CHAPTER 3

# METHODOLOGY

The experience of competence and mastery in teaching SEL can be facilitated by an evidence-based, action research approach to assess learning outcomes. Changes in teachers' attitudes and beliefs may take place after seeing evidence of improved SEL outcomes because of changes in teaching practices, especially in the case of veteran teachers (Guskey, 1985). Such evidence can be produced by an intentional focus on assessing the relationship between professional development efforts and improved outcomes for students, rather than embarking on a change initiative without a welldesigned plan for assessment (Guskey, 2009).

The present study focused on the professional learning community (PLC) (Hord et al., 2008) as an intervention to promote teaching efficacy toward SEL. Action research was used as a means of assessing the effectiveness of the PLC intervention. Action research can support data-driven design and assessment of SEL professional learning (Dick, 2014), connecting teacher practice to measurable outcomes regarding attitudes and confidence toward skills development and school climate.

Lewin (1946) is credited for coining the term "action research." He defined action research as a cyclical approach in social science research that consists of planning, executing, and reconnaissance, or "fact-finding" (p. 38). This iterative approach of studying a problem of practice includes testing an intervention, observing the results, and refining the approach for future cycles of research. Dick (2014) expands on Lewin's definition. In defining action research, Dick (2014) focuses on continual improvement while also consciously directing interventions to improve experiences for those affected by the change. A key concept in both definitions of action research is the application of research to practice.

A reflective stance toward practice is a critical element in action research (Hase, 2014). The participants, the methods, and the philosophical perspectives are taken into consideration when conducting action research. Some action research may be conducted at an individual level, as when a teacher seeks to improve classroom practice (Dick, 2014). Other action research may be conducted by an individual who engages in the process through consultation with community members (Dick, 2014). For example, a method or intervention might be tested and evaluated by a team of teachers or a school community. Some action research, such as participatory action research (PAR) (Jordan, 2012) or critical action research (Davis, 2012), may involve a group or community in the research process. These approaches focus on identifying a problem of practice based on community goals and together designing, testing and reflecting upon the intervention. Lastly, while some action researchers seek to improve technical or practical understanding of a problem of practice (Herr & Anderson, 2005), others seek to emancipate members of their learning community (i.e., students, educators, families, and local members) from inequitable or oppressive practices (Tripp, 1990).

## **Action Research in the Present Study**

As related to this present study, action research is the practice of critically engaging in one's community of practice (Wenger, 2008) to improve equity and access to quality education. Quality education is centered around critical inquiry (Labaree, 2011; Ladson-Billings, 2014; Leonardo, 2004) and nurtures personal and community growth by maintaining positive and supportive community partnerships. Such partnerships also serve to promote the investment in an endeavor that reflects shared values and priorities, such as improving school climate through teacher self-efficacy. The testing of solutions to problems of practice requires not only the trust, but also the collaboration of the community. In short, the researcher must exercise the collaborative and leadership skills to earn the support of the community of practice.

# **Definition of Mixed Methods Research**

As Greene (2007) asserted, the choice to engage in mixed methods research reflects the desire to gain a better understanding of a problem. Such research often generates new questions and adds depth and complexity to the process. Mixed methods researchers recognize the value of different ways of knowing (Greene, 2007). For example, researchers may take advantage of what can be learned from quantitative approaches, such as Likert scale surveys or test scores, as well as from qualitative approaches, such as interviews or field note observations (Tashakkori, Teddlie, & Johnson, 2015; Yin, 2017). They also recognize the inherent multiplicity of perspectives and values that inform a problem of practice and may challenge traditionally positivist approaches by building dialogue into the methods of research and analysis (Charmaz & Bryant, 2008; Hesse-Biber, 2010). A particular benefit of using a mixed methods approach is the insight that can be gleaned from the combination of quantitative and qualitative methods to posit meta-inferences regarding a problem of practice (Tashakkori et al., 2015).

## Mixed Methods in the Present Study

Perceptions of school climate may vary according to aspects of one's identity, such as gender and race (Shukla, Konold, & Cornell, 2016; Konold, Cornell, Shukla, & Huang, 2017; Pérez-Gualdrón & Helms, 2017). In the case of teachers, perceptions of school climate may also be affected by job satisfaction and sense of self-efficacy (Collie et al., 2012). As such, to improve the experience of community for all of their members, schools must develop SEL practices that are responsive to the differing perspectives, strengths and needs of students and faculty. Greater understanding of community members' experiences of school climate can foster the development of more effective SEL supports (Konold et al., 2017; Sciuchetti, 2017). This study aimed not only to explore how increasing teacher self-efficacy toward SEL might improve their attitudes toward advisory, but also to highlight the mechanisms connected to observed change.

Quantitative data were collected in the form of Likert scale surveys to assess teacher attitudes toward SEL instruction and perceptions of the advisory PLC intervention. Qualitative data in the form of faculty interviews were collected to record and analyze in detail the experiences of individual faculty as they engaged in the PLC: their attitudes and confidence toward advisory and SEL, their perceptions of the PLC, and the affordances and constraints they perceived during the PLC intervention. These interviews, along with researcher memos and PLC meeting minutes, were also used to develop further refinements to the intervention. The use of qualitative and quantitative data sources served as a means of triangulation and to identify common themes.

Additionally, qualitative methods (interviews) and quantitative methods (surveys) were used to assess student attitudes toward SEL instruction, perceptions of the advisory program, and opinions of school climate over the course of the intervention. Student data were not included in the study findings, as the focus of the present study was on teachers.

However, student feedback was used to inform the work of the PLC in developing and assessing the effectiveness of the advisory curriculum.

## Setting

This study was set in the middle school division of a K-12 private, independent day school. The school is located in an affluent suburb of a major city in the southwestern United States and enrolls students residing throughout the metropolitan area. There were 1,116 students enrolled in the school during the 2020-2021 school year. Of those, 272 students were enrolled in the middle school division during the intervention: 80 in sixth grade, 99 in seventh grade, and 93 in eighth grade. Students of color made up approximately one third of the student body, and approximately 20% of the student body received financial aid. There were approximately 40 faculty members teaching classes in the middle school division during each term, some of whom were also teaching courses in other divisions.

Students in all middle school grades were enrolled, by grade level, in mixed gender advisory groups consisting of nine to 15 students. The intervention took place in the eighth-grade advisory program. It was made up of 8 advisory groups, each led by an advisory teacher. During the intervention, the advisory program required one 40-minute class period per week, as well as daily homeroom meetings of 10 minutes at the start of each school day.

The primary instructional goal of the advisory program was to develop students' SEL skills through direct instruction and activities. However, the advisory program also served several other important functions within the middle school. In the morning homeroom, school news and community announcements were shared by reading the daily bulletin. Teachers of advisory also served as a primary point of contact for parents and provided overall academic support for students. Most advisory teachers were also teachers of another course that included members of their advisory group, such as mathematics or English. Occasionally, a student had an advisor who was not also their instructor in another course, but who served in a different role in the middle school, such as school administrator, counselor, coach, etc. In addition, advisory teachers supported the school administration in communicating and reinforcing school rules and policies. When infractions occurred, advisory teachers were expected to counsel students to correct the behavior, and to communicate incidents to the student's parents, the middle school dean, and/or the school administration, as appropriate. The overall goal of each advisor was to develop a supportive relationship with their students so that students had a caring, vested, dedicated adult to assure academic and emotional success in school.

The advisory program was chosen as the locus for this intervention for several reasons. First, quality SEL instruction and supports have the potential to directly improve school climate (Durlak et al., 2011; Taylor et al., 2017). Second, teachers indicated that they did not feel sufficiently prepared to teach SEL or to successfully lead advisory, and they perceived the program as unengaging to students. Given the differences in advisory curriculum in each of the three middle school grades, I chose to limit the intervention to advisory teachers working with eighth-grade students. This grade was selected because it was the grade in which teachers reported the greatest perceived dissatisfaction from students and the least amount of student engagement in advisory activities. After analyzing results from previous cycles, eighth-grade students also reported the most negative perceptions of school climate, as indicated by administrations of the Panorama

48

Social-Emotional Learning Survey (Panorama Education, n.d.). Lastly, it appeared that the eighth-grade advisory program offered the greatest potential for a wide range of SEL instructional approaches and activities, given the more developed social and academic skills of students in this grade level.

### **Participants**

The participants in this study consisted of the middle school teachers (n = 8) who led seven of the eight sections of the eighth-grade advisory program and the eighth-grade student body (n = 93). The teacher participants included four female advisors (two non-Hispanic White, one Latina and one African American), and four male advisors (all non-Hispanic White). Two advisors (a male and a female) collaboratively taught one of the eight sections. I participated as the ninth advisor, leading one of the sections, and as coordinator of the PLC intervention. Cycle 3 took place during the 2020-2021 school year and was my second year serving as an eighth-grade advisor. During the three years prior to the start of this study, I served as advisory curriculum planner and as a frequent substitute advisory teacher, leading various advisory groups in all three middle school grade levels.

## Intervention: Professional Learning Community for SEL

The intervention consisted of the implementation of a PLC for SEL; eighth-grade advisory teachers collaboratively developed the curriculum for the year-long advisory program. The PLC also supported the development of the social and emotional competence (SEC) of the team in delivering SEL instruction for the duration of the project. The PLC also assessed student confidence and attitudes toward SEL and the advisory program to inform its development of SEL curriculum and instructional methods. Formal assessment methods included Likert scale surveys and interviews administered to students at the start and end of the intervention. Informal assessment of student confidence and attitudes toward SEL and the advisory program took place throughout the intervention, including observations shared by teachers in PLC meetings, their evaluation of student engagement and work produced in advisory, and researcher memos. The rationale for the PLC intervention was to increase teacher self-efficacy, collective efficacy, and professional capital toward SEL, and to increase student and teacher engagement in and satisfaction with the advisory program. A more effective advisory program would likely provide better support for a positive school climate.

Dufour and Eaker (1998) identified PLCs as having six key qualities or goals: 1) "shared mission, vision, and values;" 2) "collective inquiry;" 3) "collaborative teams;" 4) "action orientation and experimentation;" 5) "continuous improvement;" and 6) "results orientation" (p. 25-29). Similarly, Hord et al. (2008, p. 9) enumerated five essential components of a PLC: 1) "shared beliefs, values and vision;" 2) "shared and supportive leadership;" 3) "collective learning and its application;" 4) "supportive conditions;" and 5) "shared personal practice." It is important to be clear as to how the term PLC was defined in this research study. The PLC intervention in the present study aimed to foster the characteristics outlined by both Dufour and Eaker (1998) and Hord et al. (2008). Hord et al. (2008) defined a "professional learning community" as necessarily a whole-school endeavor. However, the scope of this intervention was limited to members of the eighthgrade advisor team. This distinction is made to focus specifically on the effects of increasing teacher professionalism (Darling-Hammond, 2009) toward SEL using a manageable, targeted approach.

# **Role of the Researcher**

I served as both the researcher and a participant in this study. As a participant, I led one of the eight advisory groups. This included conducting daily morning homeroom meetings and weekly advisory class meetings. As a researcher and advisor/participant, I led, participated in, and observed the PLC meetings.

In both Dufour and Eaker (1998) and Hord et al.'s (2008) definitions of a PLC, school leaders are expected to direct the learning of the PLC to foster a school culture of professional learning and accountability. In this sense, the PLC intervention adhered to these models: I held a position of administrative leadership as the Assistant Head of Middle School. I also served as an eighth-grade advisor. These dual roles had the potential to support successful implementation and assessment of the intervention. Serving on the administrative leadership team granted me greater access to information and to decision makers in our school, thereby conferring an advantage in gaining approval and support for this action research study and intervention. Serving as an advisor also granted me first-hand knowledge of the advisory program and the potential for participant-observation of the intervention (Yin, 2017), and yielded insider status in the advisor community of practice (Wenger, 2008). This insider status was limited by my simultaneous membership in the school administrative team, however, placing me in a brokering role (Wenger, 2008) between administration and teachers.

It is important to acknowledge the power imbalance between myself and other PLC members that is inherent in our respective roles in the school. A key practice of this PLC was to promote shared and distributed leadership (Spillane, 2009). Rather than promoting a hierarchical structure, there was an emphasis on creating a culture that was supportive of teacher adaptability (Collie & Martin, 2017). Citing self-determination theory (Deci & Ryan, 2012), Collie and Martin (2017) define teachers' perceived autonomy support as "teachers' perceptions that their principal supports their interests, is respectful of their opinions, and promotes their volition and autonomy" (p. 31). To this end, the practices of the PLC were designed to foster shared decision making and leadership in designing the curriculum, as well as to promote flexibility for teachers to select from among lesson choices or to adapt lessons to better meet students' needs.

#### **Data Collection: Overview**

The three research questions posed in this study were as follows: 1) How does participation in a professional learning community (PLC) to develop teacher social emotional competence (SEC) and curriculum for an eighth-grade advisory program focused on SEL affect teachers' confidence in advisory and SEL? 2) How does participation in the PLC affect teachers' attitude toward advisory and SEL? 3) What affordances and constraints are experienced by teachers participating in the PLC during remote learning?

All three questions were answered through quantitative and qualitative methods, consisting of Likert scale surveys and interviews. Likert scale surveys were administered to teachers at the beginning and end of the PLC intervention. Individual teacher interviews were conducted at the midpoint and end of the intervention. Data were collected from October 2020 through June 2021. Due to COVID-19 social distancing restrictions in place at the school from March 2020 through March 2021, data were gathered virtually during this time using online surveys (Qualtrics) and video conferencing software (Zoom). In response to changes in social distancing guidelines in

March 2021, some end of year interviews were conducted in person. All surveys were conducted online.

Qualitative and quantitative data were gathered to assess confidence and attitudes toward advisory and SEL. Data were also collected to provide insight regarding teachers' perceptions of the affordances and constraints experienced in a PLC during the pandemic. Such conditions included schoolwide impacts. For example, there was a mandatory shift from in-person to remote/blended instruction in response to social distancing guidelines. Interviews provided a means of examining personal and unique impacts of the pandemic on teacher participants, students, and the school community. Limited qualitative data were also collected through two open-ended questions included on each of the Likert scale surveys.

#### **Data Collection: Quantitative Methods**

Participants (n = 8) were administered a pre-test and post-test survey. The pre-test survey (Appendix D) was administered in September 2020 and the post-test survey (Appendix E) was administered in May 2021. I developed the surveys specifically for this study; each consisted of 24 5-point Likert scale items, as well as two open-ended items. The purpose of these surveys was to measure teacher confidence and attitudes toward advisory and SEL, as well as perceptions of affordances and constraints of the PLC, at the start and conclusion of the intervention. Both surveys were administered online using Qualtrics. The surveys were completed anonymously, with each respondent creating a unique identification code known only to them for use in both surveys, making it possible to compare responses of individual participants for changes over the course of the intervention.

To answer the first research question, participants were asked to rate their level of agreement with statements about their confidence in a range of advisory-related activities. Items included perceptions regarding their ability to engage students in advisory activities, to communicate with parents, to address discipline issues, and to support the learning of students with diverse social, emotional, and academic needs. To answer the second research question, participants were asked to indicate their level of agreement with statements about their attitudes toward the advisory program, including their perceptions of the value of student skills development through advisory, their enjoyment of the advisor role, and the effectiveness of the advisory program in supporting students during remote learning. To answer the third research question, participants were asked to indicate their level of agreement with statements about their perceptions of administrative support for teachers in the advisor role and for the advisory program. The survey also included two items designed to assess how well the advisory curriculum created during the PLC intervention supported student engagement and teacher adaptation when needed to accomplish learning goals.

# **Data Collection: Qualitative Methods**

An interview was conducted individually with each of the eight participants at the midpoint of the intervention, between December 4 and December 15, 2020. Another interview was conducted individually with each of the participants near the conclusion of the intervention, between May 3 and May 14, 2021. See Appendices F and G for the full list of questions in each interview. Each of these interviews followed a semi-structured, open-ended format. The interview questions were designed to provide insight into teachers' perceptions of the advisory curriculum and the PLC intervention, in what ways

the intervention impacted their SEC, and their confidence in and attitude toward advisory during remote learning.

To answer the first research question, teachers were asked in each of these interviews to provide examples of successes and challenges in leading advisory and teaching SEL. To answer the second research question, teachers were asked to describe rewarding and frustrating aspects of being an advisor. In addition, teachers were asked to assess the value and effectiveness of the advisory program and SEL instruction and the effectiveness of the advisory program in supporting students during remote learning. Teachers were also asked to compare the effectiveness of the advisory program during the intervention with previous years. To answer the third research question, teachers were asked to assess how well the advisory program supported students in terms of SEL outcomes, to assess the value of the PLC intervention in supporting them personally or in their role as advisors, and to consider what additional support could have been helpful. In addition, teachers were asked to assess the value and effectiveness of the advisory program and SEL instruction, and the effectiveness of the advisory program in supporting students during remote learning. Teachers were also asked to compare the effectiveness of the advisory program during the intervention with previous years.

#### **Data Analysis: Quantitative Methods**

The Likert scale pre-test survey was scored in October 2020 and the post-test survey was scored in June 2021. Four constructs were evaluated in these surveys: (a) *confidence toward advisory*, (b) *attitude toward advisory*, (c) *attitude toward advisory to support remote learning*, and (d) *perceived support for advisory*. In order to assess the reliability of the questions within each of the four constructs being tested, the alpha coefficient, or Cronbach's alpha, was calculated for the items included in each of these four constructs on each of the surveys (Fall 2020 and Spring 2021), as well as for each of the surveys as a whole. Cronbach's alpha ( $\alpha$ ) scores of .7 or above are thought to indicate an acceptable level of internal reliability;  $\alpha \ge .9$  is considered an indication of excellent internal reliability (Cortina, 1993; George & Mallery, 2003). In other words, a higher Cronbach's alpha value indicates that responses to items within a construct tend to be similar. Higher Cronbach's alpha can indicate that the items may be assessing the same (intended) construct.

Because of the small number of teacher participants (n = 8), data analysis of survey responses was limited to descriptive statistics, comparing means and standard deviations (Buss & Zambo, 2014). Results of individual items on each of the surveys were examined to assess any changes since the start of the intervention. This analysis included two survey items outside of the four constructs listed, which were designed to measure perceptions of the advisory curriculum.

### **Data Analysis: Qualitative Methods**

Recordings of the participant interviews (Appendices F and G) were first transcribed using the NVivo transcription service. These initial transcripts were then reviewed by the researcher and compared to the original recordings to make corrections for accuracy. Next, the interviews were coded using the process of qualitative content analysis, consisting of "selecting material; structuring and generating categories; defining categories; revising and expanding the frame" (Schreier, 2013, p. 7). The initial categories were informed by patterns observed, applying the qualitative content analysis process to advisor meeting minutes, teacher interviews, and researcher memos from previous cycles of research. Patterns observed in PLC meeting agendas and minutes and researcher memos collected in Cycle 3 continued to inform the development of these categories in order to assess teacher attitudes and efficacy toward advisory and SEL, as well as affordances and constraints they experienced during the PLC intervention. Themes related to the potential benefits of participation in a PLC as suggested by the literature were also included in the coding frame. In addition, themes that were not necessarily anticipated by the theory guiding the research project but were observed with frequency during the transcription review process, were included as codes. Subsumption and progressive summarizing (Schreier, 2013) of the initial codes through repeated rounds of coding resulted in a coding frame that addressed the interview data thoroughly and without redundancy. After coding, the qualitative data from the Cycle 3 interviews were analyzed using pattern-matching (Yin, 2017) to identify whether the data matched patterns that would be expected based on the primary theoretical constructs guiding the design of the intervention: social cognitive theory (SCT) and self-efficacy, professional capital and collective efficacy, and self-determination theory (SDT).

To answer the first research question, qualitative measures of teacher confidence toward advisory and SEL were identified in the interview coding process, including perceived and demonstrated competence and perceived lack of skill or expertise. To answer the second research question, attitudes toward advisory and SEL were assessed by examining references to satisfaction or dissatisfaction in the advisor role, as well as by references to advisory curriculum quality and curriculum deficits during the PLC intervention. To answer the third research question, perceptions of affordances and constraints experienced during the intervention were assessed by examining references to professionalism toward SEL, to the presence or absence of supportive conditions for advisory and SEL, and teacher assessments of SEL outcomes. Responses to the two open-ended questions on the Likert scale pre- and post-test surveys were compared to the interview data in order to include in this analysis any themes that were not provided by participants directly in interviews.

### **Threats to Validity**

As Smith and Glass (1987) explained, "The claim that changes of the independent variable cause changes of the dependent variable can be invalidated by history" (p. 127). A major focus of this research study was to measure the effects of a PLC intervention on teacher attitudes toward SEL. However, this study was also conducted in a unique historic moment, as the COVID-19 pandemic unfolded. The conditions presented by the pandemic must be considered as a variable that impacted the results of this study. The school year presented new challenges to our students and faculty. National and international activism for social justice, the Black Lives Matter movement, and economic upheaval also placed pressure on the school community to engage in difficult conversations that challenged the norms of education. Within this historic context, the need for faculty to exercise professionalism toward SEL was arguably greater than ever before.

Questions to address how remote learning and the COVID-19 pandemic impacted teachers' perceptions of the advisory program and SEL were included in surveys and interviews. This was done to provide insight into the influence of this pandemic on SEL instruction and outcomes, as well as to address one potential threat to the validity. Not only did the pandemic influence the manner that the PLC intervention and advisory curriculum were implemented, but it also had the potential to directly influence attitudes toward the advisory program and school. Qualitative data was a source of triangulation for quantitative survey results in an attempt to evaluate pandemic considerations.

In addition to the threat to validity presented by the unique historic moment, there is also the threat presented by the methods for implementation of the PLC intervention and the data collection methods of this study. For example, it is possible for experimenter effects to influence the observed outcomes of the PLC intervention (Smith & Glass, 1987), given my own participation in the intervention as an eighth-grade advisor. It is impossible to know if factors such as my social influence or personal investment in the success of PLC resulted in outcomes that might have been different had the intervention been implemented by someone else, or without my participation. Moreover, the fact that the teacher interviews were conducted by the researcher, rather than anonymously, may have presented a source of bias.

On the one hand, experimenter effects may be considered a potential threat to validity in many action research study designs. Action research is, by definition, often conducted by an insider who also participates in the intervention, data collection, and analysis (Hase, 2014; Dick, 2014). In fact, reflexivity on one's own practice is considered a strength of the method (Hase, 2014). The methods of this research study, however, also included anonymous pre- and post-test surveys of teachers, which were intended to serve as a method of triangulation for researcher observations and teacher interviews. In addition, student interviews were conducted by the researcher, and anonymous student surveys were administered, at the start and end of the intervention. These served as a source of data for advisory curriculum development by the PLC, and as triangulation for

teachers' assessments of their students' attitudes toward and engagement in advisory. Student interview and survey responses were not included in data analysis for this research study but were used to inform the work of the PLC in advisory curriculum development. They will be discussed in more detail in the "Procedures" section of this chapter.

This study was also informed by case study methods (Yin, 2017), such as the recording of detailed researcher memos. These memos included my own participant observations (Yin, 2017) of my experience implementing the advisory curriculum as the instructor of an eighth-grade advisory group. Researcher memos supported reflexivity in this study (Yin, 2017; Hase, 2014), creating structure for and making explicit the integration of my research into the ongoing development of the intervention.

Researcher memos were also recorded to document faculty perceptions, engagement, and development of the intervention, and to assess faculty sense of selfefficacy and perceptions of SEL over the duration of the intervention. PLC meeting minutes and faculty interviews provided an important source of qualitative data and insight into the perceptions of other participants in the study. Alternative interpretations and explanations for findings are addressed in the data analysis and discussion, increasing the trustworthiness of the findings.

# **Procedures for Teachers**

In October 2020, a meeting was conducted through video conference by the researcher with the eighth-grade advisory teachers to provide them with an overview of the research study purpose and methods and to invite them to participate. Teachers were informed that all eighth-grade advisory teachers would participate in the PLC

intervention. However, surveys and interviews would only be conducted with those teachers who chose to participate in the research study.

In October 2020, teacher participants (n = 8) were administered a pre-test Likert scale survey (Appendix D) to assess their confidence and attitudes toward advisory at the start of the PLC intervention. In December 2020, teacher participants (n = 8) were interviewed about their perceptions of the advisory curriculum and PLC, and the affordances and constraints experienced during the intervention and remote learning (Appendix F). In May and June, 2021, teacher participants were administered a post-test survey (Appendix E) and qualitative interview (Appendix G) to assess their confidence and attitudes toward advisory at the conclusion of the PLC intervention.

Between October 2020 and December 2021, the PLC conducted five meetings (approximately two per month) through video conference to foster the building of advisor SEC and to collaboratively develop the advisory SEL curriculum. Based on teacher feedback, the PLC meeting frequency was reduced to once per month in the second semester, for a total of four meetings conducted between January and April. In both semesters, additional advisory planning and PLC communication took place through email and Google Doc.

During PLC meetings, teachers shared their observations of student attitudes and engagement in the advisory curriculum and their own assessments of the advisory activities. Agendas and meeting minutes were recorded by the researcher and members of the PLC. Researcher memos about the PLC intervention, advisory curriculum, and observations related to school climate outcomes were recorded over the course of the intervention (October 2020 through May 2021). These observations and materials were used to evaluate the effectiveness of the advisory curriculum, to share and reflect on teachers' own practice, and to inform the ongoing development of advisory curriculum and professional development for the advisory teachers. Teachers also reviewed expert resources and instructional materials related to SEL instruction, selected, adapted, and created new advisory lessons, and engaged in collective learning and problem-solving.

# **Procedures for Students**

Student data were also used to inform the work of the PLC. In October 2020, all eighth-grade students were invited to complete a survey; most students (n = 73) submitted responses. The survey was administered online using Qualtrics software, and student responses were anonymous. Questions were designed to assess student confidence toward SEL skills, attitudes toward the advisory program, and perceptions of school climate at the start of the intervention. See Appendix H for the full list of questions.

In addition, students (n = 6) were interviewed by video conference in October 2020. The interview questions focused on student perceptions of the advisory program and SEL, school climate, and remote learning near the start of the advisory PLC intervention. Students were randomly selected from each of the eight different advisory groups to participate in these interviews that followed a semi-structured, open-ended format. The interviews were recorded and later transcribed. Questions were included to assess student feedback on the advisory curriculum, as well as students' perspectives on how homeroom and advisory could be used to support students during remote learning, to help students build or maintain friendships, and to help students meet their goals. See Appendix I for the full list of questions. In May 2021, all eighth-grade students were invited to complete a post-test survey. Most students (n = 70) responded to the survey. This survey assessed student confidence toward SEL, attitudes toward advisory, and perceptions of school climate at the conclusion of the intervention. See Appendix J for the full list of questions. In addition, some (n = 7) students were interviewed in May 2021. Because most students returned to on-campus instruction at this time, some interviews were conducted in person and others were conducted by video conference. The interview questions focused on student perceptions of the advisory program and SEL, school climate, and remote learning near the conclusion of the advisory PLC intervention. See Appendix K for the full list of questions. The selection of student participants for these interviews followed the same procedure as for the fall interviews. All interviews were recorded and then transcribed. Deidentified student interview responses and responses to student surveys were discussed with advisory teachers during PLC meetings. The student feedback was used to inform the ongoing development of the advisory curriculum.

# **Overview of Project Timeline and Procedures**

This research was conducted from October 2020, through May 2021. The study follows a concurrent mixed-methods action research design (Ivankova, 2015; Mertler, 2017). Eighth-grade advisory teachers and eighth-grade students were administered quantitative pre-test Likert scale surveys, and student participants were interviewed in October 2020, at the start of the PLC intervention. Analysis of fall quantitative and qualitative data took place in October. The PLC intervention was implemented from October 2020 through May 2021. PLC meeting minutes and researcher memos were recorded throughout the intervention. Teacher participants were interviewed in December 2020; analysis of winter interview data was conducted from December 2020 to January 2021. Teacher and student participants were administered quantitative post-test surveys, and teacher and student participants were interviewed, from May to June 2021. Analysis of spring qualitative and quantitative data took place from June to July 2021 and was also compared to qualitative and quantitative data collected previously in the study.

Approval for the study was obtained from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Arizona State University. IRB documentation is provided in Appendix L. Table 2 provides an overview of the procedures followed throughout the course of this study.

| Timeline and | Procedures | of the | Research | Study |
|--------------|------------|--------|----------|-------|
|              |            |        |          |       |

| Timeline                        | Procedures   |
|---------------------------------|--|
| September 2020                  | • Teacher and student participants were invited and informed consent requested   |
| October 2020                    | <ul> <li>Administered teacher pre-test surveys</li> <li>Administered student pre-test surveys and conducted student pre-test interviews</li> <li>Analyzed fall survey and interview data</li> </ul>                |
| October 2020 –<br>May 2021      | <ul> <li>Implemented PLC intervention</li> <li>Collaboratively designed advisory curriculum with PLC</li> <li>Recorded and collected PLC meeting agendas and minutes</li> <li>Recorded researcher memos</li> </ul> |
| December 2020                   | • Conducted teacher interviews   |
| December 2020 –<br>January 2021 | Analyzed winter interview data   |
| April 2021                      | • Invited participants for student and teacher interviews  |
| May 2021                        | <ul> <li>Conducted teacher post-test interviews and administered teacher post-test surveys</li> <li>Conducted student post-test interviews and administered student post-test surveys</li> </ul>                   |
| May – October 2021              | <ul><li>Analyzed spring survey and interview data</li><li>Wrote dissertation report</li></ul>  |

#### CHAPTER 4

#### RESULTS

In this research, a professional learning community (PLC) intervention focusing on social emotional learning (SEL) was implemented throughout an academic year in a middle school. The research questions were as follows: *1) How does participation in a professional learning community (PLC) to develop teacher social emotional competence* (SEC) and curriculum for an eighth-grade advisory program focused on SEL affect teachers' confidence in advisory and SEL? *2) How does participation in the PLC affect* teachers' attitude toward advisory and SEL? *3) What affordances and constraints are experienced by teachers participating in the PLC during remote learning*?

#### **Overview of Quantitative Findings**

To answer the three research questions, quantitative data from Likert scale surveys were collected in fall 2020 and spring 2021, at the beginning and end of the PLC intervention. Four constructs were evaluated in these surveys: (a) *confidence toward advisory*, (b) *attitude toward advisory*, (c) *attitude toward advisory to support remote learning*, and (d) *perceived support for advisory*. In addition to the survey items designed to evaluate these four constructs, two additional survey items, Q8 and Q9, were designed to assess how well the advisory curriculum created during the PLC intervention supported student engagement and differentiation of instruction. The construct *confidence toward advisory* was limited to four items: ability as an advisor, ability to adapt instruction to support students with diverse needs and strengths, ability to help students resolve conflicts with other students or adults, and ability to help students be better organized. Additional survey items were included to assess teacher confidence toward communication with parents, enforcing student discipline, and supporting student health and wellbeing.

However, these were excluded from the construct of *confidence toward advisory* after analysis of internal-consistency reliability revealed negative inter-item correlations, possibly due to inclusion of too many subconstructs. Survey responses measured level of agreement with statements using a scale of 1 = not at all to 5 = extremely. See Appendices D and E for a complete list of items on the pre- and post-test surveys, and Appendix M for descriptive statistics of responses to all survey items.

Table 3 presents a summary of internal reliability for each of the four constructs tested. Three of the four constructs did not meet the threshold for reliability on one or both surveys, most likely due to the small number of participants. The construct *confidence toward advisory* did not meet the threshold for reliability in either survey, with  $\alpha = .30$  on the pre-test and  $\alpha = .51$  on the post-test. The construct *attitude toward advisory* met an acceptable level of internal reliability in both the pre- and post-test surveys, falling within the range considered excellent,  $\alpha = .90$ , in the pre-test and acceptable,  $\alpha = .83$ , in the post-test. In the pre-test survey, the reliability of the construct *attitude toward advisory to support remote learning*,  $\alpha = .95$ , was within the range considered excellent. However, this construct did not meet the standard for acceptable reliability on the post-test, with  $\alpha = .67$ . The construct *perceived support toward advisory* did not meet the standard for acceptable reliability in either the pre-test survey, with  $\alpha = .32$ , or the post-test survey, with  $\alpha = .43$ .

67

| Construct   | Within Construct Items                         | Coefficient Alpha<br>Estimate of Reliability,<br>Pre-Test | Coefficient Alpha<br>Estimate of Reliability,<br>Post-Test |
|---|--|---|--|
| Confidence toward advisory                                | Items 2, 10 through 12<br>(4 items in total)   | .30   | .51  |
| Attitude toward advisory                                  | Items 1, 3 through 7, 17<br>(7 items in total) | .90   | .83  |
| Attitude toward<br>advisory to support<br>remote learning | Items 18 through 21<br>(4 items in total)      | .95   | .67  |
| Perceived support for advisory                            | Items 22 through 24 (3 items in total)         | .32   | .43  |

### *Estimates of Internal-Consistency Reliability for Teacher Survey,* n = 8

### **Research Question 1**

To answer Research Question 1, Likert scale pre-test surveys were administered to teachers in October 2020, and post-test surveys were administered May through June 2021. The survey included questions designed to assess teacher confidence toward the advisory program. Qualitative data from individual interviews with teachers were collected at the midpoint and end of the intervention, in winter 2020 and spring 2021. The interviews included questions designed to assess teacher perceptions of challenges and successes experienced in their role as advisors. See Appendices F and G for the full list of questions on each interview.

### Quantitative Data

The mean of the construct confidence toward advisory (3.91) remained

unchanged between the pre- and post-test surveys (Table 4).

### Table 4

Descriptive Statistics for the Construct of Confidence Toward Advisory, n = 8

| Construct                  | Pre-Test | Pre-Test           | Post-Test | Post-Test          |
|----------------------------|----------|--------------------|-----------|--------------------|
|                            | Mean     | Standard Deviation | Mean      | Standard Deviation |
| Confidence toward advisory | 3.91     | 0.30               | 3.91      | 0.23               |

In considering specific items related to confidence (Table 5), a slight decrease

was seen in Q12. In comparison, a slight increase occurred for Q10, whereas Q2 and Q11 demonstrated stability.

### Table 5

Descriptive Statistics for Survey Items Related to Confidence Toward Advisory, n = 8

| Item  | Pre-Test<br>Mean | Pre-Test<br>Standard<br>Deviation | Post-Test<br>Mean | Post-Test<br>Standard<br>Deviation |
|---|------------------|-----------------------------------|-------------------|------------------------------------|
| <i>Q2. I feel confident in my ability as an advisor.</i>  | 4.00             | 0.54                              | 4.00              | 0.00                               |
| Q10. I am confident in my ability to adapt my instruction<br>to effectively support students with diverse academic,<br>social, and emotional needs and strengths. | 3.38             | 0.52                              | 3.63              | 0.52                               |
| Q11. I am confident in my ability to help students resolve conflicts with other students or adults.   | 4.13             | 0.35                              | 4.13              | 0.35                               |
| Q12. I am confident in my ability to help students be<br>better organized (in terms of time management, notes and<br>materials, etc.).                            | 4.13             | 0.64                              | 3.88              | 0.35                               |

### Qualitative Data

The mid-intervention interview was administered in December 2020, and the post-intervention interview was administered in May 2021. The coding frame for both

interviews was created based on two primary themes, which roughly separated the data into perceived affordances and constraints of advisory and SEL during the PLC intervention. The first theme was entitled, Affordances for Advisory and SEL. This theme referred to positive teacher attitudes, confidence, and commitment toward teaching SEL and the PLC intervention. Constructs such as enjoyment, accomplishment, or satisfaction in the advisor role or positive perceptions of school climate were included. Some examples include positive assessments of the advisory program, curriculum, SEL outcomes, professional practices related to advisory, and support provided to aid advisors in their role, such as the PLC intervention. The second theme was entitled, *Constraints* for Advisory and SEL. This theme referred to negative teacher attitudes, or lack of confidence or commitment toward teaching SEL and the PLC intervention. Examples included dissatisfaction or frustration experienced in the advisor role, or negative assessments of SEL outcomes, negative experiences with the advisory program, or lack of advisor support. The responses to the two open-ended questions from the Likert scale pre- and post-test surveys were also compared to the interview data as a source of triangulation. These questions were answered in brief by some participants and were found to refer only to topics also discussed by teachers in interviews.

Fourteen codes were identified in the primary theme entitled *Affordances for Advisory and SEL*. These were then grouped into three categories, *professionalism toward SEL*, *supportive conditions for advisory and SEL*, and *SEL outcomes*, outlined in Table 6 below. Codes for each teacher are used (e.g., T4 indicates Teacher 4).

| Category                                   | Description  | Examples   |
|--|--|--|
| Professionalism toward<br>SEL              | Codes include competence and<br>professional growth, shared practice<br>and collective learning, collaboration<br>with colleagues, choice and autonomy,<br>quality of curriculum, camaraderie, | "Just when they connect with<br>each other, is so rewarding with<br>advisory. And that's the part that<br>I like the most." (T4, spring) |
|  | and <i>satisfaction and fulfillment in role</i> .  | "I love the individual<br>connections that we get to build<br>with the kids in advisory." (T1,<br>winter)                                |
| Supportive conditions for advisory and SEL | Codes include <i>administrative support</i> and <i>innovation related to remote learning</i> .   | "I enjoy the team meetings and I<br>think they're really good<br>preparation for what we're<br>actually going to do." (T2,<br>spring)    |
| SEL outcomes                               | Codes include student engagement,<br>relationships and belonging, student<br>wellbeing, teacher wellbeing, and<br>academic support.  | "And then, we were having such<br>a good time that they were like,<br>can I go again?" (T7, spring)                                      |

Affordances for Advisory and SEL Identified in Teacher Interviews

Fourteen codes were identified in the second primary theme, Constraints for

Advisory and SEL. These were then grouped into three categories, *lack of professionalism* toward SEL, *lack of support for advisory and SEL*, and *SEL deficits*, outlined in Table 7 below.

| Category                                | Description  | Examples  |
|---|--|---|
| Lack of professionalism<br>toward SEL   | Codes include curriculum deficit, need<br>for more or better teamwork, lack of<br>skill or expertise, lack of fulfillment or<br>discouragement, and differentiation as<br>challenge. | "Teaching in a remote setting<br>was really challenging, because<br>I wasn't getting [the students']<br>reaction to feed off of" (T8,<br>spring)  |
| Lack of support for<br>advisory and SEL | Codes include need for administrative<br>support, need for professional<br>development, time constraints or<br>workload, and remote learning or<br>distancing detriment.             | "The administration or you or<br>someone else could help by<br>having more of a requirement to<br>be on camera and talk more."<br>(T7, winter)    |
|   |  | "If there were just more<br>understanding of what we're all<br>doing as a group, as opposed to<br>like as an individual teacher."<br>(T7, spring) |
| SEL deficits                            | Codes include disconnection or lack of relationships, student disengagement, and lack of academic support.   | "It was a challenge a little bit to<br>support students academically."<br>(T1, spring)  |

### Constraints for Advisory and SEL Identified in Teacher Interviews

To answer the first research question, teachers were asked in the winter and spring interviews to provide examples of successes and challenges in leading advisory and teaching SEL. Measures of confidence or lack thereof were identified in the coding process, including perceived and demonstrated *competence* toward advisory and SEL, and perceived *lack of skill or expertise*. Table 8 outlines definitions and examples of these codes. The coding process identified two trends with respect to teacher confidence toward advisory and SEL: (a) teachers identified frequent examples of professional competence (mastery experiences or problem-solving) toward teaching advisory or SEL, or toward teaching in general, at both the midpoint and conclusion of the intervention; (b) teachers identified unsuccessful experiences teaching advisory or SEL, or a need for additional training, more frequently at the conclusion of the intervention than at the midpoint of the intervention.

#### Table 8

| Code                            | Definition   | Example  |  |
|---------------------------------|--|--|--|
| Competence, professional growth | Teachers describe a sense of<br>competence, growth, expertise, or<br>confidence in teaching SEL, or in<br>exercising advisor responsibilities. This  | "I'm super proactive about parent<br>communication." (T3, winter)  |  |
|                                 | should also be used when teachers cite<br>an example of problem solving to<br>achieve a goal related to SEL, advisory,<br>or teaching in general.  | "It's not too hard actually to<br>interact with kids, either, to get<br>them to respond when you ask<br>something specific of them."<br>(T1, winter)   |  |
| Lack of skill or expertise      | Teachers cite a lack of skill, experience,<br>or ability to deliver SEL instruction or<br>to achieve desired SEL outcomes. This<br>code should be used when teachers<br>state that they do not know how to do,<br>or are not good at, a skill or practice<br>related to SEL instruction, but do not<br>suggest an intervention or support. | "I was new with the curriculum<br>I wasn't, I think I could have<br>done better last year. I could<br>have framed it a little better."<br>(T6, spring) |  |

### Codes Reflecting Confidence or Lack Thereof Toward Advisory and SEL

In the winter interviews, each of the eight teachers cited examples of successful problem-solving related to teaching SEL or leading advisory. For example, in discussing how to solicit student engagement over Zoom, one teacher noted, "It's not too hard actually to interact with kids, either, to get them to respond when you ask something specific of them" (T1). Several teachers shared a sense of competence in selecting activities from the advisory materials to elicit greater interaction from their students, such as games or music. For example, a teacher reported, "We did . . . the 'would you rather?' questions from the slide show, and that was great" (T2). Another said, "[My students] seem to relate to music right now . . . and [playing music] kind of made a smile on some

faces and that got a couple of responses" (T4). Another teacher expressed an overall feeling of competence, asserting, "I have never felt so competent being an advisor. . . . and ready to, like, handle it" (T5). Some teachers also expressed a sense of competence regarding parent communication. For example, one teacher reported, "I'll see a parent in the background. . . . and I'll say, hi, mom, you're welcome to join in if you like. . . . but I want them to know, hey, we're--you're our support" (T4). Another teacher expressed a sense of competence in their frequency of communication with parents (T3), while another noted a greater sense of competence in conducting parent-teacher conferences this year (T5). The teacher stated video conferences conducted with the parents of each advisory student felt more "accurate" and "meaningful" than the feedback teachers gave in prior years in the form of only a brief written report card comment (T5).

In the spring interviews, all but one participant (T5) demonstrated a sense of competence or problem solving related to advisory or SEL. Some examples provided by teachers included techniques for soliciting student engagement during remote learning (T4), exercising self-awareness about one's own emotions to more effectively engage students (T1 and T7), or confidence in teaching certain SEL related topics (T8). For example, one teacher cited using Zoom breakout rooms as an effective technique for increasing student engagement in advisory activities while remote (T1), and another teacher cited feeling "comfortable" addressing topics like sex education (T8). Another teacher described a sense of improvement in their organizational skills (T2), and another expressed that they were "doing a good job" of not bringing personal stress into the classroom to more effectively support students (T7).

Deficits with regard to teachers' sense of competence, identified by the code *lack of skill or expertise*, were very infrequent in both the winter and spring interviews. This finding was particularly salient because Cycle 0 interviews indicated most teachers felt they were lacking in SEC, and were insufficiently trained to teach SEL. In the winter interviews, only three of the eight teachers indicated a lack of training or skill as a factor in their ability to successfully lead advisory. For two of these teachers, the perceived lack of skill cited was related to teaching strategies for remote learning, such as getting students to show their work on camera (T4) or to engage during a Zoom lesson (T8), as opposed to a perceived lack of skill in teaching SEL. As one teacher noted:

... When they're just not turning on their cameras, they're just not willing to speak or engage, I'll still do the lesson to the best of my ability and hope that some of the information or skills are landing for some of them. (T8)

The only teacher to cite relative lack of training in SEL (T1) did so in the context of expressing the value of the resources available to support the advisor team in teaching SEL. As the teacher explained:

I like seeing, you know, drawing upon some of the SEL things that [our school counselor] shared. Some of the more, like, really well thought out documents about how SEL works.... I have no programmatic training in SEL except for professional development things that I've gone to ... so I'm a big fan of getting experts also kind of helping guide our curriculum. (T1)

In spring, five of the teachers cited some perceived *lack of skill or expertise*, or a desire to improve upon something they had done in leading advisory, though these references were brief. Typically, these negative responses were just a few sentences over the course of a 20-minute-long interview. Of those five teachers, three of them cited challenges related to remote learning or physical distancing protocols (T2, T3, T4), such as the challenge of teaching SEL while remote, or of grouping students when restricted to

assigned seating due to social distancing requirements. One teacher cited relative lack of experience with the eighth-grade advisory curriculum as a first-year member of the team, explaining, "I wasn't quite sure . . . you know, [the curriculum] was all kind of new. . . . I could have framed it a little better" (T6). Another cited a general sense of challenge in the frequent shifts in teaching demanded by the pandemic, stating, "It just feels like everybody's first year teaching" (T3). The observation made by one teacher regarding leading advisory indicated more challenging teaching conditions during remote learning:

SEL stuff would be the most difficult, especially because of being remote. That stuff's always easier to like, detect and, like, understand when it's going on when you're in person. . . . I mean, just talking in person was so much different than talking on Zoom. . . If there was any issue related to [social emotional wellbeing], it was always very hard to get anything out of any kid over the computer. (T2)

However, only two teachers (T2 and T6) indicated a perceived lack of experience or skill specifically related to advisory or SEL.

### **Research Question 2**

To answer the second research question, *How does participation in the PLC affect teachers' attitude toward advisory and SEL?*, quantitative data from Likert scale surveys were collected in fall 2020 and spring 2021, at the beginning and end of the PLC intervention. Qualitative data from individual interviews with teachers were collected in winter 2020 and spring 2021, at the midpoint and end of the intervention.

### Quantitative Data

The Likert scale surveys administered to teachers at the beginning and conclusion of the PLC intervention included items designed to measure the constructs *attitude toward advisory* and *attitude toward advisory to support remote learning*. Reliability measures for the quantitative data were presented previously in Table 3.

Descriptive Statistics for the Constructs of Attitude Toward Advisory and Attitude

| Construct   | Pre-Test<br>Mean | Pre-Test<br>Standard Deviation | Post-Test<br>Mean | Post-Test<br>Standard Deviation |
|---|------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------|---------------------------------|
| Attitude toward advisory                            | 4.04             | 0.52                           | 3.79              | 0.64                            |
| Attitude toward advisory to support remote learning | 3.53             | 0.84                           | 3.69              | 0.59                            |

*Toward Advisory to Support Remote Learning,* n = 8

The mean of the construct *attitude toward advisory* was relatively high preintervention but decreased slightly on the post-test, -0.25 points. The mean of the construct *attitude toward advisory to support remote learning* was relatively low preintervention and increased slightly post-intervention, 0.16 points. See Table 9 for details.

In considering specific items related to *attitude toward advisory*, decreases were seen in Q5, Q6, and Q7, while slight increases were seen in Q1 and Q17. No change was seen in mean attitudes for Q3 and Q4. See Table 10 for details. (Differences in wording between pre- and post-test survey items are in parentheses.)

| Item  | Pre-Test<br>Mean | Pre-Test<br>Standard Deviation | Post-Test<br>Mean | Post-Test<br>Standard Deviation |
|---|------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------|---------------------------------|
| <i>Q1. I am (looking forward to / enjoying)</i><br>being an advisor this year.  | 3.50             | 0.54                           | 3.63              | 0.92                            |
| Q3. I believe that advisory is an essential part of the middle school program.  | 4.38             | 0.52                           | 4.38              | 0.74                            |
| <i>Q4. I believe that being an advisor (will be / is) a rewarding experience.</i>   | 3.88             | 0.64                           | 3.88              | 0.84                            |
| <i>Q5. I believe that being an advisor (will help me / is helping me) to develop better relationships with my students.</i> | 4.75             | 0.46                           | 4.13              | 1.13                            |
| <i>Q6. I believe that I (will develop / am developing) important skills this year through my experience as an advisor.</i>  | 3.88             | 0.64                           | 3.13              | 0.84                            |
| Q7. I believe that being an advisor (will<br>support / supports) my effectiveness as a<br>teacher outside of advisory.      | 4.13             | 0.64                           | 3.50              | 0.93                            |
| Q17. I believe that students (will develop /<br>are developing) important skills this year<br>through the advisory program. | 3.75             | 1.04                           | 3.88              | 0.99                            |

### Descriptive Statistics for Survey Items Related to Attitude Toward Advisory, n = 8

In considering items related to attitude toward advisory to support remote

*learning*, a slight decrease was seen in Q21, while an increase was seen in Q18 and a slight increase was seen in Q19. No change was seen in mean attitude for Q20. See Table

11 for details.

### Descriptive Statistics for Survey Items Related to Attitude Toward Advisory to Support

| Item   | Pre-Test<br>Mean | Pre-Test<br>Standard Deviation | Post-Test<br>Mean | Post-Test<br>Standard Deviation |
|--|------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------|---------------------------------|
| Q18. I believe that homeroom and<br>advisory are important supports for<br>students to stay connected to each other<br>during remote learning.                 | 3.63             | 1.06                           | 4.25              | 0.71                            |
| Q19. I believe that homeroom and<br>advisory are important supports for<br>students to learn about and participate in<br>school events during remote learning. | 3.75             | 0.89                           | 3.88              | 0.84                            |
| Q20. I believe that homeroom and<br>advisory are important supports for<br>students to be successful in their classes<br>during remote learning.               | 3.25             | 0.89                           | 3.25              | 1.04                            |
| Q21. I believe that homeroom and<br>advisory are important supports for<br>student wellness (social, emotional,<br>physical) during remote learning.           | 3.50             | 0.76                           | 3.38              | 0.74                            |

*Remote Learning,* n = 8

#### Qualitative Data

Interviews were conducted with faculty participants at the midpoint and endpoint of the PLC intervention. A total of 14 codes were identified for the primary theme entitled *Affordances for Advisory and SEL*. These were then grouped into three categories, *professionalism toward SEL*, *supportive conditions for advisory and SEL*, and *SEL outcomes*, outlined previously in Table 6. Another 14 codes were identified for the second primary theme, entitled *Constraints for Advisory and SEL*. These were then grouped into three categories, *lack of professionalism toward SEL*, *lack of support for advisory and SEL*, and *SEL deficits*, outlined previously in Table 7. To address the second research question, teachers were asked in the mid-

intervention and post-intervention interviews to discuss rewarding and frustrating aspects of being an advisor. In addition, teachers were asked to assess the value and effectiveness of the advisory program and SEL instruction. Teachers were also asked to compare the effectiveness of the advisory program with previous years. Teacher attitudes toward advisory and SEL were assessed by references to *satisfaction* or *dissatisfaction* in the advisor role, as well as by references to *advisory curriculum quality* and *curriculum deficits* during the PLC intervention. See Table 12 for definitions and examples of these codes.

The coding process identified four trends with respect to teacher attitudes toward advisory and SEL: (a) most teachers perceived the quality and value of the advisory curriculum as improved during the intervention; (b) all teachers identified areas for continued improvement of the advisory curriculum, and did so more frequently, at the end of the intervention than at the midpoint; (c) teachers expressed satisfaction overall in the advisor role, which remained nearly unchanged over the course of the intervention; (d) dissatisfaction in the advisor role or with SEL outcomes was almost entirely associated with the constraints imposed by remote learning.

80

| Code                                 | Definition   | Example   |
|--------------------------------------|--|---|
| Satisfaction, fulfillment<br>in role | Teachers describe SEL, being an advisor,<br>or functions of that role as personally or<br>professionally rewarding, successful,<br>meaningful, or enjoyable.   | "Just when they connect with<br>each other, is so rewarding<br>with advisory. And that's the<br>part that I like the most." (T4,<br>spring)   |
|                                      |  | "I love the individual<br>connections that we get to<br>build with the kids in<br>advisory." (T1, winter)   |
| Quality of curriculum                | Teachers positively assess the value or<br>effectiveness of the advisory instructional<br>methods, curriculum, and activities, or<br>when they positively assess the curriculum<br>development approach or outcomes.   | "The three weeks of gratitude<br>that we've been doing, has<br>been really helpful. And it<br>feels thematic and it feels like<br>the students are kind of<br>remembering ideas that they<br>said three weeks ago." (T6,<br>winter) |
| Dissatisfaction,<br>frustration      | Teachers express dissatisfaction,<br>discouragement, frustration, or lack of<br>enjoyment in teaching SEL, in leading<br>advisory, or in exercising other functions<br>of the advisor role. This category should<br>not be used when a critique is offered with<br>regard to a specific aspect of the advisory<br>program or role, or when a remedy is | "I don't know that I'm ever<br>going to build community<br>with this group." (T8, winter)<br>"Just, when all of this is going<br>on, it's just, you're not getting<br>a lot, you're not getting that<br>usual joy and satisfaction, |
|                                      | suggested.   | whatever. So you just move<br>forward" (T5, spring)   |
| Curriculum deficit                   | Teachers cite a need for more advisory<br>curriculum development, an aspect of the<br>curriculum or type of activity that is<br>lacking or insufficient, or a need to revise,<br>improve, or eliminate existing content or<br>activities.  | "As we keep developing the<br>program, I think, uh,<br>increasing clarity about what<br>is the purpose, what is the<br>goal, where are we going over<br>the course of, like, a full<br>year?" (T1, spring)                          |
|                                      |  | "If we're actually going to be<br>a school that cares about this,<br>let's find a way to do both"<br>(T1, spring)   |

# Codes Reflecting Teacher Attitudes Toward Advisory and SEL

In both the winter and spring interviews, teachers were asked to assess the effectiveness of the advisory program overall in comparison to the previous year. The spring interviews included an additional question to solicit feedback regarding the quality of the advisory curriculum in particular. In considering the overall quality of the advisory program, all teachers cited aspects of the program they perceived as having improved during the PLC intervention, with the quality of the curriculum cited by seven teachers in the winter interviews (T1, T2, T4, T5, T6, T7, T8). In spring, this topic was discussed at more length, with all eight teachers citing appreciation for the quality of the SEL curriculum.

Several teachers described the curriculum during the intervention as better than in past years. For example, one teacher observed, "I've seen improvements this year. . . . It feels like, at least recently in advisory, . . . we're actually, like, building some good socioemotional . . . skills in more of a sustained, just like, really thoughtful programmatic way" (T1). Another noted, "[The advisory curriculum has] just been shaped and molded and developed to meet [this] middle school so well" (T5). Another commented, "One improvement that I do see is just making the intentional changes to having some of these more thoughtful conversations during remote learning. . . . And it feels thematic and it feels like the students are kind of remembering ideas that they said three weeks ago. . . . And it seems very purposeful and intentional" (T6). A fourth teacher observed, "I think, for myself, comparing the two [years], this year is working much better. I think that it's a little more structured, and it feels at least a little more specifically focused on the SEL lessons" (T8). The ability to quickly "shift" (T1) or "pivot" (T1, T4) the lessons or activities in response to current events or emergent student needs was cited as an improvement. Teachers also noted improved continuity between SEL lessons and themes across advisory sessions (T1, T6, T8), as well as a more effective "balance" (T2) with regard to types of advisory activities (T2, T1, T4, T6, T7). Specifically, teachers felt readings and videos were grade-level appropriate, properly varied, and supportive of students' developmental stage. SEL lessons were not perceived as "babyish" or "remedial" (T1). There were also "fun" activities (T2) designed to support positive SEL and school climate outcomes, such as games and community building activities. Teachers also cited high quality and/or improved curriculum content, either specifically related to coping with the COVID-19 pandemic (T4, T1) or to SEL skills development in general (T1, T3, T2, T5, T7, T8). For example, one teacher observed, "Working with issues concerning the pandemic, you know, those feelings of loneliness or gratitude or empathy, that's so much needed" (T4).

While advisors indicated a general sense of improved advisory curriculum quality during the PLC intervention, four advisors cited *curriculum deficits*, or a need for continued SEL curriculum development, in the winter interviews (T1, T3, T6, T7). Among the deficits cited in winter were the need to address the pandemic more directly in advisory lessons, as well as to revisit some earlier advisory topics. As one teacher observed, "Sometimes I think if we have something for one week, we get that checklist out and then we move on. But I wonder if students still want to come back and revisit some of those topics" (T6). Similarly, another teacher urged that the program not "lose the momentum" it built this year in addressing SEL topics in a thoughtful, sustained way (T1). Conversely, another teacher felt that spending too much time on "heavy topics" resulted in less engagement from students and believed that more time should be devoted to play (T7). Similarly, another teacher recommended that advisors periodically allow students to choose from a menu of playful or interest-based advisory activities (sports, music, games, etc.) (T3).

The most frequent code in the spring interviews was *curriculum deficits*, with all eight teachers offering ideas for improvements to the advisory curriculum. Some teachers suggested developing clearer advisory program goals (T1, T2). As one teacher explained, "... as we keep developing the program ... [we should be] increasing clarity about what is the purpose, what is the goal, where are we going over the course of, like, a full year?" (T1).

Other program revisions offered by teachers included placing greater emphasis on current events and civics (T3), service (T5), or games (T7). One teacher expressed concern that the school discouraged classroom conversation about topics that could be considered political (T3). In the interview, this teacher cited an expression that had been used by school administrators, the "double yellow line," to refer to the line separating the classroom from politics, to which the teacher responded, "If we can't talk politics, politics are off limits, and then everything gets lumped in as a political topic . . ." The teacher strongly felt that "as educators in this country, we have to talk more about topical, relevant current events and issues," and argued that "advisory is the best place to open up space for those conversations."

It was suggested that more time be spent on some lessons (T4), or that the order in which some lessons were presented might be changed (T5). As one teacher explained,

"Sometimes the lessons were too quick. . . . Sometimes our lessons would just be so different than the next" (T4). It was also recommended that the group have more concise or "manageable" lesson plans (T4). Additional ideas included doing more team-building activities (T4, T8), engaging eighth-grade students more with older or younger students to receive or provide mentorship (T5, T6, T7), and soliciting more student input and feedback about advisory lessons (T4). As one teacher suggested, "Polling [students], or getting their opinion, makes them feel really important. And they do, their voice matters, and they have a chance to say something" (T4).

In both the winter and spring interviews, teachers were asked to describe the most rewarding and frustrating aspects of being an advisor. In general, teachers indicated that being an advisor was a rewarding part of their role. Six teachers in the winter interview (T1, T2, T3, T4, T5, T7, and T8) and five teachers in the spring interview (T1, T4, T6, T7, T8) explicitly referred to feeling a general sense of *satisfaction* in being an advisor. Some advisors indicated a general sense of enjoyment in the role, such as one who asserted, "I just love being an advisor" (T5). Others experienced a sense of meaning in helping their advisory students, such as one teacher who stated, "Learning later on that I was helping them. . . . that feels great" (T4).

In considering rewarding aspects of the advisor role, positive relationships with students and families were cited by five advisors in the winter interviews (T1, T2, T3, T4, T7). One teacher noted that being recognized by a student in their advisory as the adult they would go to for help with a problem was particularly meaningful (T2). Another source of reward for advisors was the perception that they know their student advisees better and provide them with more support as compared to only seeing students in

academic classes (T7). In the spring interviews, developing long-term relationships with students in their advisory group and seeing them mature was cited as a source of satisfaction, as was greeting their advisory students every morning (T4). In addition, a sense that "the role of advisor is even more important this year," referring to the circumstances of remote learning and the pandemic, was explicitly cited (T7).

Nevertheless, teachers did experience some *dissatisfaction and frustration* in the advisor role. While the frequency of references to discouragement and frustration in the role decreased in the spring interviews (17) as compared to winter (29), six out of the eight teachers referred to such experiences in the winter interviews (T3, T4, T5, T6, T7, T8) and six did so in the spring interviews (T2, T3, T4, T5, T6, T8). Experiences of dissatisfaction in the advisor role, or of frustration with SEL outcomes, were most frequently related to obstacles presented by remote learning and social distancing. One teacher lamented the lack of responsiveness from students during Zoom advisory meetings, stating, "So we talk about these topics, like, just empathy and caring and giving and, and just without making that connection, you kind of feel like there's just this wall sometimes" (T5). Another teacher expressed concern about their effectiveness as an advisor, admitting, "I don't know that I can help as well as I would be able to in a normal year" (T3). Another teacher summed up the concern teachers felt for students during remote learning regarding their isolation at home:

This is a rough year for kids, it's a very rough year for them. And they are tired. . . Bring on this vaccine. Let's get out into the world. Get out of the seat. Get out of your room. You know, their homework is at home. Their classwork is at home. And they're always in the same spot. And I feel bad for them . . . (T4)

Of note, all teachers and most eighth-grade students returned from primarily remote instruction to hybrid on-campus instruction starting in March 2021, and transitioned to primarily on-campus instruction in April 2021. At the time of the spring interviews, all middle school grades were engaged in in-person instruction four days per week, with instruction on Wednesdays conducted remotely. A small number of students opted to remain entirely remote.

Some teachers described the lack of reward they felt in the advisory role this year, citing low student engagement related to remote learning. One teacher compared remote teaching to their first year as a teacher, feeling like a novice and constantly struggling to adapt, "only without all of that reward" or "positive feedback" (T3) that teachers may feel at the completion of a successful year of teaching. Another teacher noted, "Because I wasn't getting [students'] reactions to feed off of . . . it felt like an energy suck. . . . My motivation would dip sometimes, too. Like it was hard to put so much energy into something I wasn't really getting much back" (T8). Similarly, another teacher noted, "when all of this is going on, it's just, you're not getting a lot, you're not getting that usual joy and satisfaction" (T5). Detailed findings regarding *remote learning or distancing detriments* and *innovations related to remote learning* will be discussed in more detail in the next section, which will consider the affordances and constraints experienced by teachers during the PLC intervention.

### **Research Question 3**

The third research question, *What affordances and constraints are experienced by teachers participating in the PLC during remote learning?*, was also explored using mixed methods. Quantitative data included Likert scale surveys collected in fall 2020 and spring 2021, at the beginning and end of the PLC intervention. Qualitative data included the coding of individual interviews with teachers collected in winter 2020 and spring 2021, at the midpoint and end of the intervention.

### Quantitative Data

The Likert scale surveys administered to teachers at the beginning and conclusion of the PLC intervention included items designed to measure the construct *perceived support for advisory and SEL*. Reliability measures for this construct were presented previously in Table 3. The perception of support for advisory had the highest preintervention mean of the four constructs included in the survey (see Table 13) and showed a modest decrease on the post-test, -0.33 points.

#### Table 13

Descriptive Statistics for the Construct of Perceived Support for Advisory, n = 8

| Construct                                    | Pre-Test | Pre-Test           | Post-Test | Post-Test          |
|--|----------|--------------------|-----------|--------------------|
|  | Mean     | Standard Deviation | Mean      | Standard Deviation |
| Perceived support for advisory and SEL (SUP) | 4.21     | 0.43               | 3.88      | 0.67               |

In considering specific items related to perceptions of support, the means for all items were relatively high on the pre-test (4.00 and above). One of these items, Q23, presented the second highest pre-test mean of all survey items. On the post-test, modest decreases were seen in Q23, and Q24, and no change was seen in Q22. See Table 14 for details.

### Descriptive Statistics for Survey Items Related to Support, n = 8

| Item   | Pre-Test<br>Mean | Pre-Test<br>Standard Deviation | Post-Test<br>Mean | Post-Test<br>Standard Deviation |
|--|------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------|---------------------------------|
| Q22. If I have a challenging situation with<br>a student or group of students, other<br>advisors are a good resource to me in<br>problem solving.        | 4.00             | 0.93                           | 4.00              | 1.07                            |
| Q23. If I have a challenging situation with<br>a student or group of students, school<br>administrators are a good resource to me<br>in problem solving. | 4.38             | 0.52                           | 4.00              | 0.93                            |
| Q24. I believe that teachers are given the support they need to be effective advisors.   | 4.25             | 0.46                           | 3.63              | 0.92                            |

The survey also included two items, Q8 and Q9, designed to assess how well the advisory curriculum created during the PLC intervention supported student engagement and teacher adaptation when needed to accomplish learning goals, outlined in Table 15. Table 15

Descriptive Statistics for Survey Items Related to Curriculum, n = 8

| Item   | Pre-Test<br>Mean | Pre-Test<br>Standard Deviation | Post-Test<br>Mean | Post-Test<br>Standard Deviation |
|--|------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------|---------------------------------|
| <i>Q8. It is easy to engage my students in advisory lessons and activities.</i>  | 2.63             | 0.74                           | 3.00              | 1.07                            |
| Q9. If an advisory activity isn't working,<br>I am able to successfully adapt it to<br>accomplish the targeted learning goals. | 3.38             | 0.74                           | 3.75              | 0.71                            |

Overall, teacher assessments of the quality of the advisory curriculum with regard to student engagement and differentiation, as reflected in quantitative data, improved slightly over the course of the PLC intervention. On the pre-test survey, Q8 presented the lowest mean score of all survey items but increased slightly by the end of the intervention. The Q9 mean score was also low at the start of the intervention but saw a similar slight increase on the post-test.

### Qualitative Data

Teachers were asked in interviews at the midpoint and endpoint of the intervention to assess how well the advisory program supported students in terms of SEL outcomes. Teachers were also asked to assess the value of the PLC intervention in supporting them personally or in their role as advisors, and to consider what additional support could have been helpful. Affordances experienced by teachers during the PLC intervention were assessed by references to professionalism toward SEL, including *competence and professional growth, shared practice and collective learning, collaboration with colleagues*, and *choice and autonomy*. Supportive conditions for SEL were assessed by perceptions of *administrative support* and *camaraderie* with fellow advisors. SEL outcomes were assessed by perceptions of *student engagement, relationships and belonging, student wellbeing, teacher wellbeing*, and *academic support*. See Table 16 for definitions and examples of these codes.

Constraints experienced by teachers during the PLC intervention were assessed by references to lack of professionalism toward SEL, including *need for more or better teamwork*, and *differentiation as challenge*. Lack of support for advisory and SEL was assessed by perceptions of *need for administrative support*, *need for professional development*, *time constraints or workload*, and *remote learning or distancing detriment*. Poor SEL outcomes were identified by perceptions of *disconnection or lack of relationships*, *student disengagement*, and *lack of academic support*. See Table 17 for definitions and examples of these codes.

| Name of category                              | Description   | Example  |
|---|---|--|
| Choice and<br>autonomy                        | Teachers cite the ability to exercise choice in selecting advisory activities or methods as beneficial to SEL outcomes.   | " The nice thing about the setup we already<br>have is that, as advisors, we have a lot of<br>autonomy over how we do the lessons." (T8,<br>winter)                                      |
| Shared practice<br>and collective<br>learning | Teachers cite shared experience and wisdom,<br>planning, and collective learning for SEL<br>associated with participating in the PLC.   | "And brainstorming together has been a lot<br>of fun, just to feel like, you know, we have a lo<br>of say in the programming." (T6, spring)  |
| Collaboration<br>with colleagues              | Used when two or more advisory groups<br>combine to engage in an activity, or when<br>advisors partner with a co-teacher.   | " it's been quite helpful to be partnered with<br>somebody else who already knows the<br>curriculum" (T6, winter)  |
| Student<br>engagement                         | Teachers observe positive student<br>participation, interest, or effort in advisory<br>activities or curriculum.  | "I think there was enough support that they actually, my group, at least, really engaged and [were] really thoughtful" (T1, spring)  |
| Relationships and<br>belonging                | Teachers cite positive relationships with or<br>between students or their families, or feeling<br>a sense of connection with students related to<br>their role as advisors.   | " Advisory was definitely a place where<br>was definitely able to maintain some, like, reall<br>strong relationships with kids." (T2, spring)  |
| Supportive<br>conditions for<br>teachers      | Teachers feel supported as advisors by the<br>school administration, such as by setting of<br>norms or allocation of time, or through<br>professional learning or resources provided.   | "I feel like things are so well planned out and s<br>well supported that I feel like I have the tools<br>and resources I need." (T7, winter)   |
| Innovation related<br>to remote learning      | An instructional method or practice<br>implemented to support remote learning or<br>physical distancing is a support for SEL, or<br>an improvement over past practice.  | "I loved doing the [parent teacher]<br>conferences on Zoom." (T6, winter)  |
| Camaraderie                                   | Shared experience and relationships with<br>other advisors are cited as a rewarding aspect<br>of being an advisor or of engaging in the<br>PLC intervention.  | " It just, like, reaffirms, like, I'm not in this alone, you know? Other people are having challenges, other people have had successes (T5, spring)                                      |
| Teacher wellbeing                             | Teachers cite practices to support their own<br>wellbeing, or describe teaching advisory or<br>SEL as a support for their own wellbeing.  | "Taking care of myself, it was like a really big<br>prerequisite in a way that was maybe easier to<br>do in previous years" (T1, spring)   |
| Student wellbeing                             | Participation in advisory or other school<br>activities is cited as a support for students'<br>wellbeing, or describe evidence of students'<br>wellbeing.   | "We would talk through some techniques, talk<br>about sleeping, and just little things." (T6,<br>spring)   |
| Academic support                              | Teachers describe actions taken or resources<br>provided by teachers or the school to support<br>students to be successful in school. This may<br>refer to programs, routines, structures,<br>supervision, or monitoring of students. | " I'm keeping up on their academic progress<br>I'm checking in with them on stuff. You know<br>. any sort of support issues are communicated<br>through the same channels." (T3, spring) |

# Codes Reflecting SEL Professionalism, Support, and Positive Outcomes

| Codes Reflecting Lack of SEL Professionalism and Support, or Poor Outcomes |
|--|
|--|

| Name of category                           | Description   | Example   |
|--|---|---|
| Need for more or<br>better teamwork        | An improvement is suggested for how<br>advisors or the PLC work as a team, such as<br>more collaboration, collective learning,<br>partnering, or distribution of tasks.                             | " And maybe these few advisors kind of<br>take the lead in planning something really<br>good and these ones plan or something like<br>that." (T1, winter)   |
| Need for professional<br>development       | Teachers cite a need for more professional development, outside of or in addition to the collective learning and shared practice of the PLC.  | " Like a couple hours just for advisors to<br>learn some of these skills, or just kind of<br>tighten up our own skills as advisors, like the<br>SEL skills." (T8, spring)   |
| Need for<br>administrative<br>support      | Teachers describe a need for more<br>administrative support to implement change,<br>or a need to establish or enforce policies to<br>support SEL or effective teaching in general.                  | " Some type of direction on what is<br>recommended to support the students at<br>home and in person at the same time all<br>be on the same page." (T7, spring)  |
| Differentiation as<br>challenge            | Teachers describe the need to differentiate<br>instructional methods or expectations as a<br>challenge to SEL instruction or outcomes, or<br>to effective teaching in general.                      | "I'm just wondering what's going on with<br>certain kids and how they're learning. And I<br>can see kids are getting frustrated." (T4,<br>winter)   |
| Disconnection, lack<br>of relationships    | Teachers cite a lack of relationship or connection with or between students.  | "Like I feel like they're going to go on to<br>ninth grade and I really don't know much<br>about them at all." (T3, spring)   |
| Student<br>disengagement                   | Teachers describe lack of student<br>participation, enjoyment, motivation, or<br>interest in advisory activities or curriculum.   | " A lot of my students were withdrawn,<br>not turning in assignments, not even<br>speaking up" (T4, spring)   |
| Student stress or<br>stressors             | Teachers observe student stress, or cite<br>student stress or lack of wellbeing as an<br>obstacle to advisory or SEL, or to teaching<br>in general.   | "With the pandemic, I think, we needed some<br>type of support group or some type of place<br>to talk, more than we usually [do], because of<br>how many hardships that our kids were going<br>through this year." (T6, spring) |
| Teacher stress /<br>stressors              | Teachers cite feelings of stress or lack of<br>wellbeing as an obstacle to teaching<br>advisory or SEL, or to teaching in general.  | "The whole waiting for employee contracts,<br>everybody was anxious." (T4, spring)  |
| Lack of academic<br>support                | Teachers cite lack of support, structure, or<br>supervision as a hindrance to students'<br>academic success in school.  | "Some students not waking up in the<br>morning was an issue. And still [laughs].<br>This shift to schooling." (T4, spring)  |
| Remote learning or<br>distancing detriment | Teachers cite an instructional method,<br>material, or practice implemented to support<br>remote learning or in response to physical<br>distancing as a detriment to SEL or teaching<br>in general. | "And it's, you know, that, that, really tough<br>to engage back and forth with Zoom and<br>even in hybrid when you're going back and<br>forth." (T3, spring)  |
| Time constraints or<br>excessive workload  | Teachers cite how time is allocated, or the<br>type or volume of demands on students' or<br>teachers' time, as an obstacle or limitation to<br>SEL or satisfaction in the advisor role.             | "So it just, overall feeling, it could be the<br>same, but overall feeling, it just feels like<br>more work" (T7, spring)   |

The coding process identified four trends with respect to teacher perceptions of affordances and constraints during the intervention: (a) remote learning was perceived as the greatest obstacle to positive SEL outcomes and to teaching in general; (b) though the effectiveness of advisory was hampered by remote learning, teachers still perceived advisory as having a positive effect on SEL outcomes; (c) teachers perceived the PLC as supportive of SEL and advisory and as a personal support during remote learning; (d) teachers identified more need for administrative support over the course of the intervention.

*Remote learning or distancing detriments*, or frustration with conditions related to remote learning, social distancing, or other adjustments made in response to the pandemic, were the most frequent code in the winter interviews and the second most frequent code in the spring interviews. Remote learning challenges were not always cited in the context of the advisor role and were often described by teachers as detrimental to teaching and to positive school climate in general. However, teachers experienced remote learning and videoconferencing as a hindrance to SEL instruction and to the advisory program goals overall.

Every teacher cited frustration with students' reluctance or refusal to turn on their cameras during video conferences. As one teacher explained, "It was a constant battle getting kids on screens and talking to black screens for too much of the day" (T1). Another teacher suspected that students would walk away from their computers or engage in something else while they were off camera, asserting, "I knew half the time [the students] weren't with me" (T5). Most teachers also cited frustration with the lack of spoken or written responses from students during virtual class meetings (T1, T2, T3, T6,

T7, T8). As one teacher declared, "[There were] days when, like, no one [would] turn their camera on and speak. It was very draining or exhausting" (T8). Similarly, teachers cited remote instruction as an obstacle to student engagement in class discussions. One teacher argued, "There's no just sort of organic back and forth [in Zoom]" (T3). Another thought some students may have "wanted to talk [during Zoom meetings] . . . but they just didn't feel comfortable" (T5). Others cited remote teaching as a hindrance to getting to know students (T5, T6, T8). As one teacher worried, "I feel like they're going to go on to ninth grade and I really don't know much about them at all" (T3).

Many teachers cited the challenges of teaching through videoconference, or of hybrid teaching (with some students in person and some remote) as a detriment to the quality of instruction (T1, T2, T3, T4, T5). A teacher observed, "I know a lot of academics just kind of got watered down.... [In my department] we know we didn't cover as much as we would have in the past" (T5). Some also cited the inability to observe students in person as a hindrance to their ability to provide academic support. One teacher noted that it was more difficult to provide ad hoc study support, as an advisor might do when she sees a student in the classroom: "When they're on Zoom, they're studying on flashcards on their computer. I never see that" (T6). Others cited remote instruction as an obstacle to teaching SEL and providing SEL support. For example, a teacher argued, "I think there's power in being in the room together and circling up and talking and interacting" (T3). Another was concerned that when a student is struggling during remote learning, "you can't give them a cup of hot chocolate and say, come in for lunch . . . . You can't just put your hand on their shoulder and say, I got you. Don't worry about it" (T5).

At the same time, some teachers noted helpful innovations related to remote learning, such as the change in the bell schedule to move advisory period to after lunch (T6) or the removal of the distractions of being on campus (T1, T4). A teacher reflected, "I think some kids thrive when... they are seeing the teacher directly and they're not involved in chit chat from their neighbor... So I do think there's a small group that [does] better [in remote learning]" (T4). For one teacher, "the chat function in Zoom was kind of a game changer," because it allowed some students who might be reluctant to speak up in class to contribute to discussions through writing (T8).

Most teachers, however, described advisory as less effective during remote learning, citing detriments to SEL instruction and outcomes (T3, T5, T8), student friendships (T4, T6), relationships between advisors and students (T5, T4, T3, T6, T7), and academic support (T6). Seven teachers in the winter interviews (T1, T2, T3, T4, T5, T6, T7) and four teachers in the spring interviews (T3, T4, T5, T6) cited a sense of *disconnection or lack of relationships* as a challenge during the current school year. In every instance, this sense of disconnection was perceived to be related to remote learning, as opposed to teacher skill or training in SEL.

In the winter interviews, some teachers did not feel that they knew students in their advisory group as well as they would in a typical year (T1, T3, T6). Others reported that it was difficult to get students to share their opinions or feelings, or to talk about personal struggles, even in private student/teacher conversations (T4, T5, T7). Additionally, teachers felt that it was more difficult to provide students with emotional support or encouragement during remote learning (T3), or to nurture community-building and friendship (T4, T6, T8). In the spring interviews, teachers expressed a general perception that being remote was the biggest obstacle to the advisory goal of building relationships (T2, T3, T4). Some teachers felt that they didn't know their students well until they returned to oncampus instruction (T4, T3, T6). For some, returning to on-campus instruction was seen as a "highlight" (T6) and "the most effective" support to SEL instruction and outcomes (T4).

References to disconnection were far fewer in the spring. Of note, some teachers expressed an appreciation at that time for the relationship they and their students had built while remote (T2, T7, T8). As one teacher observed, "Advisory was definitely a place where . . . I was definitely able to maintain some, like, really strong relationships with kids. . . . [The return to campus] was kind of like we were never remote" (T2). Similarly, another teacher asserted, "Some of [the students] got to know each other online on Zoom first," and that the students were "mingling well" upon the start of on-campus instruction (T7). Another teacher stated that, because of the quality of the relationships students built while remote, the transition to on-campus instruction felt "seamless" (T8). The teacher went on to explain, "I felt really good about that because it's really hard to tell when we're all remote, like, how bonded [my students] were" (T8).

A frequently cited affordance of teaching advisory was the development of positive relationships with students. *Relationships and belonging* was the fourth most frequent code, and was identified in each of the eight advisor interviews in winter and spring. While not associated only with teaching SEL, the perceived importance of the relationships teachers built with their students may have been increased by the experience of remote learning. One teacher noted, "I've had a lot of one-on-one conversations with

kids.... I think it's especially valuable in remote learning for kids to kind of be seen on a deeper level, and be like, we have that connection" (T1). Another teacher expressed appreciation for the ability to get to know more about students and develop more personal relationships with them and their families through advisory than through teaching them in an academic class alone (T2). One teacher observed, "We are building a semblance of community [with students]," even though students and teachers were physically distanced for most of the year and logging into classes from their homes (T8).

In some cases, teachers suspected that stronger relationships had been formed with students during remote learning than during a normal year. For example, one teacher described remote learning as "a bonding experience" (T4). This teacher perceived the value students placed on being invited into teachers' homes through video conferences, or learning about a teacher's family obligations, such as when the teacher told students, "My grandson's down there, I've . . . [got to] make sure he's not playing video games." This teacher explained, "[the students] liked that we were real with them," and "they felt cheated, they [said], when [a] teacher just had . . . the virtual screen in the background" (T4). The positive examples of relationship building that teachers cited suggested that some aspects of the advisory program or SEL instructional methods were successful in promoting positive SEL outcomes, even during remote learning.

*Student engagement* was cited by seven teachers in the winter interviews (T1, T2, T3, T4, T5, T6, T8) and by all eight teachers in the spring interviews as an affordance experienced during the PLC intervention. However, in the winter interviews, examples of positive engagement were sometimes cited as exceptions to the rule. Among the examples of engagement provided in the winter interviews were cases of students who

stood out amongst peers for volunteering answers during remote advisory activities (T1, T4). For example, one teacher asserted, "I have, honestly, like two students that I can go to," who could be counted on to provide a response in class discussions (T5). Another reported, "My biggest speakers are [two students], they're the ones who will speak up" (T4).

Other teachers expressed satisfaction with the overall level of student engagement in advisory. One teacher observed, "I think we're still getting pretty decent participation [in advisory]," even though it was being conducted remotely (T6). In other cases, teachers perceived their current advisory groups as being more engaged than groups they taught in the year prior to the intervention (T2, T8). As one teacher noted, "...I happened to have a little bit of a tough group last year that was like ...I would describe them as too cool for school" (T8).

However, there were relatively few references to positive student engagement in advisory, or in school in general, during remote learning. References to engagement were often presented in contrast with much more numerous and detailed examples of *disengagement*, cited by each of the eight teachers in the winter interviews. Like the challenges that advisors experienced in fostering relationships, advisors perceived the challenges to engaging students in SEL curriculum and activities as directly related to remote learning. However, the support provided by the advisory program was unable to alleviate all of these obstacles.

Teachers noted that students were "barely awake" (T2) during morning homeroom. Some students also tended to do the "bare minimum" (T3) in terms of engaging in advisory activities. As one teacher described it, "It feels like there are some kids who really-they know how to jump in when they need to, but they're not actually actively engaged" (T1). Teachers also asserted that it was difficult to get students to participate when the activity wasn't "fun" (T7), and that there was little motivation for students to participate in advisory "because it's not for a grade" (T6). As one teacher stated, "It's easier to manage as a teacher, when you're in person. You can walk over to someone and say, like, hey, are you writing? . . . Whereas now they can kind of slide away without doing as much" (T7).

In the spring interviews, teachers similarly observed that most students were "withdrawn" (T4) or disengaged for most of remote instruction (T3, T5, T6, T7, T8), with one teacher asserting, "It was pulling teeth to get any kind of response from them" (T4). Teachers described lower attendance in advisory or homeroom during remote learning than during in-person instruction (T4, T7). The modification of instructional practices was a strategy used to solicit student engagement, such as by instituting reading checks for an academic class (T5).

After returning to on-campus instruction, teachers described markedly increased enthusiasm from students. They cited positive examples of student engagement, sometimes with surprise: "[the Teach Somebody Challenge] ended up being pretty awesome" (T3); "they had so much fun doing that" (T2); "I could not believe the energy, the positivity" (T4). For most teachers, the improved student engagement and relationships experienced in spring were also associated with satisfaction in the advisor role (T1, T4, T6, T7, T8).

Despite the obstacles presented by remote learning, *supportive conditions for teachers* were cited as an affordance during the intervention. This theme was cited by seven teachers in both the winter (T1, T2, T3, T4, T5, T6, T7) and spring (T1, T2, T3, T4, T5, T6, T8). Participants described the support provided by the PLC as "reassuring" (T8) and "validating" (T7) of the challenges they experienced in teaching during the pandemic. Teachers also cited the benefits of engaging in the PLC in improving both the process and product of advisory curriculum development. In addition, they cited the PLC as important in helping them maintain professional and social connections and in countering the discouragement they experienced during remote instruction.

Among the specific conditions that teachers perceived as supporting the advisory program was the consistency of SEL programming. For example, one teacher contrasted the "momentum" (T1) of the advisory program and its focus on SEL activities during the intervention with the lesser consistency of the program in previous years, when advisory time was perceived as being used more often for activities that were not related to SEL. Teachers also cited the organized curation, distribution, and explanation of advisory lesson plans and materials (T2, T3, T4, T5, T6, T7). As one teacher observed, teachers have "this wealth of activities and people to pull from and resources to pull from" (T5). Another asserted, "Something I've been finding really helpful is just having the general lesson plan documents, and I feel like that's very well organized, and it ensures a chance to ... take notes and revisit next year" (T6). Another teacher expressed a general appreciation for the support provided to advisors, stating, "I feel like things are so well planned out and so well supported that I feel like I have the tools and resources I need" (T7). One teacher expressed appreciation for the provision of school wide professional development for SEL: "The Responsive Classroom [training] was great" (T3). Another

appreciated the creation of assembly programming to foster positive school climate: "The assemblies have been great" (T4).

An important affordance of the PLC intervention was *shared practice*, or the regular conversations teachers engaged in with colleagues about advisory and SEL. Five teachers (T1, T3, T4, T7, and T8) cited shared practice as a benefit of teaching SEL or of engaging in the PLC intervention in the winter interviews, and seven teachers (T1, T2, T3, T4, T6, T7, and T8) cited this in the spring interviews. Shared practice included collaborative lesson planning: "Brainstorming together. . . . has been a lot of fun, just to feel like, you know, we have a lot of say in the programming" (T6). Another important aspect of shared practice was debriefing successful SEL practices. As one teacher observed, "That I can share what's working with them and learning all that, that's very helpful, where [teachers] meet together and come together and talk about our best practices and what we do in advisory" (T4). Teachers also cited problem solving with colleagues as a benefit. As one teacher observed, "I can hear, like, what's working for other people or what's not and brainstorm together" (T8).

The greater frequency of PLC meetings and conversations during the intervention was also cited by some teachers as a benefit in itself, and an advantageous support during remote learning. In the winter interviews, a teacher reported, "I think what we're doing now, where we're regularly meeting and collaborating and coming up with plans, I think it is going well" (T7). Another noted, ". . . Since we're remote and everything's on Zoom, I think it's been really beneficial to have us meet more often and have more input on that" (T8). However, a frequently discussed obstacle to shared practice, to the PLC intervention, or to advisory in general, was *time constraints*. This obstacle was cited by six of the teachers in the winter interviews (T1, T3, T4, T5, T7, T8), and by five teachers in spring (T3, T4, T5, T6, T7). During the first semester, which consisted entirely of remote instruction, the PLC met on average twice per month. Additional communication regarding advisory planning and feedback took place by email and Google Doc. Based on teacher feedback, in the second semester the average PLC meeting frequency was reduced to once per month. Additional advisory planning and PLC communication continued to take place through email and Google Doc.

One teacher cited the time constraints of childcare as a considerable challenge and source of discouragement in the advisor role during remote learning (T3). As this teacher observed, leading advisory, and teaching in general, during remote learning presented greater challenges to teachers who are also parents of young children than to those teachers who are not also caring for children:

There hasn't been a lot of public acknowledgement that there's two different types of teachers right now, that there's teachers that have kids and teachers that don't. And . . . it's just two different worlds . . . because I have no time, none. . . . I'm out here [in the backyard] talking to you. My kids are in the house by themselves. I'm hoping they get on their Zooms okay. You know. And the availability for me, the time to help–like I would love to be able to spend my afternoons helping students, like I know some of my fellow teachers are. I don't have afternoons.

In winter, two advisors cited the time spent in PLC meetings as a cost of participation in advisory (T1, T8). As one teacher confessed, "It feels like a lot of meeting time at this point" (T1), observing that the meeting frequency of the PLC was higher than for most other collaborative faculty teams. The teacher proposed that

collaborative lesson planning could be done more efficiently to reduce the frequency of meetings: "I would say planning more of a bulk strategy.... And I don't know that we need to necessarily debate every single activity" (T1).

In total, four teachers briefly noted a *need for more/better teamwork* in how the PLC functioned in the winter interviews (T1, T2, T3, T7), as did four in the spring (T2, T3, T6, T7). In addition to the idea that lesson planning be distributed amongst PLC members, one teacher felt that "[it] could be helpful to actually do professional development with [the advisor team] as a cohort" (T2). Another teacher proposed "rotating advisories" or "shuffling the entire advisory groups" (T3) to periodically group students with different classmates in advisory or advisors with different students. For the same reason, a teacher recommended that groups "[join] in with another advisory" more often (T7). Another teacher cited a need for more PLC meeting time to be spent discussing students of concern (T6).

In the spring interviews, only one teacher specifically cited the time demands of advisory as greater than necessary (T4). All other references made in the spring interviews to time constraints were either unrelated to advisory or indicated that the time invested in advisory and the PLC was appropriate and valuable. Teachers continued to express the benefit of regular PLC meetings: "So those meetings helped me to figure out, oh, OK, this is what we're doing" (T4); "It's always nicer for us all to be planning [advisory] and talking about it ahead of time . . . rather than me just trying to figure out what I'm supposed to be doing just by reading through [the plans]" (T2). Teachers also specifically expressed approval of the meeting frequency in the second semester (T7, T8),

describing them as "just the right amount" (T4), or stating that "the balance was really nice" (T1).

Most teachers in the winter and spring interviews stated that the shared practice of the PLC supported SEL instruction and advisory. However, one teacher in the winter interviews (T4) and four teachers in the spring interviews (T3, T5, T7, T8) also cited camaraderie, "when you feel that others are in your shoes, to have someone that youthat you can relate to" (T4), as an important personal support. For some, this was perceived as particularly important during remote learning: "Honestly, when I think back on this particular year and all of our [PLC] meetings, it's just good to see people and check in and say hi" (T3); "And everyone's so supportive at [this school], and especially the eighth-grade advisors, that it's just always, [I] come out of those meetings with a good feeling and a positive outlook on what we're doing" (T7); "I thought the payoff was really nice, that we had, like, so much time together as a group ... and just good to see everyone regularly, too" (T8). Teachers also stated that it felt "validating" (T8) to hear that colleagues were experiencing similar challenges during the pandemic and "reassuring" (T7) to know that others were using the same strategies to address them. It was also encouraging to know that a colleague experienced success in meeting those challenges (T4, T5, T8).

*Choice and autonomy* and *collaboration with colleagues* were the least frequently cited strengths or benefits of teaching SEL or the PLC intervention. *Collaboration with colleagues* was specifically defined as collaboratively teaching SEL or leading advisory with another teacher. Such collaboration was cited only by two teachers, who were partnered together in leading a single advisory group for the duration of the PLC

intervention. *Choice and autonomy* was cited by five teachers (T1, T5, T6, T7, T8). As one teacher noted, "the nice thing . . . is that, as advisors, we have a lot of autonomy over how we do the lessons" (T8). For example, a teacher explained that having a "menu" (T1) of activities and resources curated in the PLC was helpful to their practice. Another expressed appreciation for the flexibility of lesson plans, and the freedom to "tailor" (T6) their approach to shared SEL goals in response to student preferences and needs.

Lastly, the need for more *administrative support* was an important theme, cited by five teachers (T1, T4, T5, T6, T7) in the winter interviews and seven teachers (T2, T3, T4, T5, T6, T7, T8) in the spring interviews. In winter, three advisors specifically cited a need for the school administration to consistently require students to be on camera during Zoom meetings (T1, T5, T7), though it was unclear how this would be enforced. One teacher wondered if "the administration or you or someone else could . . . [have] more of a requirement to be on camera and talk more" (T7). Another asserted, "The more we keep encouraging on-camera participation, the easier it is to get kids to assume that as a standard. . . . I think the school has kind of backed away from that a little bit, and that makes it a little harder . . ." (T1).

Two teachers (T6 and T7) proposed that the school do more to solicit feedback from students about remote learning. One asked, "I wonder if we teachers or admin or advisors could offer . . . like drop-in, give us feedback, how are things going-type periods?" (T6). Another teacher suggested that it would be helpful for the school to keep teachers better informed of their students' particular needs, such as learning differences or personal circumstances impacting their ability to engage in school. "Just [to] be reminded of who those kids are would be helpful, too. . . . I don't even know where to find [the list] now, to be honest" (T4).

In spring, teacher feedback included providing more opportunities for dialogue between teachers and administration, "We're thinking of doing this, if you want to add input, please stop by, or send us an email, or something. Just, just like with the kids, we want to be able to have some, some voice. ... (T4). As discussed previously, it was also recommended that the school administration support discussion of topics considered politically sensitive (T3). There were also requests for more clarity and enforcement of school policies and expectations for teachers and students (T5, T7). As one teacher explained, "To have, I think, some type of direction [from the administration] on what is recommended to support the students at home and in person at the same time.... We didn't have enough feedback, really" (T7). One teacher requested that students be assigned to an advisor with whom they are also enrolled in another class so as to improve relationship building: "Last year, I taught every single one of my students [in another class outside of advisory]....I just feel like I'm much more effective ... as an advisor when I know the kids as students" (T6). Other suggestions for how the administration might better support advisory included implementing an incentive for participation in advisory, such as a grade or another form of accountability (T6), as discussed previously, or instituting a peer counseling or mentoring program for students (T4), or emphasizing "more connection between [students] K through 12" (T7). Finally, one teacher recommended more education in SEL for teachers and parents (T8). For this teacher, their "end goal" would be "for this school to support every adult in, like, their own SEL journey and self-awareness process to then better serve the students in it" (T8).

#### CHAPTER 5

## DISCUSSION

The purpose of this exploratory mixed methods action research study was to investigate how a PLC focused on SEL might increase confidence and improve attitudes toward teaching a middle school advisory program, leading to more positive school climate outcomes. Three research questions guide the discussion of the results: 1) How does participation in a professional learning community (PLC) to develop teacher social emotional competence (SEC) and curriculum for an eighth-grade advisory program focused on social emotional learning (SEL) affect teachers' confidence in advisory and SEL? 2) How does participation in the PLC affect teachers' attitude toward advisory and SEL? 3) What affordances and constraints are experienced by teachers participating in the PLC during remote learning? Major findings are discussed as they relate to teacher professionalism and job satisfaction regarding SEL. In addition, how engagement in the PLC supported SEL teaching practices and SEC is considered. These findings are examined in the context of theories of motivation, self-efficacy, and collective efficacy. Implications for the development of positive school climate are considered. The limitations of this study are also evaluated. Recommendations for future practice and research are provided.

The findings suggest three general themes. First, collective learning promotes teacher competence and investment in SEL. Although quantitative results showed no improvement in teachers' confidence toward SEL and advisory at the conclusion of the intervention, interviews suggested increases in professional competence toward SEL over the course of the intervention. Teachers expressed satisfaction in the advisor role throughout the intervention, despite frustration regarding SEL outcomes, especially as related to remote learning. In addition, teachers indicated a desire for continued advisory curriculum development, as well as individual and collective SEL professional development. This suggests an increase in professionalism and commitment toward the advisory program and students' social and emotional growth.

Second, professional development in SEL improves school climate for teachers. Participants cited the PLC as supporting a culture of collective learning and growth, while providing examples of how shared practice among colleagues benefited their own teaching. Shared practice and collective learning were seen as particularly important during remote learning, and unprecedented challenges led some to question their teaching skills. Perhaps even more crucial was teachers' perception that the PLC meetings fostered a sense of belonging and positive relationships with colleagues. Regular meetings with colleagues were perceived as valuable in relation to teachers' own social and emotional wellbeing, offsetting some of the social isolation imposed by the global pandemic.

Third, SEL professionalism fosters critical assessment by teachers of curriculum and institutional support for SEL. Survey data indicated a slight decrease in the perception of school support for advisory and SEL. However, this was countered by interviews indicating that teachers saw the PLC as very supportive of SEL practice. These findings suggest development by teachers of a more complex awareness of the structural factors that could better support positive SEL outcomes. Results also indicate the complexity of measuring teacher confidence toward advisory, given the range of skills comprised under the umbrella term "SEL," as well as the multitude of instructional goals and administrative components that many SEL programs entail (McKown, 2017). Moreover, interpretation of the results is complicated by the unique challenges to teaching and learning that were presented by the COVID-19 pandemic. That said, it can be argued that a core purpose of SEL instruction is to help students develop the skills to respond to life challenges in healthy and productive ways. Students' demonstration of problem solving and coping skills has, in fact, been used to measure the impact of SEL programs (Taylor et al., 2017; Durlak et al., 2011).

# **Interpretation of the Findings**

This study provided evidence that engaging teachers in a PLC focused on SEL can help teachers develop contextually relevant instruction and improve professionalism. Collaboratively selecting and designing advisory curriculum to develop students' SEL skills fosters teacher competence and investment in student learning. Teachers identified benefits of the advisory curriculum during the intervention in promoting positive outcomes. The shared practice and camaraderie experienced by the PLC teachers had a direct impact on their perceptions of school climate, including their sense of community with colleagues, their competence toward SEL, and their satisfaction in the advisor role.

In survey responses, participants indicated improved confidence and more positive attitudes toward some aspects of the advisory program at the conclusion of the intervention, particularly with regard to advisory as a support for students during remote learning. However, they did not indicate increased confidence toward leading advisory, and their assessments of the effectiveness and value of the advisory program were slightly reduced overall. These findings do not detract from the benefit of participation in the PLC. Rather, they suggest that the process of increasing teacher professionalism toward SEL may not result in an immediate increase in confidence toward or a more positive assessment of a school's approach to SEL instruction. Instead, PLC members may exercise more informed and critical assessments of curriculum, instructional methods, and their own skills as a result of professional learning. The stability of participants' assessments of their confidence toward advisory, as well as their slightly more negative assessments of the advisory program, may also reflect response shift bias (Howard & Dailey, 1979; Sprangers & Hoogstraten, 1989). The expansion of teachers' understanding of social and emotional competence as a result of participation in the PLC likely raised their standard for competence toward SEL, which may have resulted in a more critical self-assessment of their own ability following training. This is discussed in the limitations of this study.

### **Collective Learning Promotes Competence and Investment in SEL**

Participants in the PLC indicated appreciation for the way the advisory SEL curriculum was developed. Specifically, teachers placed value on having a voice in the selection and design of lessons and regularly evaluating lessons with colleagues. Rather than simply delivering a prepared SEL program or a set of lessons to students, teachers consulted expert resources and applied their own knowledge and experience to select, adapt, or design activities. Teachers also valued learning from colleagues, who shared successful and unsuccessful experiences during PLC meetings. The variety of skills and ideas teachers shared during meetings enriched the program and strengthened the collaborative approach to planning curriculum. Participants provided numerous examples of individual and collective competence toward SEL, citing the quality of the advisory curriculum, their ability to adapt instruction based on their own students' interests and needs, and their ability to engage with parents.

The findings offer supportive evidence regarding the importance of collectively implementing and designing curriculum as a team. For example, Chong and Kong (2012) examined the impact of collective learning on teachers' self-efficacy. Their study showed that high school teachers who engaged in lesson study with departmental colleagues demonstrated an increase in motivation, commitment, efficacy toward teaching, and ownership of curriculum. Qualitative results from the present study also indicated an increase in efficacy and commitment toward SEL as a result of collective learning and curriculum design. In interviews, teachers expressed their belief that the shared practice fostered by the PLC improved their teaching and the quality of the advisory curriculum, and they indicated a commitment to continued professional learning. They also expressed confidence in the ability of the PLC to collectively develop quality curriculum and address challenges. Similar to Chong and Kong's (2012) findings, both interviews and survey results in this study suggest that when teachers engage in collective learning, their investment in the curriculum and in increasing their own competence increases.

In researching collective efficacy, Goddard et al. (2015) examined the importance of administrators' contributions to collective efficacy. They found that more frequent monitoring and guidance of instruction by principals strongly predicted a higher degree of teacher collaboration. They also found that teacher collaboration through instructional development was associated with greater collective efficacy. Voelkel and Crispeels (2017) found a positive correlation between the degree to which teachers in a California school district perceived their teams to exemplify the defining characteristics of a PLC and teachers' perceived collective efficacy. Results of the current study support these findings by demonstrating that engagement in a PLC resulted in an increased degree of collaboration for instructional improvement and enhanced collective efficacy. In addition, as the action researcher and in my role as Assistant Head of the Middle School, I was directly engaged with teachers in developing the advisory curriculum through the PLC. Teachers indicated in interviews that the involvement of school leadership in the development of the advisory program made them feel valued and heard by the school administration. They also indicated that advisory and SEL should be a priority for the school.

With SEL curriculum quickly becoming a common component of K-12 curriculum, it is imperative that research examines the best way to implement the curriculum. The present study adds to the literature by considering the effects of teacher collective learning specifically to support SEL instruction. This study begins to answer the call of Collie et al. (2015) for more research into teacher development in SEL. Additionally, McKown (2017) highlighted the need for more data on the effects of such professional development on SEL outcomes. Secondary teachers tend to find teaching SEL more challenging than primary teachers (Collie et al., 2015). Collective learning for SEL instruction, including participation in a PLC, may be a useful support for secondary school teachers.

#### **Professional Development in SEL Improves School Climate for Teachers**

Teachers in the present study perceived positive effects of engaging in the PLC on their own experience of school climate, defined as "norms, goals, values, interpersonal relationships, teaching and learning practices, and organizational structures" (National School Climate Center, n.d.). These findings are sustained by research indicating a positive association between professional engagement and perceptions of school climate. In a short-term longitudinal study of almost 600 primary and secondary school teachers in Australia, Granziera and Perera (2019) found a positive correlation between teacher engagement, self-efficacy, and work satisfaction. Similarly, in a survey of over 600 elementary and secondary school teachers in Canada, Collie et al. (2012) found a positive correlation between degree of teacher collaboration and job satisfaction. Although Collie et al. (2012) did not specifically examine the effects of positive relations between teachers on their perceptions of school climate, the authors suggested this as an area for future study. Power and Goodnough (2018) and Deci (2009) highlighted the benefit of collective professional learning in promoting supportive relationships among teachers.

Qualitative results from the current study indicated that teachers felt an improved sense of camaraderie with their colleagues as a result of ongoing, collaborative professional engagement. The camaraderie was perceived by teachers as providing both professional and emotional support throughout the academic year. In interviews, teachers described their engagement in the PLC as an important source of personal connection and community with colleagues, especially during remote learning. Moreover, the PLC provided validation of the challenges they experienced in teaching SEL during the pandemic. This suggests that professional engagement in SEL may also provide teachers with support in responding to personal and professional stressors during times of crisis or change.

The present study provides evidence to support literature suggesting that engaging in professional learning for SEL may help mitigate factors associated with teacher burnout (Jennings & Greenberg, 2009; Collie et al., 2015; Collie, 2017). Although the present study did not directly measure teacher stress, findings indicate a promising approach to increasing teacher comfort in teaching SEL. Survey results showed an increase in PLC members' perception of their ability to adapt and engage students in SEL lessons. Interviews also indicated increased comfort in teaching less familiar curriculum as a result of advance preparation of lessons with the PLC and working with the PLC to solve challenges as they occurred.

# SEL Professionalism Fosters Critical Assessment of Advisory and Supports

Quantitative results from this study indicated that teachers' assessment of the skills students developed through the advisory program improved, and assessments of how well the advisory program supported student engagement and differentiation also slightly improved. In interviews, most teachers indicated that the quality of the advisory curriculum was better compared to previous years. Despite this overall assessment, teachers offered many recommendations for curricular improvement at the conclusion of the intervention. The feedback included not only revisions to curriculum content, but also regarding *how* the curriculum should be developed moving forward. For example, participants suggested that the program goals should be further clarified, and that student input should be solicited when designing the curriculum.

Although teachers offered detailed recommendations in the spring interviews for how to improve the advisory program, the post-test surveys indicated no increase in teachers' overall confidence toward advisory. In addition, there was a slight decline in teachers' assessment of the benefit of leading advisory on their own skills development. On the surface, these findings would seem contradictory. However, these results suggest that teachers developed more professionalism toward SEL. According to Hargreaves and Fullan (2012), professionalism is defined as increased competence, responsibility, and higher standards for instruction. Participants in this study demonstrated an increase in professionalism toward SEL as they became more critical in their evaluations of the advisory program, support for advisory, and their own competence. This finding is sustained by research indicating that a greater level of expertise does not necessarily result in "problem reduction," but instead may be defined by "progressive problem" solving," or the ability to identify and solve problems at greater levels of complexity (Bereiter & Scardamalia, 1993). One of the key goals of collaborative professional learning is continuous improvement (Hiebert & Stigler, 2000; Hord et al., 2008; Vescio et al., 2008). In the current study, results suggested that the intervention did foster progressive problem solving and continuous improvement. Participants in the PLC felt better equipped to provide specific and actionable feedback on the advisory program and the associated curriculum. In addition, the participants seemed to acknowledge the complexity of the relationship between teaching advisory, the development of student and teacher SEC, and school climate. For example, there was a decrease in quantitative measures of school support for advisory. However, this decrease was likely due to the participants' gaining deeper awareness of the breadth of the instructional goals associated with SEL instruction (Howard & Dailey, 1979; Sprangers & Hoogstraten, 1989; Cartwright & Atwood, 2014). Teachers were likely more aware of the continuous improvement and investment of resources needed for successful SEL instruction.

Kennedy et al. (2011) asserted that expertise is not just the accumulation of skill, but also the recognition of areas for continued improvement: "We define expertise as subject knowledge and pedagogical skills, as well as self-knowledge of what one does well and what one needs to learn more about" (p. 21). As Lotan et al. (2019) explained, an effective PLC should "[empower] teachers to lead sustainable professional development and advance instructional capacity" (p. 2). The present study suggests engagement in a PLC promoted a mindset of expertise in participants, as increased competence in SEL did not necessarily result in greater confidence toward the advisory program. Rather, it increased teachers' investment in improving the program and in developing their skills.

In interviews, teachers indicated they perceived substantial support from the PLC, with most teachers feeling more supported in their role as advisors than in previous years. The implementation of the PLC itself and the consistent use of advisory time for SELrelated activities were seen as evidence of greater administrative support for advisory. Conversely, survey results indicated a decrease in teachers' perceptions of overall support for advisors, including perceptions of support for advisors when facing challenging behavioral situations with students. The increase in constructive advisory program criticism may be an indication of confidence that such feedback would be welcomed by school administrators. In this regard, the findings are consistent with literature indicating that a more collaborative school culture can foster trust, and that trust nurtures collaboration (Tschannen-Moran, 2001; Gray & Summers, 2015). The effectiveness of a PLC depends upon material support from school and district administrators (Lotan et al., 2019). The ongoing commitment of time and resources for professional learning is both the result and the catalyst for a trusting relationship between teachers and school leaders (Lotan et al., 2019). Findings from the present study suggest that a PLC can help foster a culture of trust, as teachers were comfortable voicing both negative and positive feedback directly to an administrator. This comfort suggests that participants perceived the school

administration as valuing teachers' capacity for self-assessment and collective learning, as opposed to external control and evaluation.

## **Outcomes Related to Theory and Research**

Social cognitive theory (SCT) and self-efficacy, self-determination theory (SDT), collective efficacy, and professionalism were previously discussed to guide the design of an intervention for professional development. These theories of learning and motivation offer insight regarding the effects of the intervention. In this section, study outcomes related to participants' self-efficacy and collective efficacy are examined with respect to the literature, as are the motivations and benefits for professional development in SEL experienced by participants.

### **Social Cognitive Theory and Self-Efficacy**

Participants demonstrated self-efficacy toward advisory and SEL through their willingness to invest a considerable amount of time and effort by actively participating in the PLC to improve curriculum. In interviews, teachers acknowledged that their engagement in the intervention added to their workload. However, they also indicated that the work was important for improving student learning, as well as contributing personally and professionally to their growth as teachers.

During the PLC intervention, teachers demonstrated progressive problem solving (Bereiter & Scardamalia, 1993) and provided suggestions for continued professional development and curriculum improvement. These deep, consistent interactions as a collective group suggest that participants developed an increased self-efficacy toward advisory. Teachers focused their efforts on engaging students in advisory lessons, supporting students during remote learning, and building productive relationships. Additionally, their efforts improved their confidence in their own ability to increase the effectiveness of advisory lessons. At the conclusion of the intervention, teachers felt that it was easier to engage students in advisory activities and adapt advisory lessons to meet learning goals. Moreover, the increase in self-efficacy toward advisory may have resulted in an increase in their prioritization of SEL professional learning. For example, in post-intervention interviews, teachers expressed a continued commitment toward contributing to the evolution of the advisory program and professional learning.

Though PLCs are proposed to foster supportive relationships among teachers (Hord et al. 2008), there is still a need for more data on the relationship between PLCs and other forms of collective professional learning regarding student and teacher outcomes (McKown, 2017; Collie et al., 2012; Jones, 2013). The findings of the present study are supported by the research on the relationships between collective learning, self-efficacy, and SEL. In a survey of 982 teachers in 31 primary and secondary schools in Shanghai, China, Zhang et al. (2020) found that PLCs characterized by collective inquiry, shared practice, shared responsibility, and supportive leadership fostered teacher self-efficacy and job satisfaction. Collie et al. (2012) found a positive correlation between teacher SEC, efficacy in SEL, job satisfaction, and perceptions of school climate. In addition, Granziera and Perera (2019) found a correlation between self-efficacy and professional engagement. The current study builds on previous studies, offering evidence that professional engagement through a PLC increases teachers' SEC and efficacy, and suggests a positive influence on job satisfaction and perceptions of school climate.

## **Self-Determination Theory**

In her call for education reform, Noble (2019) suggested that PLCs may serve to reduce teacher burnout by fostering a school culture of faculty competence, relatedness, and autonomy. The present study provides evidence to support this assertion. The findings indicate that engagement in a PLC focused on SEL increased teachers' competence, relatedness, and autonomy in their role as advisors regarding SDT. Deci's (2009) study of small learning communities in Israel indicated that this learning model fostered relatedness between students and teachers and promoted autonomy in the teachers who selected the foci for their professional learning. Likewise, Power and Goodnough (2018) demonstrated that participation in an action research professional learning program increased participants' sense of teaching competence, relatedness to fellow participants, and autonomy through self-directed learning. The present study suggests collective learning designed to meet teachers' needs for competence, relatedness, and autonomy increases their skills to teach SEL.

#### **Collective Efficacy and Professionalism**

The results of the present study indicated a relationship between collective efficacy and a professional approach to educational leadership. Teachers in this study were treated as experts capable of seeking information and making informed decisions to produce positive learning outcomes (Darling-Hammond, 2009). The present findings are consistent with research indicating that perceptions of collective efficacy can be fostered by experiencing mastery and success because of group effort (Goddard et al., 2004; Goddard et al., 2015). Supportive and distributed leadership may foster teacher trust and professionalism (Tschannen-Moran, 2009; Darling-Hammond, 2009). Implementing a distributed approach to leadership of the advisory program can foster the collective efficacy of the group toward SEL. When participants select, design, and implement SEL curriculum through collaborative planning, they increase their skills as a result of shared practice and collective learning.

### Limitations

The use of a mixed-method design offers a means of reducing researcher bias in interpreting the effects of a PLC intervention. Although much of the data in this study consisted of participant interview responses, the inclusion of Likert scale surveys allowed a means for participants to provide anonymous feedback and evaluation regarding the intervention. As with all research, there are several limitations to this study, including lack of reliability of the survey constructs and threats to validity arising from historic events and other confounding variables.

The only survey construct that met an acceptable level of internal reliability in both the pre- and post-test surveys was *attitude toward advisory*. The construct of *attitude toward advisory to support remote learning* was only considered reliable in the pre-test survey, not the post-test. The remaining constructs, *confidence toward advisory* and *perceived support toward advisory*, were not reliable in either the pre- or post-test surveys. As Fraenkel and Wallen (2005) observed, "reliability refers to the consistency of the scores obtained—how consistent they are for each individual from one administration of an instrument to another and from one set of items to another" (p. 160). It is possible that, with only three to four items each, the constructs of *confidence toward advisory*, *attitude toward advisory to support remote learning*, and *perceived support for advisory* included too few questions to provide acceptable reliability as constructs. Moreover, even after removing some of the original survey items from the construct of *confidence toward advisory*, the construct may still have measured too many aspects of the advisor role for analysis within a single construct. The small sample of participants may also have been insufficient to provide internal consistency for these constructs. Although these limitations do not invalidate the survey items as measures of teacher confidence and attitudes toward advisory and SEL, the lack of reliability of the constructs limits the utility of the results. As such, analysis primarily consisted of pre- and post-test comparisons of individual survey items. These limitations might be addressed in future iterations of this study by increasing the number of items for each of the constructs tested, and by separating the construct *confidence toward advisory* into several smaller constructs, such as *confidence toward relationships* and *confidence toward engagement*.

In addition, response shift bias may have resulted in a reduction in the apparent effects of the PLC intervention. As participants' understanding of social emotional learning and the needed instructional competencies grew, their self-assessments in this domain, as well as their assessments of the advisory program, may have become more critical. Future studies might attempt to address this limitation by instead conducting a retrospective pre-test, in which participants assess their initial skills and attitudes toward SEL after conclusion of the intervention. Although conducting a retrospective pre-test could result in a more accurate estimate of changes in skill and attitude toward SEL, different types of bias may be introduced in this approach, as participants do not always remember past experiences in the same way as they experienced them in the moment (Taminiau-Bloem et al., 2015). In addition, there is evidence that although teachers' internal standards for assessment of their own skill may change after training, they may not change with regard to constructs such as program effectiveness or importance (Cartwright & Atwood, 2014). For these reasons, it could be useful for future studies to include a both a pre-test and a retrospective pre-test. However, as is the case in this study, qualitative measures will likely be needed to gain a fuller understanding of any changes in participants' skills and attitudes as a result of professional learning.

By and large, action research is not supposed to be generalizable. However, larger sample sizes can commonly support inferences (Gabrenya, 2003). As noted by Riley et. al (2018), a common rule of thumb for the use of inferential statistics is a minimum sample size of 10. In most cases, the authors suggested that the sample size should be even larger. The current study had a sample size of eight, representing all eighth-grade advisory teachers. The limited number of participants did not meet the threshold established by Riley et al. (2018). As such, data analysis was limited to descriptive statistics.

Researcher effects, such as the desire of participants to provide positive assessments of the advisory curriculum and PLC intervention in interviews with the researcher, also pose a potential threat to validity. Although Brinkmann and Kvale (2015) acknowledged that complete objectivity in conducting interviews is impossible, there are techniques that can be used to mitigate the potential bias introduced by a power imbalance or pre-existing relations between the researcher and interview participants. In this study, the interview questions were designed to avoid "leading" participants to respond in a certain way (Brinkmann & Kvale, 2015). As Brinkmann and Kvale (2015) suggested, this study was designed to incorporate researcher reflexivity and to consider the relations between the researcher and the participants. For example, the PLC intervention was intended to promote distributed leadership and a trusting relationship between teachers and the school administration, including the researcher. The intervention was designed to create conditions for participants to provide honest, meaningful, and productive responses throughout data collection. Participant responses included negative and constructive feedback. Over the course of the study, the participants also became more willing to share negative feedback. This indicates success in reducing researcher effects, but it is acknowledged that such effects were unlikely to be eliminated.

In future research studies, this threat to validity might be further reduced by providing a means for participants to provide detailed qualitative feedback anonymously, or to an interviewer other than the researcher. Both of those options, however, introduce new challenges to the research design. For example, there is the possibility that a different interviewer would not ask sufficiently focused questions of participants. Moreover, the degree of teacher engagement in the interview process, as indicated by the length and depth of these interviews, suggested that providing detailed feedback in oneon-one conversations with the researcher was important to the participants. Results suggest that input on the PLC and advisory curriculum should be considered an essential component of the intervention. In addition, participants might be less likely to submit open-ended feedback if asked to do so anonymously. The data obtained from such responses might also be less thorough or less focused on the research questions than data obtained from interviews.

Historic threats are changes to the dependent variable that may be the result of other historic events occurring during the study (Smith & Glass, 1987). Due to the

COVID-19 pandemic, most of the intervention took place during remote learning. Students did not return to on-campus instruction until March 2021. As such, the pandemic presents a potential "super rival" (Yin, 2017, p. 176) to the hypothesis that the PLC is the cause of any changes observed in teacher efficacy toward advisory and SEL. Remote learning imposed a substantial number of conditions and constraints on teaching that would not be present during a typical school year. For example, student instruction was conducted entirely through Zoom video conferences, email communication, and cloud-based tools. These were also the only means for teachers to engage in the PLC intervention. Therefore, it is impossible to assess the effects of the PLC intervention on teacher attitudes and confidence toward advisory and SEL independent of other variables related to the pandemic.

### **Implications for Practice**

Collective learning through a PLC or other means is recommended to increase teacher efficacy toward SEL and to design curriculum that meets both the long-term and immediate needs of students and schools. Collective learning may increase teachers' skills in progressive problem solving (Bereiter & Scardamalia, 1993) to improve school climate. These findings suggest that using a commercially created curriculum can be supportive of teachers if there is an option of collectively and individually adjusting and supplementing the curriculum as needed. Fostering of teacher professionalism may capacitate teachers to use SEL curriculum in a more discriminating manner, selecting and adapting lessons as appropriate for their students or in relation to current events. Teachers may also develop the confidence and ability to design original SEL lessons and methods that leverage the strengths and interests of their school community. During the pandemic, many teachers are expected to apply the fundamentals of SEL instruction to adapt existing practices to a remote learning environment (Harriott & Kamei, 2021). This requires a substantial amount of improvisation on the part of teachers, who may also be facing challenges in teaching SEL (Bendici, 2020). As Harriott and Kamei (2021) observed, teachers are asked to provide social and emotional support to students while dealing with the personal impacts of the pandemic, often with little resources for their own well-being. The findings from the present study suggest that engaging teachers in collective learning for SEL may provide an important source of social connectedness for teachers, who may face a similar sense of social isolation as their students. In addition, the shared practice and collective learning of the PLC may provide immediate and continuous support to teachers as they adapt to an online learning environment. Collective learning should be used to support teachers as they engage in problem solving relating to school climate, curriculum, or technology.

Though teachers benefit from shared practice and collective learning, this must not be outweighed by the burden on teachers' time. It is recommended that PLCs be used to manage workload related to SEL by focusing on activities that are perceived to be most supportive of the development of teacher SEC, such as shared practice and collective learning. Efficient and productive engagement in a PLC could reduce the time teachers otherwise would spend reviewing and preparing for SEL instruction in isolation. Other tasks, such as curation and review of SEL curriculum or methods for future adoption, might be conducted by individual PLC members or teams outside of meetings. In terms of practice, it is recommended that PLC meetings provide meaningful, productive lesson advice to teachers so that they value the time dedicated to the process.

125

Although this may seem like an obvious recommendation, it is critical for the success of any PLC program. In offering "meeting wise" strategies for making collaborative work more productive, Boudett and City (2014) highlighted the fact that quality is more important than quantity. Effective professional learning is sustainable, rather than overloading teachers and wasting resources (Hargreaves & Fink, 2006). If teachers resent the time spent in the PLC preparing SEL, then the program will likely suffer from a lack of teacher support.

There are also recommendations for SEL curriculum development using feedback. Students should be asked to provide opinions regarding potential future curriculum, strengths and weaknesses of lessons, and suggestions for improvement. PLCs should develop a schedule and methodology for soliciting student feedback about their learning (Boudette, City, & Murnane, 2005). Additionally, students' perceptions of school climate should be measured regularly (The Collaborative for Social and Emotional Learning, n.d.; DeArmond, Chu, & Gundapaneni, 2021; National Center on Safe Supportive Learning Environments, n.d.).

Developing well-defined, distinct goals and objectives for SEL is imperative. Participants in this study indicated a desire to set priorities for the advisory curriculum that would guide the development of a sustainable program aligned with school culture and SEL learning goals. To develop a more specific and measurable approach to SEL instruction, schools should focus on establishing clear learning objectives for SEL (Boudette, City, & Murnane, 2005). Input from teacher, student, parent, and administrative stakeholders is a critical component when creating these goals and visions (Davis, 2012). If there are clear goals and objectives for SEL instruction, then measuring whether the goals and objectives are achieved will be streamlined.

These findings offer implications for how schools may respond to the social and emotional challenges arising from impactful societal changes. Mental health experts anticipate many deleterious impacts on students' mental health arising from anxiety, social isolation, parental stress, trauma and loss, fewer opportunities for stress regulation, and the exacerbation of existing mental health conditions or other risk factors (Fegert, Vitiello, Plener, & Clemens, 2020; Imran, Zeshan, & Pervaiz, 2020). To provide more evidence regarding the increase in mental health concerns, adolescent emergency department visits for concerns related to mental health between April and October 2020 rose 24% for children between 5 and 11 years of age, and 31% for children between the ages of 12 and 17, in comparison with 2019 (Leeb et al., 2020). As such, there has been a call among educators and mental health experts for schools to prioritize SEL instruction, including through remote learning, to support student mental health through the pandemic (Bendici, 2020; Prothero, 2020; DeArmond et al., 2021). Schools should put into place SEL curriculum now, not when there is trauma in the school. Establishing a designated time and curriculum for SEL, as well as means for adapting these in response to changing learning conditions and stressors, will provide structure and a safe place for students when challenges occur. School administrators must be proactive, not reactive as they implement SEL.

### **Implications for Research**

Many school administrators affirm plans, including SEL instruction, to address the negative effects of remote learning and other conditions related to the pandemic on student well-being. However, a review of publicly available data from 477 school districts nationwide indicated few districts with plans to collect data related to students' mental health (DeArmond et al., 2021). This void mirrors previous calls by school climate researchers for more data on the effects of SEL interventions on school climate outcomes and in different contexts (McCormick, Cappella, O'Connor, & McClowry, 2015b; McKown, 2017). Future research must focus on assessing how SEL interventions support students' and teachers' socio-emotional development and growth. It is critical to evaluate how SEL interventions impact students so that curriculum challenges can be addressed through revisions and adjustments. This research points to the need for further evaluative studies in relation to how SEL can be beneficial and what features afford SEL growth.

The implementation of a PLC focused on SEL may be an effective means of increasing SEL skills and sense of connection among teachers. Future studies could build upon these findings to assess whether such collective learning for SEL has a positive effect in reducing teacher stress or increasing job satisfaction, given research indicating the inverse relationship of SEC with each of these (Collie et al., 2012; Collie et al., 2015; Collie, 2017; Jennings & Greenberg, 2009). Given the assumed relationship between job satisfaction and teacher retention (Aldridge & Fraser, 2016), a large-scale study might also be conducted to directly compare retention rates between schools that engage faculty in high quality PLCs with those that do not. In addition, future research should include studies to measure the effects of teacher interventions such as collective learning and distributed leadership for SEL on school climate outcomes for students. For example, studies might examine changes in student stress or sense of connectedness as a result of

their teachers engaging in collective learning for SEL. Such research may be facilitated by the use of research-based school climate measurement instruments like Panorama Education's surveys. These surveys include instruments for students to assess their own SEL skills (Panorama Education, n.d.).

In addition, the long-term effects of remote learning and the pandemic on teachers and students with respect to mental health are still unknown. However, there is a body of research on the short- and long-term effects of adverse childhood experiences and trauma on student learning and wellbeing (Bartlett & Sacks, 2019; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration Office of Policy, Planning and Innovation, 2014). It is important to gather data in the months and years ahead to assess impacts on mental health and school climate resulting from the pandemic. Future research should explore the effects of SEL interventions, including trauma-informed teaching practices for in-person and distance learning, on mitigating mental health impacts for teachers and students (National Child Traumatic Stress Network, 2008; Pate, 2020).

# Conclusion

The adoption of state learning standards for SEL in K-12 schools (Common Core State Standards Initiative, 2010) is an important step in acknowledging the importance of these skills (Adams & Khojasteh, 2018; Castillo et al., 2013; Dusenbury et al., 2014; McKown, 2017; Zimmerman, 2002). However, with the adoption of these standards comes the need to develop effective SEL curriculum, as well as to provide professional learning for the teachers charged with providing such instruction. Teachers are required to provide instruction in this domain without sufficient training and without explicit, thorough professional development (Collie et al., 2012; Jones, 2013).

This action research study was designed to respond to this need. Results of this study suggest that (a) collective learning promotes teacher competence and investment in SEL, (b) SEL professionalism fosters critical assessment of related curriculum and institutional support provided for SEL instruction, and (c) professional development in SEL improves school climate for teachers. These findings are important, as lack of efficacy toward SEL, particularly among middle school teachers (Collie et al., 2015), is associated with increased teacher stress and decreased job satisfaction (Collie et al., 2012; Collie et al., 2015; Collie, 2017; Jennings & Greenberg, 2009). Teachers who feel effective and successful in their work are less likely to feel burned out ("Safeguarding Teachers' Mental Health through the Second Wave of COVID-19 and Beyond," 2020). Social connections and work autonomy have been identified as protective factors for teachers during the past year in particular (Kim et al., 2021). A PLC may provide the conditions for teachers to feel effective in their work and connected to their school community, allowing teachers in turn to be more effective in providing those supports for students.

This study was conducted during the COVID-19 pandemic and provides insight into the potential for SEL interventions to foster positive school climate in remote learning environments. A PLC intervention may be a valuable personal and professional support for teachers during remote learning. Specifically, teachers indicated that the PLC improved their sense of competence in SEL, including their ability to deliver instruction in a remote learning environment. A PLC can also foster social connections with colleagues, especially if teachers are physically distanced from one another. In addition, although the conditions of remote learning presented major obstacles, collective learning, shared practice, and collaborative curriculum development were perceived to have a positive effect on teachers' ability to support students during remote learning.

As Darling-Hammond (2009) observed, fostering teacher professionalism enables teachers to make informed and ethical decisions, resulting in more positive outcomes for student learning. Schools are more effective when teachers are trusted and supported to develop internal systems of evaluation and accountability (Fullan et al., 2015; Tschannen-Moran, 2009). Effective teaching requires educators to evaluate, adapt, and develop alternatives to establish teaching practices to meet the needs of their students (Hall & Hord, 2006). The findings from this study suggest that taking a professional approach to SEL may offer benefits that go beyond developing faculty SEC to fostering a more professional school culture and more positive school climate.

### REFERENCES

Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning Act of 2011, H.R.2437, 112th Cong. (2011).

- Adams, C., & Khojasteh, J. (2018). Igniting students' inner determination: The role of a need-supportive climate. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 56(4), 382-397. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JEA-04-2017-0036</u>
- Aldridge, J. M., & Fraser, B. J. (2016). Teachers' views of their school climate and its relationship with teacher self-efficacy and job satisfaction. *Learning Environments Research*, 19(2), 291–307. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10984-015-9198-x</u>
- Anyon, Y., Bender, K., Kennedy, H., & Dechants, J. (2018). A systematic review of youth participatory action research (YPAR) in the United States: Methodologies, youth outcomes, and future directions. *Health Education & Behavior*, 45(6), 865-878. https://doi-org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1177/1090198118769357
- Association of American Colleges & Universities. Civic engagement VALUE rubric. Retrieved Oct. 13, 2019, from <u>https://www.aacu.org/civic-engagement-value-rubric</u>.
- Bailey, J., & Schurz, J. (2020). COVID-19 is creating a school personnel crisis. Distributed by ERIC Clearinghouse.
- Bandura, A. (2005). The evolution of social theory. In K. G. Smith & M. A. Hitt (Eds.), Great minds in management (pp. 9-35). Oxford, England; Oxford University Press.
- Bandura, A. (2000). Exercise of human agency through collective efficacy. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 9(3), 75–78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8721.00064</u>
- Bandura, A. (1986). Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory (Prentice-Hall series in social learning theory). Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall.
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological Review*, *84*, 191-215.
- Barry, C., Sidoti, C., Briggs, S., Reiter, S., & Lindsey, R. (2017). Adolescent social media use and mental health from adolescent and parent perspectives. *Journal of Adolescence (London, England.)*, 61, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2017.08.005

- Bartlett, J., & Sacks, V. (2019). Adverse childhood experiences are different than child trauma, and it's critical to understand why. *Child Trends*. <u>https://www.childtrends.org/adverse-childhood-experiences-different-than-child-trauma-critical-to-understand-why</u>
- Battistoni, R. (2013). Civic learning through service learning: Conceptual frameworks and research. In Clayton, P., Bringle, R., and Hatcher, J. (Eds.). *Research on Service Learning: Conceptual Frameworks and Assessments*. Retrieved from <u>http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/asulib-ebooks/detail.action?docID=4438560</u>.
- Belgrave, L. Grounded Theory. In Coghlan, D., & Brydon-Miller, M. (2014). *The SAGE Encyclopedia of Action Research* (Vols. 1-2). London: SAGE Publications Ltd. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781446294406</u>
- Bendici, R. (2020). How to remotely support social-emotional learning: Social-emotional learning during remote learning will be a challenge for school districts. *Technology & Learning*, 20–.
- Benson, P. (2007). Developmental assets: An overview of theory, research, and practice. In Silbereisen, R. K., & Lerner, R. M. (Eds.). *Approaches to positive youth development*. <u>https://ebookcentral-proquest-com.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/lib/asulibebooks/reader.action?docID=370492</u>
- Bereiter, C., & Scardamalia, M. (1993). Expertise as process. In Bereiter, C., & Scardamalia, M. Surpassing ourselves: An inquiry into the nature and implications of expertise (pp. 77-120). Chicago: Open Court.
- Bertrand, Melanie, & Ford, Arlene J. (2015). Planting the seeds: The influence of the Council on education policy and practice. *Teachers College Record*, 117(13), 189-202. <u>http://www.tcrecord.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/library</u>
- Blad, E. (2016). Social-emotional learning: States collaborate to craft standards, policies. *Education Week*. Retrieved February 9, 2019, from <u>http://blogs.edweek.org/edweek/rulesforengagement/2016/08/social-</u> emotional\_learning\_states\_collaborate\_to\_craft\_standards\_policies.html
- Blankenship, S., & Ruona, W. (2007, March). Professional learning communities and communities of practice: A comparison of models, literature review. Paper presented at the Academy of Human Resource Development International Research Conference in The Americas, Indianapolis, IN. Retrieved from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED504776.pdf
- Boudett, K. P., City, E. A., & Murnane, R. J. (2005). *Data wise: a step-by-step guide to using assessment results to improve teaching and learning*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Education Press.

- Boudett, K. P., & City, E. A. (2014). *Meeting wise: Making the most of collaborative time for educators*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Education Press.
- Boulden, W. (2010). The Behavior Intervention Support Team (BIST) Program: Underlying theories. *Reclaiming Children and Youth*, 19(1), 17–21. http://search.proquest.com/docview/852771542/
- Brackett, M., Reyes, M., Rivers, S., Elbertson, N., & Salovey, P. (2012). Assessing teachers' beliefs about social and emotional learning. *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment*, 30(3), 219–236. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0734282911424879</u>
- Brake, A., & Kelly, M. S. (2019). Camaraderie, collaboration, and capacity building: A qualitative examination of school social workers in a year long professional learning community. *Qualitative Report*, 24(4), 667–692.
- Brinkmann, S., & Kvale, S. (2015). *InterViews: Learning the craft of qualitative research interviewing* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Browning, A., & Romer, N. (2020). To create safe and healthy schools during a pandemic, prioritize educator wellbeing. Distributed by ERIC Clearinghouse.
- Buss, R., & Zambo, D. (2014). A practical guide for students and faculty in CPEDinfluenced programs working on an action research dissertation in practice. Carnegie Project on the Education Doctorate.
- Butz, A., & Usher, E. (2015). Salient sources of early adolescents' self-efficacy in two domains. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *42*, 49–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2015.04.001</u>
- California Department of Education (2018). Social and emotional learning. Retrieved February 9, 2019, from https://www.cde.ca.gov/eo/in/socialemotionallearning.asp.
- Cammarota, Julio. (2017). Youth participatory action research: A pedagogy of transformational resistance for critical youth studies. *Journal for Critical Education Policy Studies, 15*(2), 188-213. <u>http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eft</u> <u>&AN=12693426&site=ehost-live</u>

- Caprara, G., Vecchione, M., Alessandri, G., Gerbino, M., & Barbaranelli, C. (2011). The contribution of personality traits and self-efficacy beliefs to academic achievement: A longitudinal study. *The British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 81(1), 78-96. <u>https://doi-org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1348/2044-8279.002004</u>
- Cartwright, T., & Atwood, J. (2014) Elementary pre-service teachers' response-shift bias: Self-efficacy and attitudes toward science. *International Journal of Science Education, 36*(14), 2421-2437, DOI: <u>10.1080/09500693.2014.925152</u>
- Castillo, Salguero, Fernández-Berrocal, & Balluerka. (2013). Effects of an emotional intelligence intervention on aggression and empathy among adolescents. *Journal* of Adolescence, 36(5), 883-892. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2013.07.001</u>
- Center for Responsive Schools (n.d.). Principles & practices. Retrieved February 9, 2019, from <u>https://www.responsiveclassroom.org/about/principles-practices/</u>.
- Channing Bete Company, Inc. (n.d.) The PATHS curriculum. Retrieved February 10, 2019, from <u>http://www.pathstraining.com/main/curriculum/</u>.
- Charmaz, K. & Bryant, A. (2008). Grounded theory. In Given, L. *The Sage encyclopedia* of qualitative research methods. Sage Publications.
- Chen, J., & Pajares, F. (2010). Implicit theories of ability of grade 6 science students: Relation to epistemological beliefs and academic motivation and achievement in science. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 35(1), 75-87. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2009.10.003</u>
- Cheon, S., Reeve, J., & Moon, I. (2012). Experimentally based, longitudinally designed, teacher-focused intervention to help physical education teachers be more autonomy supportive toward their students. *Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology*, *34*(3), 365-396. Retrieved from <u>http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db</u>=s3h&AN=83403227&site=ehost-live
- Chong, W., & Kong, C. (2012). Teacher collaborative learning and teacher self-efficacy: The case of lesson study. *The Journal of Experimental Education*, 80(3), 263–283. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00220973.2011.596854</u>
- Chung, S. & Mcbride, A. (2015). Social and emotional learning in middle school curricula: A service learning model based on positive youth development. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 53(C), 192-200. <u>https://www-sciencedirectcom.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/science/article/pii/S0190740915001346</u>

- Clark, K. R. (2018). Learning Theories: Behaviorism. *Radiologic Technology*, 90(2), 172–175. Retrieved from <u>http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=rzh</u> <u>&AN=132750220&site=ehost-live</u>
- The Collaborative for Social and Emotional Learning (n.d.). What is SEL? Retrieved February 9, 2019, from <u>https://casel.org/what-is-sel/</u>.
- The Collaborative for Social and Emotional Learning (n.d.). Foster a supportive school climate. Retrieved September 15, 2021, from <u>https://schoolguide.casel.org/focus-area-3/school/establish-schoolwide-norms/</u>
- Collie, R. J., Shapka, J. D., & Perry, N. E. (2012). School climate and social-emotional learning: Predicting teacher stress, job satisfaction, and teaching efficacy. *Journal* of Educational Psychology, 104(4), 1189-1204. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1037/a0029356</u>
- Collie, R., Shapka, J., Perry, N. & Martin., A. (2015). Teachers' beliefs about socialemotional learning: Identifying teacher profiles and their relations with job stress and satisfaction. *Learning and Instruction*, *39*, 148-157.
- Collie, R. (2017). Teachers' social and emotional competence: Links with social and emotional learning and positive workplace outcomes. In Frydenberg, E., Martin, A. J., & Collie, R. J. (Eds.). Social and emotional learning in Australia and the Asia-Pacific: Perspectives, programs and approaches.
- Collie, R. J., & Martin, A. J. (2017). Teachers' sense of adaptability: Examining links with perceived autonomy support, teachers' psychological functioning, and students' numeracy achievement. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 55, 29– 39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2017.03.003</u>
- Collie, R. J., Perry, N. E., & Martin, A. J. (2017). School context and educational system factors impacting educator stress. In T. M. McIntyre, S. E. McIntyre, & D. J. Francis (Eds.), Aligning perspectives on health, safety and well-being. Educator stress: An occupational health perspective (p. 3–22). Springer International Publishing AG. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-53053-6 1
- Committee for Children (n.d.). Second Step. Retrieved February 9, 2019, from <u>https://www.secondstep.org/</u>.
- Common Core State Standards (2010). Washington, D.C.: National Governors Association Center for Best Practices, Council of Chief State School Officers. Retrieved August 13, 2020, from <u>http://www.corestandards.org/</u>.

- Cornell, D., Shukla, K., & Konold, T. (2016). Authoritative school climate and student academic engagement, grades, and aspirations in middle and high schools. AERA Open. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858416633184</u>
- Cortina, J. (1993). What is coefficient alpha? An examination of theory and applications. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 78(1), 98-104.
- Cousin, G. (2005). Case study research. *Journal of Geography in Higher Education*, 29(3), 421–427. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03098260500290967</u>
- Crawford, L. (2012). *The advisory book: Building a community of learners grades 5-9*. The Origins Program: Minneapolis, MN.
- Darling-Hammond, L. (2009). Teaching and the change wars: The professionalism hypothesis. In A. Hargreaves & M. Fullan (Eds.). *Change wars* (pp. 45-70). Bloomington, IN: Solution Tree.
- Darling-Hammond, L., & Richardson, N. (2009). Research review/teacher learning: What matters. *Educational Leadership*, 66(5), 46–53. Retrieved from <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/228625772\_Research\_ReviewTeacher\_Learning\_What\_Matters</u>
- Davis, C. (2012). Critical action research. In Given, L. (Ed.) The SAGE Encyclopedia of Qualitative Research Methods. Sage Publications, Inc. https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781412963909
- DeArmond, M., Chu, L., & Gundapaneni, P. (2021). How are school districts addressing student social-emotional needs during the pandemic? Distributed by ERIC Clearinghouse.
- Deci, E., & Ryan, R. (2000). The "what" and "why" of goal pursuits: Human needs and the self-determination of behavior. *Psychological Inquiry*, 11(4), 227–268. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327965PLI1104\_01
- Deci, E. L. (2009). Large-scale school reform as viewed from the self-determination theory perspective. Theory and Research in Education, 7(2), 244–252. https://doi.org/10.1177/1477878509104329
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (2012). Motivation, personality, and development within embedded social contexts: An overview of self-determination theory. In R. M. Ryan (Ed.), The Oxford handbook of human motivation (pp. 85–110). New York: Oxford University Press. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780195399820.013.0006</u>.

- Denzin, N., & Lincoln, Y. (2018). Introduction: The discipline and practice of qualitative research. In Denzin, N. & Lincoln, Y. (Eds.) *The Sage handbook of qualitative research* (Fifth ed.). <u>The Sage handbook of qualitative research</u> (Fifth ed.).
- Dick, B. (2014). Action research. In Mills, J., & Birks, M. *Qualitative methodology* (pp. 50-66). 55 City Road, London: SAGE Publications, Inc. doi: 10.4135/9781473920163 <u>https://methods-sagepub-com.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/book/qualitative-methodology-a-practical-guide/i332.xml</u>
- Domitrovich, C., Durlak, J., Staley, K., & Weissberg, R. (2017). Social-emotional competence: An essential factor for promoting positive adjustment and reducing risk in school children. *Child Development*, 88(2), 408-416. <u>https://doiorg.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1111/cdev.12739</u>
- Dudley, P., Xu, H., Vermunt, J., & Lang, J. (2019). Empirical evidence of the impact of lesson study on students' achievement, teachers' professional learning and on institutional and system evolution. *European Journal of Education*, 54(2), 202– 217. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ejed.12337</u>
- Dufour, R. & Eaker, R. (1998). *Professional learning communities at work: Best practices for enhancing student achievement*. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- DuFour, R., & DuFour, R. (2012). School leader's guide to professional learning communities at work. Retrieved from <u>https://ebookcentral-proquest-</u> <u>com.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu</u>
- Durlak, J., Domitrovich, C., Weissberg, R., & Gullotta, T. (Eds.). (2015). Handbook of social and emotional learning: Research and practice. The Guilford Press.
- Durlak, J., Weissberg, R., Dymnicki, A., Taylor, R., & Schellinger, K. (2011). The impact of enhancing students' social and emotional learning: A meta-analysis of school-based universal interventions. *Child Development*, 82(1), 405-432.
- Dusenbury, L., Weissberg, R., Goren, P., Domitrovich, C., & Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning (CASEL) (2014). State standards to advance social and emotional learning: Findings from CASEL's State Scan of Social and Emotional Learning Standards, Preschool through High School, 2014. Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning.
- Dweck, C. (2006). *Mindset: The new psychology of success* (1st ed.). New York: Random House.

- ED School Climate Surveys (n.d.). Retrieved February 9, 2019, from <u>https://safesupportivelearning.ed.gov/edscls/measures</u>.
- Eisenberg, N., Morris, A., McDaniel, B., & Spinrad, T. (2013). Moral cognitions and prosocial responding in adolescence. In *Handbook of Adolescent Psychology: Second Edition* (pp. 155–188). John Wiley & Sons, Inc. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9780471726746.ch6</u>.
- Elias, M., Zins, J., Weissberg, R., Frey, K., Greenberg, M., Haynes, N., Kessler, R., Schwab - Stone, M., Shriver, T. (1997). *Promoting social and emotional learning : guidelines for educators*. Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development: Alexandria, VA. Retrieved from <u>https://ebookcentral-proquestcom.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu</u>.
- Ellerbrock, C., & Kiefer, S. (2013). The interplay between adolescent needs and secondary school structures: Fostering developmentally responsive middle and high school environments across the transition. *The High School Journal*, *96*(3), 170-194.
- Fagell, P. (2019). *Middle school matters: The 10 key skills kids need to thrive in middle school and beyond—and how parents can help.* Da Capo Press, Hachette Book Group: New York, NY.
- Fegert, J., Vitiello, B., Plener, P., & Clemens, V. (2020). Challenges and burden of the Coronavirus 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic for child and adolescent mental health: A narrative review to highlight clinical and research needs in the acute phase and the long return to normality. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health*, 14(1), 20–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13034-020-00329-3</u>
- Ferguson, C., Muñoz, M., Garza, A., & Galindo, M. (2013). Concurrent and prospective analyses of peer, television and social media influences on body dissatisfaction, eating disorder symptoms and life satisfaction in adolescent girls. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 43(1), 1–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-012-9898-9</u>
- Field, A. (2013). *Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS Statistics (5th ed.)*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Fraenkel, J. R. & Wallen, N. E. (2005). Validity and reliability. In Fraenkel, J., and Wallen, N. How to design and evaluate research in education with PowerWeb, p. 152-171, Hightstown, NJ: McGraw Hill Publishing Co.
- Freire, P. (2000). *Pedagogy of the oppressed* (30th anniversary ed.). New York: Continuum.

- Fullan, M. (2009). Have theory, will travel: A theory of action for system change. In A. Hargreaves & M. Fullan (Eds.). *Change wars* (pp. 275-293). Bloomington, IN: Solution Tree.
- Fullan, M. (2015). *The new meaning of educational change, fifth edition*. Retrieved from <u>https://ebookcentral-proquest-com.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/lib/asulib-</u>ebooks/detail.action?docID=4513498.
- Fullan, M., Rincón-Gallardo, S., & Hargreaves, A. (2015, 02). Professional capital as accountability. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*. doi:10.14507/epaa.v23.1998
- Gagne, M., & Deci, E. (2014). The history of self-determination theory in psychology and management. In Gagné, M. (Ed.). *The Oxford handbook of work engagement, motivation, and self-determination theory*. Retrieved from <u>https://ebookcentralproquest-com.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu</u>.
- George, D., & Mallery, P. (2003). SPSS for Windows step by step: A simple guide and reference 11.0 update (4th ed.). Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Ginwright, S., & Cammarota, J. (2002). New terrain in youth development: The promise of a social justice approach. *Social Justice*, 29(4), 82-95. Retrieved from <u>http://login.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/login?url=https://search-proquest-</u> <u>com.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/docview/231925788?accountid=4485</u>
- Goddard, R. (2001). Collective efficacy: A neglected construct in the study of schools and student achievement. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 93(3), 467–476. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.93.3.467</u>
- Goddard, R. D., Hoy, W. K., & Woolfolk Hoy, A. (2004). Collective efficacy beliefs: Theoretical developments, empirical evidence, and future directions. *Educational Researcher*, 33(3), 3–13.
- Goddard, R., Goddard, Y., Sook Kim, E., & Miller, R. (2015). A theoretical and empirical analysis of the roles of instructional leadership, teacher collaboration, and collective efficacy beliefs in support of student learning. *American Journal of Education*, 121(4), 501–530. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/681925</u>
- Granziera, H., & Perera, H.N. (2019). Relations among teachers' self-efficacy beliefs, engagement, and work satisfaction: A social cognitive view. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 58, 75-84. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2019.02.003</u>
- Greene, J. (2007). *Mixed methods in social inquiry* (1st ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

- Guskey, T. (1985). Staff development and teacher change. *Educational Leadership*, 57-60.
- Guskey, T. (1988). Teacher efficacy, self-concept, and attitudes toward the implementation of instructional innovation. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 4(1), 63-69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0742-051X(88)90025-X</u>
- Guskey, T. (2009). Closing the knowledge gap on effective professional development. *Educational Horizons*, 87(4), 224–233.
- Hadwin, A., & Oshige, M. (2011). Self-regulation, coregulation, and socially shared regulation: Exploring perspectives of social in self-regulated learning theory. *Teachers College Record*, 113(2), 240–264. <u>http://search.proquest.com/docview/881469161/</u>
- Hall, G. E., & Hord, S. M. (2006). Implementing change: Patterns, principles, and potholes (2nd ed., pp. 110-132). Boston, MA: Pearson.
- Harriott, W., & Kamei, A. (2021). Social emotional learning in virtual settings: Intervention strategies. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, 13(3), 365–371. <u>https://doi.org/10.26822/iejee.2021.196</u>
- Hargreaves, A. & Fink, D. (2006). Taking sustainability from theory to practice. Schweizerische Zeitschrift für Bildungswissenschaften, 28(S). https://doi.org/10.24452/sjer.28.S.4755
- Hargreaves, A., & Fullan, M. (2012). Professional capital: Transforming teaching in every school. Teachers College Press.

Hargreaves, A. (2016). Blooming teachers. RSA Journal, (1), 34-39.

- Hargreaves, A., & Fullan, M. (Eds.). (2009). *Change wars*. Bloomington, IN: Solution Tree.
- Hargreaves, A., Lieberman, A., Fullan, M., & Hopkins, D. (2010). Second international handbook of educational change. Springer Science Business Media.
- Hase, S. (2014). Reflective practice. In Coghlan, D., & Brydon-Miller, M. *The SAGE Encyclopedia of Action Research* (Vols. 1-2). London: SAGE Publications Ltd. <u>https://dx-doi-org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.4135/9781446294406.n299</u>
- Herrman, J., & Nieginski, E. (2014). Fast facts on adolescent health for nursing and health professionals: A care guide in a nutshell. Springer Publishing Company.

- Herr, K., & Anderson, G. L. (2005). The action research dissertation: A guide for students and faculty. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc. doi: 10.4135/9781452226644 <u>https://methods-sagepub-</u> com.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/book/the-action-research-dissertation/n2.xml
- Hesse-Biber, S. (2010). Qualitative approaches to mixed methods practice. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *16*(6), 455–468. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800410364611</u>
- Hiebert, J., & Stigler, J. (2000). A proposal for improving classroom teaching: Lessons from the TIMSS Video Study. *The Elementary School Journal*, 101(1), 3–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/499656</u>
- Hord, S., Sommers, W., & Hargreaves, A. (2008). Leading professional learning communities: voices from research and practice. Corwin Press, a SAGE Company.
- Howard, G. S., & Dailey, P. R. (1979). Response-shift bias: A source of contamination of self report measures. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 64(2), 144–150. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.64.2.144
- Hoy, W., Sweetland, S., & Smith, P. (2002). Toward an organizational model of achievement in high schools: The significance of collective efficacy. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 38(1), 77–93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161X02381004</u>
- Hoy, W., & Miskel, G. (2012). *Educational administration: Theory, research and practice* (9th ed.). McGraw-Hill Education.
- Huberman, A., Crandall, D., & Network of Innovative Schools, Inc., Andover, MA. (1982). People, policies, and practices: Examining the chain of school improvement. Vol. 9. Implications for action: A study of dissemination efforts supporting school improvement. Distributed by ERIC Clearinghouse.
- Imran, N., Zeshan, M., & Pervaiz, Z. (2020). Mental health considerations for children & adolescents in COVID-19 pandemic. *Pakistan Journal of Medical Sciences*, 36(4), S67–S72. https://doi.org/10.12669/pjms.36.COVID19-S4.2759
- Ivankova, N.V. (2015). Mixed methods applications in action research: From methods to community action. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage. ISBN: 9781452220031
- Jamil, M. F., & Hamzah, M. I. M. (2019). The effects of distributed leadership on teachers' collective efficacy and professional learning community. *IJEBP* (International Journal of Educational Best Practices) (Online), 3(2), 10–27.

- Jennings, P.A., Greenberg, M.T. (2009). The prosocial classroom: Teacher social and emotional competence in relation to student and classroom outcomes. *Review of Educational Research*, 79(1), 491 – 525.
- Jennings, P., Brown, J., Frank, J., Doyle, S., Oh, Y., Davis, R., Rasheed, D., Deweese, A., Demauro, A., Cham, H., & Greenberg, M. (2017). Impacts of the CARE for Teachers Program on Teachers' Social and Emotional Competence and Classroom Interactions. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 109(7), 1010–1028. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000187
- Jones, S. M., Bouffard, S. M., & Weissbourd, R. (2013). Educators' social and emotional skills vital to learning. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 94(8), 62–65. <u>https://doiorg.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1177/003172171309400815</u>
- Jordan, S. (2012). Participatory action research (PAR). In Given, L. (Ed.) The SAGE Encyclopedia of Qualitative Research Methods. Sage Publications, Inc. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781412963909</u>
- Kennedy, H. (2018). How adults change from facilitating youth participatory action research: Process and outcomes. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 94, 298-305. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2018.10.010</u>
- Kennedy, A., Deuel, A., Nelson, T. H., & Slavit, D. (2011). Requiring collaboration or distributing leadership? *Phi Delta Kappan*, 92(8), 20–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/003172171109200805</u>
- Kim, L., Oxley, L., & Asbury, K. (2021). "My brain feels like a browser with 100 tabs open": A longitudinal study of teachers' mental health and well-being during the COVID-19 pandemic. *British Journal of Educational Psychology, e12450– e12450.* <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12450</u>
- Konold, T., Cornell, D., Shukla, K., & Huang, F. (2017). Racial/ethnic differences in perceptions of school climate and its association with student engagement and peer aggression. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 46(6), 1289–1303. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-016-0576-1</u>
- Kornbluh, M., Ozer, E., Allen, C., & Kirshner, B. (2015). Youth participatory action research as an approach to sociopolitical development and the new academic standards: Considerations for educators. Urban Review: Issues and Ideas in Public Education, 47(5), 868-892. <u>https://doiorg.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1007/s11256-015-0337-6</u>
- Labaree, D. F. (2011). Consuming the public school. *Educational Theory*, *61*(4), 381-394.

- Lachlan, L., Kimmel, L., Mizrav, E., & Holdheide, L. (2020). Advancing quality teaching for all schools: Examining the impact of COVID-19 on the teaching workforce. Distributed by ERIC Clearinghouse.
- Ladson-Billings, G. (2014). Culturally relevant pedagogy 2.0: a.k.a. the remix. *Harvard Educational Review*, 84(1), 74.
- Langhout, R., & Thomas, E. (2010). Imagining participatory action research in collaboration with children: An introduction. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 46(1-2), 60-66. <u>https://doi-org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1007/s10464-010-9321-1</u>
- Lee, C. (2010). Soaring above the clouds, delving the ocean's depths: Understanding the ecologies of human learning and the challenge for education science. *Educational Researcher, 39*, 743-755.
- Lee, J., Zhang, Z., & Yin, H. (2011). A multilevel analysis of the impact of a professional learning community, faculty trust in colleagues and collective efficacy on teacher commitment to students. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 27(5), 820–830. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2011.01.006</u>
- Leeb, R., Bitsko, R., Radhakrishnan, L., Martinez, P., Njai, R., Holland, K. (2020). Mental health–related emergency department visits among children aged <18 years during the COVID-19 pandemic — United States, January 1–October 17, 2020. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 69, 1675–1680. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6945a3
- Lent, R., Brown, S., & Hackett, G. (1994). Toward a unifying social cognitive theory of career and academic interest, choice, and performance. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 45(1), 79-122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/jvbe.1994.1027</u>
- Lent, R. (2013). Social cognitive career theory. In *Career development and counseling*. *Putting theory and research to work*. (Vol. 115-146, pp. 115-146). <u>https://ebookcentral-proquest-com.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/lib/asulibebooks/reader.action?docID=1104490&ppg=135</u>
- Leonardo, Z. (2004). Critical social theory and transformative knowledge: The functions of criticism in quality education. *Educational Researcher*, 33(6), 11-18.
- Lewin, K. (1946). Action research and minority problems. *Journal of Social Issues*, 2(4), 34–46. <u>https://doi-org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1111/j.1540-4560.1946.tb02295.x</u>
- Los Angeles Unified School District (n.d.). Social emotional learning. Retrieved February 9, 2019, from <u>https://achieve.lausd.net/socialemotionallearning</u>.

- Maddux, J. (1995). Self-efficacy, adaptation, and adjustment: Theory, research, and application (Plenum series in social/clinical psychology). New York: Plenum Press.
- Marsh, D., Schroeder, D., Dearden, K., Sternin, J., & Sternin, M. (2004). The power of positive deviance. *BMJ*, 329(7475), 1177-119. http://europepmc.org/articles/PMC527707?pdf=render
- McCormick, M., Cappella, E., O'Connor, E., & McClowry, S. (2015a). Context matters for social-emotional learning: Examining variation in program impact by dimensions of school climate. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 56(1-2), 101-119. <u>https://doi-org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1007/s10464-015-9733-z</u>
- McCormick, M., Cappella, E., O'Connor, E., & McClowry, S. (2015b). Social-emotional learning and academic achievement. AERA Open, 1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858415603959</u>
- McKown, C. (2017). Social-emotional assessment, performance, and standards. *The Future of Children, 27*(1), 157-178. Retrieved from <u>http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/stable/44219026</u>
- Mears, D. (2012). Adolescent brain development and implications for classroom management. *Strategies (Reston, Va.), 25*(6), 32–34.
- Mertler, C.A. (2016). Leading and facilitating educational change through action research learning communities. *Journal of Ethical Educational Leadership*, 3(3), 1-11.
- Mertler, C. A. (2017). *Action research: Improving schools and empowering educators*. SAGE Publications.
- Milevsky, A. (2015). Understanding adolescents for helping professionals. Springer Publishing Company.
- National Association of Independent Schools (n.d.). Principles of good practice—Middle school educators. Retrieved February 9, 2019, from <u>https://www.nais.org/learn/principles-of-good-practice/middle-school-</u> educators/
- National Center on Safe Supportive Learning Environments (n.d.). ED School Climate Surveys. Retrieved September 15, 2021, from https://safesupportivelearning.ed.gov/edscls.
- National Child Traumatic Stress Network. (2008). Child trauma toolkit for educators. <u>https://www.nctsn.org/sites/default/files/resources//child\_trauma\_toolkit\_educator</u> <u>s.pdf</u>

- National School Climate Center (n.d.). What is school climate and why is it important? Retrieved March 16, 2020, from <u>https://www.schoolclimate.org/school-climate</u>.
- Noble, R. (2019). Finding fulfillment: A path to reclaiming hope and empowerment for educators (apply self-determination theory for empowerment in education). ProQuest Ebook Central <u>https://ebookcentral-proquest-com.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu</u>
- Noffke, S. (2009). Revisiting the professional, personal, and political dimensions of action research. In Noffke, S., & Somekh, B. *The SAGE handbook of educational action research* (pp. 6-24). London: SAGE Publications Ltd doi: 10.4135/9780857021021 <u>https://methods-sagepub-com.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/book/sage-hdbk-educational-action-research/n2.xml</u>
- Oakes, J., Quartz, K., Ryan, S., & Lipton, M. (2000). *Becoming good American schools: The struggle for civic virtue in education reform* (1st ed.). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Omoto, A. M., & Snyder, M. (2009). Influences of psychological sense of community on voluntary helping and prosocial action. In Sturmer, S. *The psychology* of prosocial behavior: Group processes, intergroup relations, and helping, 223-243. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell.
- The Ophelia Project (n.d.). Retrieved on February 9, 2019, from <u>http://www.opheliaproject.org/</u>.
- The Origins Program (n.d.). The Origins Program: Education for equity. Retrieved February 9, 2019, from <u>https://www.originsonline.org/</u>.
- Osher, D., Kidron, Y., Brackett, M., Dymnicki, A., Jones, S., & Weissberg, R. (2016). Advancing the science and practice of social and emotional learning: Looking back and moving forward. *Review of Research in Education*, 40(1), 644-681. <u>https://doi-org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.3102/0091732X16673595</u>
- Ozer, E., Ritterman, J., & Wanis, M. (2010). Participatory action research (PAR) in middle school: Opportunities, constraints, and key processes. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 46(1), 152-166. <u>https://doi-</u> org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1007/s10464-010-9335-8
- Ozer, E. (2017). Youth-led participatory action research: Overview and potential for enhancing adolescent development. *Child Development Perspectives*, 11(3), 173-177. <u>https://doi-org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1111/cdep.12228</u>
- Panorama Education. (n.d.) Panorama Education User Guide: Panorama Social-Emotional Learning Survey. Retrieved from <u>https://www.panoramaed.com/</u>.

- Panorama Education. (n.d.) Support student success in school and beyond. Retrieved February 9, 2019, from <u>https://www.panoramaed.com/</u>.
- Pate, C. (2020). Strategies for trauma-informed distance learning. Center to Improve Social and Emotional Learning and School Safety. Retrieved September 11, 2021 from <u>https://selcenter.wested.org/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/sites/3/2020/05/SEL\_Center\_Strategies\_for\_Trauma\_Informed\_</u> <u>Distance\_Learning\_Brief.pdf</u>
- Pedota, P. J. (2015). How can student success support teacher self-efficacy and retention? *Clearing House*, 88(2), 54–61. <u>https://doi-org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1080/00098655.2014.998600</u>
- Perkins, D., & Salomon, G. (1988). Teaching for transfer. *Educational Leadership*, 46(1), 22–32. <u>http://search.proquest.com/docview/1290246311/</u>
- Perkins, D. N., & Salomon, G. (1992). Transfer of learning. Contribution to the International Encyclopedia of Education (2nd ed.). Oxford, England: Pergamon Press.
- Perl, L., Oren, A., Klein, Z., & Shechner, T. (2021). Effects of the COVID19 pandemic on transgender and gender non-conforming adolescents' mental health. *Psychiatry Research*, 302, 114042–114042. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2021.114042</u>
- Pérez-Gualdrón, L., & Helms, J. (2017). A longitudinal model of school climate, social justice orientation, and academic outcomes among Latina/o students. *Teachers College Record (1970), 119*(10).
- Pierce, J., Shaw-Amoah, A., & Lapp, D. (2020). Shortages and inequities in the Philadelphia public school teacher workforce. Distributed by ERIC Clearinghouse.
- Polit, D., & Beck, C. (2010). Generalization in quantitative and qualitative research: Myths and strategies. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 47(11), 1451-1458. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2010.06.004</u>
- Power, K., & Goodnough, K. (2019). Fostering teachers' autonomous motivation during professional learning: a self-determination theory perspective. Teaching Education, 30(3), 278–298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10476210.2018.1465035</u>.
- Prothero, A. (2020). How to teach social-emotional learning when students aren't in school: Tactics to keep SEL going during remote learning. *Education Week*, *39*(29), 14–.

- The Random Acts of Kindness Foundation (n.d.). Random Acts of Kindness. Retrieved February 9, 2019, from <u>https://www.randomactsofkindness.org/for-educators</u>.
- Reece, J. (2014). Journaling. In Coghlan, D., & Brydon-Miller, M. *The* SAGE Encyclopedia of Action Research (Vols. 1-2). London: SAGE Publications Ltd. <u>https://dx-doi-org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.4135/9781446294406.n202</u>
- Reeve, J., & Cheon, S. (2014). An intervention-based program of research on teachers' motivating styles. In Karabenick, S. *Motivational Interventions*. Emerald Group Publishing Limited. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/S0749-742320140000018008</u>
- Riley, R., Snell, K., Ensor, J., Burke, D., Harrell Jr., F., Moons, K., Collins, G. (2018). Minimum sample size for developing a multivariable prediction model: PART II binary and time-to-event outcomes. *Statistics in Medicine*, 38: 1276–1296. https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.7992
- Ryan, R., & Deci, E. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. *American Psychologist*, 55(1), 68-78.
- Safeguarding teachers' mental health through the second wave of COVID-19 and beyond. Submission to the House of Commons Standing Committee on Health. (2020). Distributed by ERIC Clearinghouse.
- Sanders, R. (2013). Adolescent psychosocial, social, and cognitive development. *Pediatrics in Review, 34*(8), 354–8; quiz 358–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/pir.34-8-354</u>
- Schallert, D. L., & Martin, D. B. (2003). A psychological analysis of what teachers and students do in the language arts classroom. In J. Flood, D. Lapp, J. R. Squire, & J. M. Jensen (Eds.), *Handbook of research on teaching the English language arts* (2nd ed., pp. 31-45). New York: Macmillan.
- Schonert-Reichl, Kimberly A. (2017). Social and emotional learning and teachers. *Future* of Children, 27(1), 137-155. <u>https://www-jstor-</u> org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/stable/44219025
- Schreier, M. (2014). Qualitative content analysis. In Flick, U. The SAGE handbook of qualitative data analysis (pp. 170-183). London: SAGE Publications Ltd doi: 10.4135/9781446282243
- Schwartz, B., & Sharpe, K. (2011). *Practical wisdom: The right way to do the right thing*. Riverhead Books.

- Schwarzer, R. (1992). *Self-efficacy: Thought control of action*. Washington: Hemisphere Pub.
- Sciuchetti, M. (2017). Addressing inequity in special education: An integrated framework for culturally responsive social emotional practice. *Psychology in the Schools*, 54(10), 1245–1251. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.22073</u>
- Shamrova, D., & Cummings, C. (2017). Participatory action research (PAR) with children and youth: An integrative review of methodology and PAR outcomes for participants, organizations, and communities. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 81, 400-412. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2017.08.022</u>
- Shukla, K., Konold, T., & Cornell, D. (2016). Profiles of student perceptions of school climate: Relations with risk behaviors and academic outcomes. *American Journal* of Community Psychology, 57(3-4), 291–307. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajcp.12044
- Smetana, J. (2011). Adolescents' social reasoning and relationships with parents: Conflicts and coordinations within and across domains. In Amsel, E., & Smetana, J. (Eds). Adolescent vulnerabilities and opportunities: Developmental and constructivist perspectives. Cambridge: CUP. <u>https://ebookcentral-proquestcom.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/lib/asulib-</u> ebooks/reader.action?docID=775036&ppg=157
- Smith, M. & Glass, G. (1987). Experimental studies. In Smith, M. & Glass, G., Research and evaluation in education and the social sciences, p. 124-157. Needham Heights, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Spano, S. (2004). Stages of adolescent development. Retrieved August 17, 2020 from <u>http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.625.9586&rep=rep1&t</u> <u>ype=pdf</u>
- Spillane, J. P., Reiser, B. J., & Reimer, T. (2002). Policy implementation and cognition: Reframing and refocusing implementation research. *Review of Educational Research*, 72(3), 387–431. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543072003387
- Spillane, J. (2009). Engaging practice: School leadership and management from a distributed perspective. In Hargreaves, A., & Fullan, M. (Eds.). *Change wars*. Bloomington, IN: Solution Tree.
- Sprangers, M., & Hoogstraten, J. (1989). Pretesting effects in retrospective pretest posttest designs. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 74(2), 265–272. https://doi.org/10.1037//0021-9010.74.2.265

- Stigler, J., & Hiebert, J. (2016). Lesson study, improvement, and the importing of cultural routines. ZDM, 48(4), 581–587. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11858-016-0787-7</u>
- Stilwell, B. (2008). The consolidation of conscience in adolescence. In Kline, K. (ed.) Authoritative Communities. The Search Institute Series on Developmentally Attentive Community and Society, Vol 5. Springer, New York, NY. <u>https://doiorg.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1007/978-0-387-72721-9\_5</u>
- Taminiau-Bloem, E. F., Schwartz, C. E., van Zuuren, F. J., Koeneman, M. A., Visser, M. R. M., Tishelman, C., Koning, C. C. E., & Sprangers, M. A. G. (2016). Using a retrospective pretest instead of a conventional pretest is replacing biases: a qualitative study of cognitive processes underlying responses to thentest items. *Quality of Life Research*, 25(6), 1327–1337. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-015-1175-4
- Tashakkori, A., Teddlie, C., & Johnson, A. (2015). Mixed Methods. In Wright, J. (Ed.) International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences (Second Edition), Elsevier.
- Taylor, A., Anderson, S., Meyer, K., Wagner, M., & West, C. (2005). Lesson study: A professional development model for mathematics reform. *The Rural Educator*, 26(2), 17–22. <u>http://search.proquest.com/docview/220953559/</u>
- Taylor, R., Oberle, E., Durlak, J., & Weissberg, R. (2017). Promoting positive youth development through school-based social and emotional learning interventions: A meta-analysis of follow-up effects. *Child Development*, 88(4), 1156-1171.
- Tripp, D. (1990). Socially critical action research. *Theory Into Practice: Teacher as Researcher*, 29(3), 158–166. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00405849009543449</u>
- Tschannen-Moran, M. (2001). Collaboration and the need for trust. *Journal of Educational Administration*, *39*(4), 308–331. https://doi.org/10.1108/EUM000000005493
- Tschannen-Moran, M & Hoy, A. W. (2001). Teacher efficacy: Capturing an elusive construct. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 17, 783-805.
- Tschannen-Moran, M., & Hoy, A. (2007). The differential antecedents of self-efficacy beliefs of novice and experienced teachers. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 23(6), 944–956. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2006.05.003</u>
- Tschannen-Moran, M. (2009). Fostering teacher professionalism in schools: The role of leadership orientation and trust. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 45(2), 217–247. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161X08330501</u>

- U.S. Department of Education, Office of Innovation & Improvement (n.d.) Skills for success. Retrieved April 23, 2019, from <u>https://innovation.ed.gov/what-we-do/innovation/skills-for-success/</u>.
- U.S. Department of Education (n.d.). Programs: Skills for Success. Retrieved August 1, 2020, from <u>https://www2.ed.gov/programs/skillssuccess/awards.html</u>.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration Office of Policy, Planning and Innovation. (2014). SAMHSA's concept of trauma and guidance for a trauma-informed approach. Retrieved September 11, 2021 from https://store.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/d7/priv/sma14-4884.pdf
- U.S. Office of Special Education Programs (n.d.). Positive Behavioral Interventions & Supports. Retrieved February 10, 2019, from <u>https://www.pbis.org/</u>.
- Usher, E., & Pajares, F. (2008). Sources of self-efficacy in school: Critical review of the literature and future directions. *Review of Educational Research*, 78(4), 751–796. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654308321456
- Vescio, V., Ross, D., & Adams, A. (2008). A review of research on the impact of professional learning communities on teaching practice and student learning. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 24(1), 80–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2007.01.004
- Viel-Ruma, K., Houchins, D., Jolivette, K., & Benson, G. (2010). Efficacy beliefs of special educators: The relationships among collective efficacy, teacher selfefficacy, and job satisfaction. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 33(3), 225–233. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0888406409360129</u>
- Viewpoint School. Mission and philosophy. Retrieved February 17, 2019, from <u>https://www.viewpoint.org/page/about/mission-and-philosophy</u>.
- Villa, B., Wright, D., Ruiz, P., Boonnam, L., Lyman, L., Escobar, K., & Tilley, L. (2018). RYSE Youth Center: Youth participatory action research. *Journal of Family Violence*, 33(8), 597-604.
- Voelkel, R., & Chrispeels, J. (2017). Understanding the link between professional learning communities and teacher collective efficacy. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 28(4), 505–526. https://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2017.1299015
- Voight, A. (2015). Student voice for school-climate improvement: A case study of an urban middle school. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, 25(4),

310-326. https://doi-org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1002/casp.2216

- Waajid, B., Garner, P., & Owen, J. (2013). Infusing social emotional learning into the teacher education curriculum. *International Journal of Emotional Education*, 5(2), 31-48.
- Walker, J., Masselli, B., Blakeslee, J., Baird, C., & Thorp, K. (2018). Development and testing of an assessment of youth/young adult voice in agency-level advising and decision making. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 94, 598-605. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2018.08.040</u>
- Weissberg, R. (2019). Promoting the social and emotional learning of millions of school children. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 14(1), 65–69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691618817756</u>
- Weissberg, R., Durlak, J., Domitrovich, C., & Gullotta, T. (2015). Social and emotional learning: Past, present, and future. In J. A. Durlak, C. E. Domitrovich, R. P. Weissberg, & T. P. Gullotta (Eds.), *Handbook of social and emotional learning: Research and practice* (pp. 3–19). New York, NY: Guilford.
- Wenger, E. (2008). *Communities of practice: Learning, meaning, and identity*. Cambridge University Press.
- Wilcox, K. C. (2011). The Importance of Civic Responsibility in Higher Performing Middle Schools: An Empirical Study. *Education and Urban Society*, 43(1), 26-41.
- Wildwood School (n.d.). The Advisory Toolkit. Retrieved February 9, 2019, from <u>https://www.wildwood.org/page.cfm?p=1629</u>.
- Wood, C. (2018). Yardsticks: Child and adolescent development ages 4 14. Center for Responsive Schools, Inc.; 4th ed.
- Yale Center for Emotional Intelligence (n.d.). The RULER approach. Retrieved February 9, 2019, from <u>https://www.rulerapproach.org/about-us/</u>.
- Yin, R. K. (2017). Case Study Research and Applications: Design and Methods (English Edition) [Kindle iOS version]. Retrieved from Amazon.com.
- Zhang, J., Yin, H., & Wang, T. (2020). Exploring the effects of professional learning communities on teacher's self-efficacy and job satisfaction in Shanghai, China. *Educational Studies*, 1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03055698.2020.1834357</u>
- Zimmerman, B. (2002). Becoming a self-regulated learner: An overview. *Theory into Practice*, 41(2), 64–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/s15430421tip4102\_2</u>

Zullig, K., Collins, R., Ghani, N., Hunter, A., Patton, J., Huebner, E., Zhang, J., & Reynolds, C. (2015). Preliminary development of a revised version of the School Climate Measure. *Psychological Assessment*, 27(3), 1072-1081. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/pas0000070</u>

## APPENDIX A

# CYCLE 0 INTERVIEW QUESTIONS FOR TEACHERS

- 1. What are the strengths of our middle school as a community? What are our areas for improvement?
- 2. In what situations do you observe that your students feel excited to learn, to work hard, and to do their best? In what situations are students less interested and motivated to learn, work hard, and do their best?
- 3. How would you define the necessary social and emotional skills for middle school students to develop, from your perspective?
- 4. What do you feel are your strengths in teaching SEL skills to your students (in advisory or elsewhere)?
- 5. Describe an example of an activity you led (in advisory or elsewhere) that effectively developed students' SEL skills. What made it successful? What would make it more successful?
- 6. What do you feel are the most challenging aspects of teaching SEL skills (for you personally)?
- 7. Is there something that the school could do to help? (This could be in terms of curriculum development, programs, professional development, administrative support, or any other idea.)

#### APPENDIX B

TEACHER INTERVIEW SPRING 2020

- 1. How helpful were our Advisory meetings for you in planning for upcoming advisory classes or activities?
- 2. What was the most effective part of the meetings, in your view?
- 3. What was the least effective part of the meetings, in your view?
- 4. Did you feel that the meetings were helpful to you, personally? Why or why not?
- 5. How effectively were our Advisory meetings facilitated?
- 6. Is there something else you wish we did in our meetings? (This question was added in interview #2 and after.)
- 7. Is there anything else I should know? Please share any additional comments or suggestions regarding how we improve our advisory professional learning community, the support for advisors, or the content and teaching of our advisory program overall.

# APPENDIX C

STUDENT FOCUS GROUP SPRING 2020

- 1. How satisfied were you with the Civic Engagement project idea, and with the suggested topics?
- 2. Do you have any suggestions for how students may complete and share the results of their Civic Engagement projects this year, now that we are engaged in Remote Learning?
- 3. How effective were Advisory meetings, and the materials and ideas you were given by your advisor or topic leader, in helping you to develop and complete your project?
- 4. What suggestions do you have for how this project could be improved next year?
- 5. Is there anything else I should know? Please share any additional comments or suggestions regarding how we might improve our 8th grade advisory program overall.

#### APPENDIX D

#### TEACHER SURVEY FALL 2020

In this survey, you will be asked how well the following statements describe your feelings at the PRESENT moment. Please select the response that best applies to you.

Level of agreement anchors:

1 – Not at all, 2 – Slightly, 3 – Somewhat, 4 – Quite a bit, 5 – Extremely

1. I am looking forward to being an advisor this year.

2. I feel confident in my ability as an advisor.

3. I believe that advisory is an essential part of the middle school program.

4. I believe that being an advisor will be a rewarding experience.

5. I believe that being an advisor will help me to develop better relationships with my students.

6. I believe that I will develop important skills this year through my experience as an advisor.

7. I believe that being an advisor will support my effectiveness as a teacher outside of advisory.

8. It is easy to engage my students in advisory lessons and activities.

9. If an advisory activity isn't working, I am able to successfully adapt it to accomplish the targeted learning goals.

10. I am confident in my ability to adapt my instruction to effectively support students with diverse academic, social, and emotional needs and strengths.

11. I am confident in my ability to help students resolve conflicts with other students or adults.

12. I am confident in my ability to help students be better organized (in terms of time management, notes and materials, etc.).

13. I am confident in my ability to provide instruction and guidance to students in practices to support their social, emotional, and physical health.

14. I am confident in communicating and enforcing expectations for appropriate school conduct (tardies, dress code, academic integrity, etc.) with my students.

15. I am confident in my ability to work effectively with the parents / guardians of my advisees to support student learning.

16. I am confident in my ability to communicate with parents / guardians to address issues of concern (academic, social, and/or disciplinary).

17. I believe that students will develop important skills this year through the advisory program.

18. I believe that homeroom and advisory are important supports for students to stay connected to each other during remote learning.

19. I believe that homeroom and advisory are important supports for students to learn about and participate in school events during remote learning.

20. I believe that homeroom and advisory are important supports for students to be successful in their classes during remote learning.

21. I believe that homeroom and advisory are important supports for student wellness (social, emotional, physical) during remote learning.

22. If I have a challenging situation with a student or group of students, other advisors are a good resource to me in problem solving.

23. If I have a challenging situation with a student or group of students, school administrators are a good resource to me in problem solving.

24. I believe that teachers are given the support they need to be effective advisors.

Open response items:

25. Are there any specific supports that could be provided by the school\* to help you as an advisor? Please explain.

26. Are there any specific things that the advisory program could do more / differently to support students socially, emotionally, or academically during remote learning, or in general? Please explain.

\*Note: The name of the school was used in the survey administered to participants but has been removed here.

## APPENDIX E

### TEACHER SURVEY SPRING 2021

In this survey, you will be asked how well the following statements describe your feelings at the PRESENT moment. Please select the response that best applies to you.

Level of agreement anchors:

1 – Not at all, 2 – Slightly, 3 – Somewhat, 4 – Quite a bit, 5 – Extremely

1. I am enjoying being an advisor this year.

2. I feel confident in my ability as an advisor.

3. I believe that advisory is an essential part of the middle school program.

4. I believe that being an advisor is a rewarding experience.

5. I believe that being an advisor is helping me to develop better relationships with my students.

6. I believe that I am developing important skills this year through my experience as an advisor.

7. I believe that being an advisor supports my effectiveness as a teacher outside of advisory.

8. It is easy to engage my students in advisory lessons and activities.

9. If an advisory activity isn't working, I am able to successfully adapt it to accomplish the targeted learning goals.

10. I am confident in my ability to adapt my instruction to effectively support students with diverse academic, social, and emotional needs and strengths.

11. I am confident in my ability to help students resolve conflicts with other students or adults.

12. I am confident in my ability to help students be better organized (in terms of time management, notes and materials, etc.).

13. I am confident in my ability to provide instruction and guidance to students in practices to support their social, emotional, and physical health.

14. I am confident in communicating and enforcing expectations for appropriate school conduct (tardies, dress code, academic integrity, etc.) with my students.

15. I am confident in my ability to work effectively with the parents / guardians of my advisees to support student learning.

16. I am confident in my ability to communicate with parents / guardians to address issues of concern (academic, social, and/or disciplinary).

17. I believe that students are developing important skills this year through the advisory program.

18. I believe that homeroom and advisory are important supports for students to stay connected to each other during remote learning.

19. I believe that homeroom and advisory are important supports for students to learn about and participate in school events during remote learning.

20. I believe that homeroom and advisory are important supports for students to be successful in their classes during remote learning.

21. I believe that homeroom and advisory are important supports for student wellness (social, emotional, physical) during remote learning.

22. If I have a challenging situation with a student or group of students, other advisors are a good resource to me in problem solving.

23. If I have a challenging situation with a student or group of students, school administrators are a good resource to me in problem solving.

24. I believe that teachers are given the support they need to be effective advisors.

Open response items:

25. Are there any specific supports that could be provided by the school\* to help you as an advisor, or to help advisors in the future? Please explain.

26. Are there any specific things that the advisory program could do more / differently to support students socially, emotionally, or academically during remote learning, or in general? Please explain.

\*Note: The name of the school was used in the survey administered to participants but has been removed here.

#### APPENDIX F

TEACHER INTERVIEW WINTER 2020

- 1. From your perspective, what are the most challenging or frustrating aspects of being an advisor during remote learning? How have these challenges affected SEL instruction of your advisees?
- 2. Is there something that I, or the school, could do to help? (This could be in terms of curriculum development, programs, professional development, administrative support, or any other idea.) What additional efforts could be carried out to aid your PLC participation?
- 3. From your perspective, what are the most successful or rewarding aspects of being an advisor at this time?
- 4. Do you have any suggestions for how I, or the school, could better support students or faculty during remote learning?
- 5. From your perspective, compared to last year, how well is this year's advisory program supporting students, in terms of SEL skills development and general well-being?

# APPENDIX G

TEACHER INTERVIEW SPRING 2021

- 1. From your perspective, what were the most rewarding aspects of being an advisor this year?
- 2. From your perspective, what were the most challenging aspects of being an advisor this year? Is there something the school could have done to help, or could do to help future advisors?
- 3. How important or effective do you feel that homeroom and advisory were in supporting students during the COVID-19 pandemic, including during remote learning?
- 4. From your perspective, how well did our advisory program support the development of students' SEL skills this year?
- 5. From your perspective, what are your personal strengths in teaching SEL skills to your students (in advisory or elsewhere)?
- 6. How has your knowledge about SEL grown since the start of the school year? (If not, how might the school better support advisors in developing expertise in SEL?)
- 7. How have your skills in teaching SEL changed since the start of the school year?
- 8. From your perspective, how well did the PLC support the development of the advisory program? (For example, you might consider the structure and content of advisor meetings, collaborative learning, sharing of practice, curriculum development, etc.) If it was not as helpful as it could have been, what could have been improved?
- 9. From your perspective, how well did the PLC support advisors in their role?

## APPENDIX H

#### STUDENT SURVEY FALL 2020

In this survey, you will be asked how well the following statements describe your feelings at the PRESENT moment. Please select the response that best applies to you.

Level of agreement anchors:

1 – Not at all, 2 – Slightly, 3 – Somewhat, 4 – Quite a bit, 5 – Extremely / Almost always

1. I am looking forward to advisory this year.

2. I believe that I will develop important skills this year in advisory.

3. I understand the purpose of the activities we do in homeroom and advisory.

4. I believe that morning homeroom is an important part of my day.

5. I believe that what I learn in advisory will help me to be more successful in my classes.

6. I believe that what I learn in advisory will help me to set and achieve my goals.

7. I believe that what I learn in advisory will help me to be better organized (in terms of time management, class notes and materials, etc.).

8. I believe that what I learn in advisory will help me to develop better friendships.

9. I believe that what I learn in advisory will help me to manage stress.

10. I am confident in my ability to set and achieve my goals, personal and academic.

11. I am confident in my ability to make responsible choices.

12. I am confident in my ability to resolve conflicts with other students or adults.

13. I believe that homeroom and advisory are important ways for students to stay connected to each other during remote learning.

14. I believe that homeroom and advisory are important ways for students to learn about and participate in school events during remote learning.

15. I believe that homeroom and advisory will help me to be successful in my classes during remote learning.

16. I believe that homeroom and advisory will support my wellness, physical and emotional, during remote learning.

17. I believe that homeroom and advisory will be helpful to me in addressing any challenges I have this year, personal or academic.

18. I feel like I belong at this school.

19. I am enjoying my classes.

20. My teachers care about how I am doing, personally and academically.

21. I am part of the school\* community.

22. I am interested in my studies at school.

23. If I arrive to class upset, my teachers are concerned.

24. I feel connected to my school.

25. I work hard to do my best in my classes.

26. If I have a problem, there is at least one adult in the school that I feel comfortable talking with for help or support.

Open ended item:

27. Do you have any other feedback or suggestions regarding homeroom or advisory, either for when we are learning remotely or on campus?

\*Note: The name of the school was used in the survey administered to participants but has been removed here.

# APPENDIX I

## STUDENT INTERVIEW FALL 2020

- 1. What are some of the things you're looking forward to doing or achieving in school this year, personally or academically?
- 2. What are the challenges you anticipate or concerns you have about school this year?
- 3. Do you expect that remote learning, or other circumstances related to the COVID-19 pandemic, will create additional challenges for you? Is there anything that the school (or individual teachers / staff) could do to help?
- 4. From your perspective, how could homeroom and advisory be used to support students during remote learning and during the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as in general?
- 5. How do you feel that homeroom and advisory could be used to build or maintain friendships with other students?
- 6. How do you feel that advisory could help you to meet your goals, academic or otherwise, this year?
- 7. What have you enjoyed most about advisory so far? (Is there something you would like to do more of?)
- 8. If you could change one thing about advisory, what would it be? (Is there something you would like to do less or differently?)

# APPENDIX J

## STUDENT SURVEY SPRING 2021

In this survey, you will be asked how well the following statements describe your feelings at the PRESENT moment. Please select the response that best applies to you.

Level of agreement anchors:

1 – Not at all, 2 – Slightly, 3 – Somewhat, 4 – Quite a bit, 5 – Extremely / Almost always

1. I am enjoying advisory this year.

2. I believe that I have developed important skills this year in advisory.

3. I understand the purpose of the activities we do in homeroom and advisory.

4. I believe that morning homeroom is an important part of my day.

5. I believe that what I am learning in advisory is helping me to be more successful in my classes.

6. I believe that what I am learning in advisory is helping me to set and achieve my goals.

7. I believe that what I am learning in advisory is helping me to be better organized (in terms of time management, class notes and materials, etc.).

8. I believe that what I am learning in advisory is helping me to develop better friendships.

9. I believe that what I am learning in advisory is helping me to manage stress.

10. I am confident in my ability to set and achieve my goals, personal and academic.

11. I am confident in my ability to make responsible choices.

12. I am confident in my ability to resolve conflicts with other students or adults.

13. I believe that homeroom and advisory were important ways for students to stay connected to each other during remote learning.

14. I believe that homeroom and advisory were important ways for students to learn about and participate in school events during remote learning.

15. I believe that homeroom and advisory helped me to be successful in my classes during remote learning.

16. I believe that homeroom and advisory supported my wellness, physical and emotional, during remote learning.

17. I believe that homeroom and advisory are helpful to me in addressing any challenges I have this year, personal or academic.

18. I feel like I belong at this school.

19. I am enjoying my classes.

20. My teachers care about how I am doing, personally and academically.

21. I am part of the school\* community.

22. I am interested in my studies at school.

23. If I arrive to class upset, my teachers are concerned.

24. I feel connected to my school.

25. I work hard to do my best in my classes.

26. If I have a problem, there is at least one adult in the school that I feel comfortable talking with for help or support.

Open ended item:

27. Do you have any other feedback or suggestions regarding homeroom or advisory, either for when we are learning remotely or on campus?

\*Note: The name of the school was used in the survey administered to participants but has been removed here.

# APPENDIX K

STUDENT INTERVIEW SPRING 2021

- 1. How important do you feel that homeroom and advisory were to your learning in the middle school this year?
- 2. How important do you feel that homeroom and advisory were to building or maintaining friendships with other students this year?
- 3. Did remote learning, or other circumstances related to the COVID-19 pandemic, create additional challenges for you? Is there anything the school (or individual teachers / staff) did that was helpful to you in addressing those challenges?
- 4. How important do you feel that homeroom and advisory were in supporting students during the COVID-19 pandemic, and in general?
- 5. How did advisory help you to meet your personal goals, academic or otherwise? (If it did not, how do you feel it could be changed to better help future eighth graders?)
- 6. What is one thing you learned, or learned how to do better, in advisory this year?
- 7. From your perspective, how did your advisor support you as a student? Is there something they could have done more or differently?
- 8. What did you enjoy most about advisory? (Is there something you would like to do more of?)
- 9. If you could change one thing about advisory, what would it be? (Is there something you would like to do less or differently?

# APPENDIX L

## IRB APPROVAL LETTERS



### APPROVAL: EXPEDITED REVIEW

<u>Terri Kurz</u> Division of Teacher Preparation - Polytechnic Campus

Terri.Kurz@asu.edu

Dear Terri Kurz:

On 4/22/2020 the ASU IRB reviewed the following protocol:

|                     | •  |  |  |  |
|---------------------|--|--|--|--|
| Type of Review:     |  |  |  |  |
| Title:              | 0  |  |  |  |
|                     | Climate in Middle School Grades                                      |  |  |  |
| Investigator:       | Terri Kurz   |  |  |  |
| IRB ID:             | STUDY00011601  |  |  |  |
| Category of review: |  |  |  |  |
| Funding:            | None   |  |  |  |
| Grant Title:        | None   |  |  |  |
| Grant ID:           | None   |  |  |  |
| Documents Reviewed: | End of Year Advisor Interview Spring 2020-                           |  |  |  |
|                     | 2021.pdf, Category: Measures (Survey                                 |  |  |  |
|                     | questions/Interview questions /interview guides/focus                |  |  |  |
|                     | group questions);  |  |  |  |
|                     | <ul> <li>Faculty Advisory PLC Survey.pdf, Category:</li> </ul>       |  |  |  |
|                     | Measures (Survey questions/Interview questions                       |  |  |  |
|                     | /interview guides/focus group questions);                            |  |  |  |
|                     | <ul> <li>M Strong IRB protocol April 21 2020.docx,</li> </ul>        |  |  |  |
|                     | Category: IRB Protocol;  |  |  |  |
|                     | <ul> <li>Melissa Strong Fall 2020 Interview Questions for</li> </ul> |  |  |  |
|                     | Students, Category: Measures (Survey                                 |  |  |  |
|                     | questions/Interview questions /interview guides/focus                |  |  |  |
|                     | group questions);  |  |  |  |
|                     | <ul> <li>Melissa Strong Recruit Consent Form Faculty</li> </ul>      |  |  |  |
|                     | Interview Fall 2020 (1).pdf, Category: Consent Form;                 |  |  |  |
|                     | <ul> <li>Melissa Strong Recruit Consent Form Faculty</li> </ul>      |  |  |  |
|                     | Interview Spring 2020 (1).pdf, Category: Consent                     |  |  |  |
|                     | Form;  |  |  |  |

Page 1 of 3

| 1   | <ul> <li>Melissa Strong Recruit Consent Form Faculty</li> </ul>      |
|-----|--|
|     | Interview Spring 2021 (1).pdf, Category: Consent                     |
| 1   | Form;  |
|     | Melissa Strong School Climate and SEL Surveys for                    |
| 1   | Teachers Recruit Consent 2020-2021.pdf, Category:                    |
| 1 1 | Consent Form;  |
|     | <ul> <li>Melissa Strong SEL School Climate Parental</li> </ul>       |
|     | Permission Letter FOCUS GROUP.pdf, Category:                         |
|     | Consent Form;  |
|     | <ul> <li>Melissa Strong SEL School Climate Parental</li> </ul>       |
|     | Permission Letter Student Interviews, Category:                      |
|     | Consent Form;  |
|     | Melissa Strong SEL School Climate Written Child                      |
|     | Assent Form Interview Fall 2020, Category: Consent                   |
|     | Form;  |
|     | Post-Test Faculty Survey_ Attitudes toward SEL                       |
|     | <ol><li>pdf, Category: Measures (Survey)</li></ol>                   |
|     | questions/Interview questions /interview guides/focus                |
|     | group questions);  |
| 1   | <ul> <li>Pre-Test Faculty Survey_Attitudes toward SEL and</li> </ul> |
|     | recruitment letter, Category: Measures (Survey                       |
|     | questions/Interview questions /interview guides/focus                |
|     | group questions);  |
|     | Strong Melissa SEL School Climate Written Child                      |
|     | Assent Form Ages 11-14 FOCUS GROUP.pdf,                              |
|     | Category: Consent Form;  |
|     | <ul> <li>Student Focus Group Recruitment Email Spring</li> </ul>     |
|     | 2020.pdf, Category: Recruitment Materials;                           |
|     | <ul> <li>Student Focus Group Spring 2020.pdf, Category:</li> </ul>   |
|     | Measures (Survey questions/Interview questions                       |
|     | /interview guides/focus group questions);                            |
|     | <ul> <li>Viewpoint School Consent to Interview Faculty</li> </ul>    |
|     | Members, Category: Off-site authorizations (school                   |
|     | permission, other IRB approvals, Tribal permission                   |
| 1   | etc);  |
|     | <ul> <li>Viewpoint School Consent to Interview Students,</li> </ul>  |
|     | Category: Off-site authorizations (school permission,                |
|     | other IRB approvals, Tribal permission etc);                         |
|     | <ul> <li>Viewpoint School Consent to Use Panorama SEL</li> </ul>     |
|     | Survey Data, Category: Off-site authorizations (school               |
|     | permission, other IRB approvals, Tribal permission                   |
|     | etc);  |
|     |  |

The IRB approved the protocol effective 4/22/2020. Continuing Review is not required for this study.

In conducting this protocol you are required to follow the requirements listed in the INVESTIGATOR MANUAL (HRP-103).

Sincerely,

#### IRB Administrator

CC:

Melissa Strong

Page 3 of 3



<u>Terri Kurz</u> Division of Teacher Preparation - Polytechnic Campus

Terri.Kurz@asu.edu

Dear Terri Kurz:

On 9/28/2020 the ASU IRB reviewed the following protocol:

|                     | Modification / Update  |  |  |
|---------------------|--|--|--|
| Title:              | Fostering Social Emotional Learning and School                       |  |  |
|                     | Climate in Middle School Grades                                      |  |  |
| Investigator:       | Terri Kurz   |  |  |
| IRB ID:             | STUDY00011601  |  |  |
| Funding:            | None   |  |  |
| Grant Title:        | None   |  |  |
| Grant ID:           | None   |  |  |
| Documents Reviewed: | <ul> <li>Advisor Survey Fall 2020.pdf, Category: Measures</li> </ul> |  |  |
|                     | (Survey questions/Interview questions /interview                     |  |  |
|                     | guides/focus group questions);                                       |  |  |
|                     | <ul> <li>Advisor Survey Spring 2021.pdf, Category:</li> </ul>        |  |  |
|                     | Measures (Survey questions/Interview questions                       |  |  |
|                     | /interview guides/focus group questions);                            |  |  |
|                     | <ul> <li>Advisor Survey Winter 2021.pdf, Category:</li> </ul>        |  |  |
|                     | Measures (Survey questions/Interview questions                       |  |  |
|                     | /interview guides/focus group questions);                            |  |  |
|                     | <ul> <li>Advisory Recruitment and Consent Letter for</li> </ul>      |  |  |
|                     | Surveys, Category: Consent Form;                                     |  |  |
|                     | <ul> <li>M Strong Child Assent for Student Surveys Fall</li> </ul>   |  |  |
|                     | 2020, Winter 2021, and Spring 2021 (2).pdf,                          |  |  |
|                     | Category: Consent Form;  |  |  |
|                     | <ul> <li>M Strong IRB protocol September 24 2020.docx,</li> </ul>    |  |  |
|                     | Category: IRB Protocol;  |  |  |
|                     | <ul> <li>Melissa Strong Parent Letter for Surveys Sept 22</li> </ul> |  |  |
|                     | 2020.pdf, Category: Consent Form;                                    |  |  |
|                     | <ul> <li>Student Survey Fall 2020 and Recruitment Letter</li> </ul>  |  |  |

| (1).pdf, Category: Measures (Survey                                |
|--|
| questions/Interview questions /interview guides/focus              |
| group questions);  |
| <ul> <li>Student Survey Spring 2021 (1).pdf, Category:</li> </ul>  |
| Measures (Survey questions/Interview questions                     |
| /interview guides/focus group questions);                          |
| <ul> <li>Student Survey Winter 2021 (1).pdf, Category:</li> </ul>  |
| Measures (Survey questions/Interview questions                     |
| /interview guides/focus group questions);                          |
| <ul> <li>Viewpoint School Consent to Administer Surveys</li> </ul> |
| and Interviews to Faculty and Students, Category:                  |
| Off-site authorizations (school permission, other IRB              |
| approvals, Tribal permission etc);                                 |
|  |
|  |

The IRB approved the modification.

When consent is appropriate, you must use final, watermarked versions available under the "Documents" tab in ERA-IRB.

In conducting this protocol you are required to follow the requirements listed in the INVESTIGATOR MANUAL (HRP-103).

Sincerely,

IRB Administrator

CC:



<u>Terri Kurz</u> Division of Teacher Preparation - Polytechnic Campus

Terri.Kurz@asu.edu

Dear Terri Kurz:

On 10/11/2020 the ASU IRB reviewed the following protocol:

| Type of Review:     | Modification / Update   |
|---------------------|---|
| Title:              | Fostering Social Emotional Learning and School                        |
|                     | Climate in Middle School Grades                                       |
| Investigator:       | Terri Kurz  |
| IRB ID:             | STUDY00011601   |
| Funding:            | None  |
| Grant Title:        | None  |
| Grant ID:           | None  |
| Documents Reviewed: | <ul> <li>Parental Permission Letter Student Interview Fall</li> </ul> |
|                     | 2020, Category: Consent Form;   |
|                     | <ul> <li>Student Interview Fall 2020 Written Child Assent</li> </ul>  |
|                     | Form Ages 11-14 (1) (2) (3).pdf, Category: Consent                    |
|                     | Form;   |
|                     | <ul> <li>Student Interview Questions Fall 2020, Category:</li> </ul>  |
|                     | Measures (Survey questions/Interview questions                        |
|                     | /interview guides/focus group questions);                             |
|                     |   |

The IRB approved the modification.

When consent is appropriate, you must use final, watermarked versions available under the "Documents" tab in ERA-IRB.

In conducting this protocol you are required to follow the requirements listed in the INVESTIGATOR MANUAL (HRP-103).

Sincerely,

#### IRB Administrator

CC:



<u>Terri Kurz</u> Division of Teacher Preparation - Polytechnic Campus

Terri.Kurz@asu.edu

Dear Terri Kurz:

On 11/16/2020 the ASU IRB reviewed the following protocol:

|                     | Modification / Update  |
|---------------------|--|
| Title:              | Fostering Social Emotional Learning and School                   |
|                     | Climate in Middle School Grades                                  |
| Investigator:       | Terri Kurz   |
| IRB ID:             | STUDY00011601  |
| Funding:            | None   |
| Grant Title:        | None   |
| Grant ID:           | None   |
| Documents Reviewed: | <ul> <li>Advisor Interview Winter 2020.pdf, Category:</li> </ul> |
|                     | Measures (Survey questions/Interview questions                   |
|                     | /interview guides/focus group questions);                        |
|                     | <ul> <li>M Strong IRB protocol November 16 2020.docx,</li> </ul> |
|                     | Category: IRB Protocol;  |
|                     | <ul> <li>Melissa Strong Recruit Consent Form Faculty</li> </ul>  |
|                     | Interview Winter 2020 (Nov 16 version).pdf,                      |
|                     | Category: Consent Form;  |
|                     |  |

The IRB approved the modification.

When consent is appropriate, you must use final, watermarked versions available under the "Documents" tab in ERA-IRB.

In conducting this protocol you are required to follow the requirements listed in the INVESTIGATOR MANUAL (HRP-103).

Sincerely,

### IRB Administrator

CC:



<u>Terri Kurz</u> Division of Teacher Preparation - Polytechnic Campus

Terri.Kurz@asu.edu

Dear Terri Kurz:

On 4/8/2021 the ASU IRB reviewed the following protocol:

| Type of Review:     |   |  |  |  |
|---------------------|---|--|--|--|
| Title:              | Fostering Social Emotional Learning and School  |  |  |  |
|                     | Climate in Middle School Grades   |  |  |  |
| Investigator:       | Terri Kurz  |  |  |  |
| IRB ID:             | STUDY00011601   |  |  |  |
| Funding:            | None  |  |  |  |
| Grant Title:        | None  |  |  |  |
| Grant ID:           | None  |  |  |  |
| Documents Reviewed: | <ul> <li>Advisor Interview Spring 2021.pdf, Category:<br/>Measures (Survey questions/Interview questions<br/>/interview guides/focus group questions);</li> <li>End of Year Advisor Interview Spring 2020.pdf,<br/>Category: Measures (Survey questions/Interview<br/>questions /interview guides/focus group questions);</li> <li>M Strong IRB protocol April 7 2021.docx, Category:<br/>IRB Protocol;</li> <li>Recruitment email for students and guardians for<br/>Student Interview Spring 2021 VERSION 2.pdf,<br/>Category: Recruitment Materials;</li> <li>School Climate Parental Permission Letter Student<br/>Interviews Spring 2021.pdf, Category: Consent Form;</li> <li>Student Interview Spring 2021 Written Child Assent<br/>Form Ages 11-14.pdf, Category: Consent Form;</li> <li>Student Interview Spring 2021.pdf, Category:<br/>Measures (Survey questions/Interview questions<br/>/interview guides/focus group questions);</li> </ul> |  |  |  |

The IRB approved the modification.

When consent is appropriate, you must use final, watermarked versions available under the "Documents" tab in ERA-IRB.

In conducting this protocol you are required to follow the requirements listed in the INVESTIGATOR MANUAL (HRP-103).

Sincerely,

IRB Administrator

CC:

### APPENDIX M

# DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS FOR TEACHER SURVEYS

| Item   | Pre-Test<br>Mean | Pre-Test<br>Standard<br>Deviation | Post-Test<br>Mean | Post-Test<br>Standard<br>Deviation |
|--|------------------|-----------------------------------|-------------------|------------------------------------|
| Q1. I am (looking forward to / enjoying) being an advisor this year.   | 3.50             | 0.54                              | 3.63              | 0.92                               |
| <i>Q2. I feel confident in my ability as an advisor.</i>   | 4.00             | 0.54                              | 4.00              | 0.00                               |
| Q3. I believe that advisory is an essential part of the middle school program.   | 4.38             | 0.52                              | 4.38              | 0.74                               |
| <i>Q4. I believe that being an advisor (will be / is) a rewarding experience.</i>  | 3.88             | 0.64                              | 3.88              | 0.84                               |
| Q5. I believe that being an advisor (will help me / is helping me) to develop better relationships with my students.   | 4.75             | 0.46                              | 4.13              | 1.13                               |
| <i>Q6. I believe that I (will develop / am developing)</i><br><i>important skills this year through my experience as an</i><br><i>advisor.</i>                         | 3.88             | 0.64                              | 3.13              | 0.84                               |
| Q7. I believe that being an advisor (will support /<br>supports) my effectiveness as a teacher outside of<br>advisory.   | 4.13             | 0.64                              | 3.50              | 0.93                               |
| <i>Q8. It is easy to engage my students in advisory lessons and activities.</i>  | 2.63             | 0.74                              | 3.00              | 1.07                               |
| Q9. If an advisory activity isn't working, I am able to successfully adapt it to accomplish the targeted learning goals.   | 3.38             | 0.74                              | 3.75              | 0.71                               |
| Q10. I am confident in my ability to adapt my instruction<br>to effectively support students with diverse academic,<br>social, and emotional needs and strengths.      | 3.38             | 0.52                              | 3.63              | 0.52                               |
| Q11. I am confident in my ability to help students resolve conflicts with other students or adults.  | 4.13             | 0.35                              | 4.13              | 0.35                               |
| Q12. I am confident in my ability to help students be better organized (in terms of time management, notes and materials, etc.).                                       | 4.13             | 0.64                              | 3.88              | 0.35                               |
| Q13. I am confident in my ability to provide instruction<br>and guidance to students in practices to support their<br>social, emotional, and physical health.          | 4.00             | 0.54                              | 3.88              | 0.35                               |
| Q14. I am confident in communicating and enforcing<br>expectations for appropriate school conduct (tardies,<br>dress code, academic integrity, etc.) with my students. | 4.13             | 0.64                              | 4.25              | 0.71                               |

| Item  | Pre-Test<br>Mean | Pre-Test<br>Standard<br>Deviation | Post-Test<br>Mean | Post-Test<br>Standard<br>Deviation |
|---|------------------|-----------------------------------|-------------------|------------------------------------|
| Q15. I am confident in my ability to work effectively with<br>the parents / guardians of my advisees to support student<br>learning.                        | 4.13             | 0.64                              | 4.13              | 0.35                               |
| Q16. I am confident in my ability to communicate with parents / guardians to address issues of concern (academic, social, and/or disciplinary).             | 4.25             | 0.71                              | 4.00              | 0.76                               |
| Q17. I believe that students (will develop / are<br>developing) important skills this year through the<br>advisory program.                                 | 3.75             | 1.04                              | 3.88              | 0.99                               |
| Q18. I believe that homeroom and advisory are important supports for students to stay connected to each other during remote learning.                       | 3.63             | 1.06                              | 4.25              | 0.71                               |
| Q19. I believe that homeroom and advisory are important<br>supports for students to learn about and participate in<br>school events during remote learning. | 3.75             | 0.89                              | 3.88              | 0.84                               |
| Q20. I believe that homeroom and advisory are important<br>supports for students to be successful in their classes<br>during remote learning.               | 3.25             | 0.89                              | 3.25              | 1.04                               |
| Q21. I believe that homeroom and advisory are important<br>supports for student wellness (social, emotional,<br>physical) during remote learning.           | 3.50             | 0.76                              | 3.38              | 0.74                               |